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WHO WE ARE

BPE is the world leader i the supply of
plasterboard and gypsum plasters, and

a major supplier of insulation, ceding tiles
and related products for interiess, serving
growing rmarkets for building systems in
over 5O countries.

BPE market lzader p14-15

BPB AT A GLANCE

WHERE WE'RE GOING ¢

0

WHY WE'RE GROWING

NY

We airm to be the preferred choice for
interior building systerms that pravide
innovative design solutions

Chairman’s statement p10-11
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BPS plasterboard systems continue to
record some of the best market penetration
and product growth rates in the building
interiors sector, as specifiers and consumers
worldwide bengfit from our extensive range
of solutions to satisfy high-level specifications
for fire and humidity resistance, thermal
insulation, sound transmission, structural
integnty and design aesthetics.

Global building needs for energy efficiency,
safety, comfort and the flexitility to create
additional space are increasingly met using
plasterboard systems, with around 1in 5
of all boards sold around the world now
supplied by BPB.

BPB products inaction p2-9
Operating and financial review p16-29

WHAT WE THINK T

J

We are committed to delivenig o suponor
custorner oftering through word class
processes, enhancing and leveraging our
global leadershio in plasterboard systems
and gypsum plasters by pursuing real
progress in three key areas: profitable
sales growth, continuous cost reduction
and the developrmeant of our paople.

Using this clear business model, we aim

to achieve in a responsible manner our
business abjectivas of delivenng improving
performance and meeting the value
expectations of our shareholders, customers
and employees.

Chief exerutive’s review p12-13
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WHO LEADS US

The directors and senior management are-
Chairrnan: Sir lan Gibson CBE
Chief executive: Richard Cousins

Executive directors: Jean-Pierre Clavel,
Bob Heard, Mark Higson, Paul Hollingwarth,
Paul withers

Non-executive directors: Gerry Acher,
Lady Baifour of Burleigh, Andrew Daugal,
David Hamill, Bvert Henkes, Franz Leibenfrost

Additional executive committee members:
John Colley, Jane Kingston, Brent Thomson

Ricgraphies and Board committee
memberships p32-33




YEAR TO 37 MARCH (Em) 2005 2004 (- Record results from fusther good growth in global
Turnover 2,316.8 21708 = plasterboard demand, increased building plaster
Underlying profit befor: Lax” 2875 2228 8 volumes, andimproved selling prices
Reporte_d profit before tax ) 2587 180.3 L - Underying opzrating profit up 24+ 10 £308.1 million,
Underlying camings per share” 39.p 30.5p &2 assales and profits advanced in all three regions
Reported earnings per share 36.7p 23.4p LLl ‘ o
! . . g - Underlying profit before tax up 29%: to £28/7.5 millien
Final dividend per shar= 10.75p 9.45p ) - . N
o and underlying earnings per share up 28% at 39.1p
Total dividends per share 16.00p 14.25p g
) ‘ i O Reported PRT up 43.5%;, reflecting improved results
before guodell amartsated and excepanal itemes desarbed on poge 42 )
I andalower it exceptional charge of £12.5 mulfion

(2004 £24.5 million}

» Operating cash flow up £66.1 million to £476.6 million
and year-end net debt down £73.0 millien to
£422 O million

- Post-tax return on average capital invested ncreased
{0 12.7% (2004 9.9%:)

- Final dividend up 13.8% ta 13.75p, giving a total
dividend up 12.3% at 16.00p per share

- High plant utilisations in most of the US, Asia and
in parts of Europe - BRR's capacity expansion
programme underway with capital expenditure up
mare than 50% to £154.1 million
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The Board is committed to maintaining
high standards of corporate governance

HOW WE BEHAVE

in its management of the affairs of the
group and when accounting fo shareholders
The group’s policy quidefines provide

a frarmework for complying with the best
practice principles and provisions of the
Combined Code on Corporate Governance
and the guidance in the Turnbull Report on
Internal Control.

A Code of Business Conduct sets out the
basic principles and values which are to be
applied everywhere that we do business,
and a Corporate Responsibility Review
explains our commitment to responsible
cofporate behaviour.

Corporate responsibility report p30-31
Directors’ report p34-35

Corporate governance report p36-39
Remuneration committee’s report p40-46

Responsibilities of the directors

and independent auditors” report pd7
Financial statements and notes p48-63
Five year financial surnmary pé4-65
Principal operating companies p&é
Sharehglder information p67

Subject index p68
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Global demand continues to grow for interior lining sotutions

that deliver a combination of higher technical performance
and customer end-use requirernents for good design, safety
and comfort. And potentially there is scope for even
greater demand, through faster penetration in emerging
markets and broader application of easy-to-install
systemsin developing and more advanced markets.
BPB is committed to meeting the essential need

TECHNICAL PERFORMANCE

in construction markets worldwide for the creation
of additional living, working and recreational space
~ optimising its customer offering at every stage of
market development, and supplying plasterboard
systems and building plasters that conform to
increasingly stringent building technology
standards for structural integrity,
enerqy efficiency and acoustic
performance

BPR AMMNUAL RIPORT 2005 03




BPB's building
plaster products hold significant
local sales profiles across a mix of highly
developed, developing and emerging markets,
contributing to global brand penetration and profitable
sales growth. with annual sales reaching nearly 5 million
tonnes, BPB is the world’s leading supplier of high-quality
branded plasters. Leadership positions in many national and

BRAND PENETRATION

local markets reflect BPB's manufacturing excellence in both
lightweight and traditional pre-mixed gypsum plasters for
coating solid backgrounds and skimming plasterboard
systems, offering consistent setting qualities and
freedom from shrinkage - essential for enabling
applicators to build with confidence
and create smooth, durable
interior finishes

GFE ANMNUAL REPORT 7005 05




Annual

wallboard

demand in North

America, the world's

most advanced market, is

now approaching 11 square

metres per head. Activity in

the more developed markets

of Europe is progressing above

3 square metres per head, while
elsewhere in developing markets
consumption has yet to exceed
2 square metres per head. Organic
growth in Emerging Markets, such
as Asia,is moving forward from a

ORGANIC GROWTH

much lower base, but with sales
volumes increasing rapidly. Further
development of these markets,
essential to BPBS profitable growth, is
being driven by the specification of
BPB's industry-teading products and
services - with the group’s national
businesses focused on enabling
merchants and contractors, their
primary routes to market, to optimise
product mix and performance in the
residential, commercial and renovation
sectors for interior building systems

BPE AMMUAL REPORT 7605 07




Sustained
economic growth
and higher lifestyle
aspirations are reflected in the
continuing urbanisation of Emerging
Markets, providing BPB with the
opportunity to develop rapic plasterboard
penetration in the commercial sector and
leading the way to creating substantial
longerterm residential dernand. Public sector
investment activity represents an important
entry point in developing new markets,

EMERGING MARKETS

“enabling group businesses to demonstrate
the ability of plasterboard systems to
substitute traditional building methods
and deliver demanding specifications -
BPB systems make an essential
contribution in providing innovative
and efficient solutions to meet
the needs of growing urban
communities for active,
comfortable and safe
interiors

BPB AMMNUAL REPORT 200% 09




CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

>> BPB DELIVERED RECORD RESULTS,

WITH A BROADLY-BASED PERFORMANCE
IMPROVEMENT ACROSS ALL THREE MAJOR
REGIONS LIFTING GROUP UNDERLYING
PRE-TAX PROFIT BY 25% T0O £287.5 MILLION

l'am pleased, in this my tirst stalement to you, to report substantial
further pragress in a year that clearly dernonstrates across a number
of fronts the benefits of our sharpenad strategic focus an improving
performance by developing BRES excellent growth platformin
plasterboard and plasters

Having taken aver the role of chairman last uly | wish to express my
sincere gratitude to Allan Gormly, my distinguished predecessor,
for his sound leadership of the Board during seven eventful
years. We have developed a clear global growth strateqy and

an experienced management tzam, led by Richaid Cousins,
totally committed fo the successful execution of that strateqgy.

| am therefore firmly convinced that with our strong industry
position, sound resources and growth markets, we will continug
to deliver for BPE's customers, employees and shareholders,

STRONG PERFORMANCE IN 2004,/05

BPB delivered record results, with a broadly-based performance
improvernent across all three major regions lifting group underlying
pre-tax profit {before goodwill and exceptional items) by 29 1o
£287.5 million.

Reported profit before tax was 43.5% higher at £258.7 million,
reflecting the improved underlying results and a £12.¢ million
reduction in the net exceptional charge to £12.5 million. The latter
included provision for excepticnal closure costs of £34.0 million for
the Aberdeen paperboard mill (2004 dlasure cosis of £28.8 million
for the Purfleet mill) which will mark BPB's strategic exit from the
in-house manufacture of paperhoard.

Undarlying earnings per share ose by 28% to 39.7p and the
company’s post-lax return on average (apital invested increased
from 9.99% to 12.7%, substantially above BPB'S weighted average
cost of capital.

DEAR SHAREHOLDER

238/7.5M

underlying PBT (£), up
frorn £222.8m last year
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BPS strengthened its financial position - 2 key component for

the successful execution of management's capacity expansion
strategy in growth markets - with further strong cash generation
from operations funding capital expenditure of £154.1 million
(2004 £99.6 miflion), taclitating the purchase of minority nterests
in Asia {£36.8 million), and reducing balance sheet net debt

by £73 0 million to £422.0 million. Interest cover on underlying
aperating profitimproved from 8.1 to 11.3 times,

IMPROVED SHAREHOLDER VALUE

Recognising the positive resuits for the year, and folfowing last
November's interim dividend increase of 9.4% to 5 25p per share,
the Board is recarnmending for shareholder approval a 13.8%
increase in the final dividend to 10.75p per share, resulting in the
company’s annual dividend increasing 12.3% to 16.0p (2004 5.2%
increase} and yet still enabling dividend cover to improve from
2.1 to 2.4 imes underlying earnings.

BPE' year-end share price improved by 40% to 496 5p and, with
a market capitalisation of £2.5 billion, the group entered the reserve
list of the FTSE 100. At the year-end share price, the yield en the
full-year dividend of 16.0p per share was 3.2%.

Shareholders” funds increased by £141 4 million to £936.3 million,
with retained profit after tax benefiting from BPB' improvement
in profitability: the return on average shareholders’ funds increased
by 2.7 percentage points 10 16.2%. :

The Board will again seek 1o renew the company's share buy-back
authority at this year’s AGM but, bearing in mind the significant
business development opportunities presented by BPB's medium-
term investment programme, the directors currently have no firm
plans to use that autharity.

“We have developed a clear global
growth strateqy and an experienced
management team”




GOOD GOVERNANCE AND OUR PEOPLE

We have paid dose attention 1o ensuring that BPB's already high
standards of corporate governance meet all the recornmendations
of the Financial Reporting Counall’s Combined Cade in a shareholder
value-adding manner, and where we take & different stance onan
issue wee state clearly why we have done so. In the wider context
of nisk management, it was gratifying to note that the new FTSE
1SS corporate governance index rated BPE'S practices highly: ook
forward to the evolving debate with shareholders as ta how

we could be a better governed business 1o manage even more
effectively and securely the assets entrusted to us.

I am delighted that David Hamill joined us last January as a non-
executive director. David, currently an executive director of IC and
chairman and chief executive of their substantial paints division,
brings to BPR extensive industrial and international expenence

My confidence in BPB' future rests with the considerable
managemnent talent we have in place and which is being
developed around the group. [ am consistently impressed as

I visit qur operations with the quality and enthusiasm of the teams
I encounter - a vital element in strengthening our global compelitive
advantage. On your behalf | am pleased to thank all our people
far their significant contribution to a rewarding year for 3PB

POSITIVE CURRENT YEAR OUTLOOK

We are currently seeing a continuation of the positive momeantum
in sales demand and pricing levels achieved last year in our key
markets, even though manufacturing capacity is constraining sales
growth in some locations. Given the group’s well positicned low-
cost businesses and our clear strategy for growth, the Board is
confident that BPB will build on last year's record profits and deliver
good progress for the current year.

'I 6 O “With our strong industry
. p position, sound resources

dividends per share, and growth markets, we will
a 12.3% increase continue to deliver for BPB's
on last year customers, employees

and shareholders”

WNE N

SIR tAN GIBSON (BE

238%

increase in underlying
EPS 10 39.1p

BPB ANNUAL RIFORT 2005 11




CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REVIEW

OUR FOCUS

CLEAR GROWTH STRATEGY

fanagement continued to focus on growing the group profitably
through the development of BPES glebal leadership in plasterboard
and building plasters. This sharpened strategy, introduced in 2003/07,
resulted in the delivery of a further strong full vear performance
as underhang profit before tax far 2004 /05 advanced 29%.

Against the background of growing demand in key matkets and
trermendous worldwidz potential for BPR'S core products, our actions
have kept to a clear business plan for future growth, targeting:

profitable sales growth, by investing capital and resource

in strengthening our global sixctor leadership

continuous cost reduction, by challenging ourselves 1o significartly
improve operating efficiencies over the rmedium-term and
spreading repeatable best practices across the group
developrrent of our people, by empowering business teams to
successfully run their local businesses within a simple framework
of key aroup policies and change initiatives

pa .

RICHARD COUSING

BPB has changed considerably over the past two years, becoming
truly global by establishing credible positions in North Amenca
and in fmerging Markets, leveraging a strong Luropean presence
and achieving a number of important structural and operationat
advances In particuiar we have:

consolidated our European leadership in plasterboaid and plasters
{generating same 70% of the group’s operating profit) follewing
the integraticn of Gyproc Benalux and, with the market growing
at aver 3% per annurn, recovared regicnal sales margin to 12.7%
established a sound business plattorm and Mo 3 wallboard
position in the huge North Amercan market, following the
successful integration of James Hardie Gypsum, throughout

a period of sustained high construction activity (which has seen
markat growih alrnast double the long-term average rate of
around 3 5% per annum} enabling regional sales margin to
rnore than double to 13.4%

strengthened the group’s strategic positioning in the Emerging
Markets, investing in rapidly developing markets for cur core
praducts in Asia, growing overall plasterboard volumes by nearly
one-third and lifting safes margin by more than 5 points o 15. 1%
fightened our product focus with our anticipated withdraweal from
the manufacture of paperboard, following the establishment

of long-term supply agreements with two major European
plasterboard liner manufacturers as part of our low-cost global
sourcing network, and disposing of our UK paper sacks and
recycling businesses

embarked on an investment programme of capadity expansion
in our key established and developing markets aimed at meeting
medium-term sales growth, underpinned by a demanding
world dlass manufacturing irmprovement programrme which is
strengthening the competitivenass of our existing operations

>> AGAINST THE BACKGROUND OF
GROWING DEMAND IN KEY MARKETS
AND TREMENDOUS WORLDWIDE
POTENTIAL FOR BPB'S CORE PRODUCTS,
OUR ACTIONS HAVE KEPT TO A CLEAR
BUSINESS PLAN FOR FUTURE GROWTH

“These are exciting times to be
working at BPB, with huge
growth potential still to unlock
for our core products”

12 BPB ANNUAL REPORT 2005

308.1Tm

underlying operating profit (£),
up from £249.2m last year



We are now progressing the next stage of BPBS drive for profitable
sector growth as, after several years of increasing global demand,
our plasterboard capacity utilisation rates have risen o an average
of above 90% and we are approaching capacity constraint positions
in mast of the US, Asia and in parts of Europe.

Capital expenditure in 2004 /05 increased by over 508 Lo

£154 1 million and, using the group’s strong cash generation,

we plan to increase the annual spend during the next few years
to more than two times depreciation. Based on projects approved
to-date, by late 2008 we will have added around 205 to the groups
existing plasterboard capacity, with new and upgradad plants
aperational in the eastern US {where we are currently under
represented), the British Isles, Spain, Romania, Thailand, India and
Malaysia. Our core huilding plasters business will also see growlh-
related investments coming on-strearm in the UK, France, Spain,
Mexicc and india.

STRONG TRADING PERFORMANCE

BPB delivered an excellent outturn for the full year, as positive
trading trends were sustained in key markets, with sales, profits
and operating cash flow ahead in all three major regions of Europe,
Nerth America and the Emerging Markets. Global plasterboard
volumes grew almost St due principally to further good demand
in the British Isles, Spain, Eastern Europe, South Afiica and Asia,
and continuing high levels of housing and rencvation activity across
the US and Canadian markets (even though second-half US sales
volumes were constrained by tight capacity levels). Overall sales
of building plaster were up more than 6% on the previous year
resulting from increased growth in Spain, which benefited from
the development of added-value lightweight plasters, and strong
demeand in the British lsles, Italy, Romania, Mexico, Egypt and
Turkey Together with better average selling prices and the benefit
ot restructuring actions, this resulted in the groug’s undedying
aperating profit advancing 24% 1o £308.1 million on worldwide
turmover up 7% to over £2.3 billion.

More detailed explanations of group strateqy, performance and
risk are given in the new-style operating and financial review
on pages 16 10 29.

Our key actions and initiatives during the year, in line with
BPB's focused plasterboard and building plasters development
strateqy, were:

conduding a further substantial long-term Europzan plasterboard
lin=r supply agreernent, with the likely closure of the groups
remaining paperboard mill at Aberdeen
buying-out most of the minority interests in PR’ rapidly
developing Thai and Indian businesses
achieving cost savings representing around 1% of group tumover,
the major contribution coming frorm the benefits of last year's
restructurings in Germany and Belgiurm and the external sourcing
of continental European plasterboard liner
« substantially improving Gesman profitability arising from
significant cost reductions and the market re-positicning of
our plasterboard and insulation systerns
» linancing the group’s capex programme ntirely from intzmally
generated cash flow
» strengthening the fabric of our business by re-investing most
of the group’s cost savings in additional management rasources
and development of business systerns to ensure the delivery of
BPB's growth ambitions

FOCUSED ON DELIVERY

we will continue {o target real progress in BPB'S business plan
for profitable growth, with irnportant tasks for the GPB team in
2005/06 being to:

« progress the successiul execution of the group's medium-term
capacity expansion programme

« enhance and develop BPB rescurce pool of expenenced and
lalented managers to take the group forward

« converge and embed repeatable world ¢lass processes across our
businesses, using a strateqic framewaork of key change initiatives
in safety, marketing, product management, manufacturing,
supply chain, people development and information systems -
all aimed at significanthy improving the way we meet our
customers’ needs

These are exditing times to be working at BPB, with huge growth
potential stitt to unlock for our core products, and as | go around our
businesses | am delighted to see real commitment and passion
about BPBs change programme to deliver a superior customer
offering. Once again, | am grateful to our dedicated teams of people
for their considerable support and contribution to achieving our
key goals of growth and improving performance.

“(apital expenditure in 2004 /05 increased

by over 50% to £154.1 million and

we pian to increase the annual spend
during the next few years to more than
two times depreciation”

BPE ANNUIAL REPORT 2005 13




BPB MARKET LEADER

No.1 1.2bn+ 12,500+ 50+

in the world m? of plasterboard employees serving growing national
for plasterboard sold annually markets around the markets for
systems world with building plasterboard

systems, building value supplied by BPB

nearly

20% NoJ1  70%+  No.3
share of a global in Eurape for of BPB turnover in North Amesrica for
plasterboard plasterbaard, selling derived in Europe, wallboard, selling
market of over 600 million m? pa 20%+ in North America 520 million m? pa

6 billion m?

14 BPB ANNUAL REPORT 2005




NO.T 4.8M

for branded building tonnes pa of
plasters in Europe building plasters
sold globally

No.1-2 NO0.3

in emerging in the world
plasterboard markets, for ceiling tiles
selling 90 million m? pa

30%+ 130+

of BPB'S capital invested in manufacturing
plasterboard and plasters sites worldwide

NO. NO.T

in Europe for expanded for value
polystyrene insulation

BPE ANNUAL REPURT 2005 15




OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

>> BPB HAS A CLEAR BUSINESS STRATEGY
AND DEFINED VALUES, A STRONG INDUSTRY
POSITION AND PROVIDES ONE OF THE MAIN
GROWTH PRODUCTS IN THE BUILDING
MATERIALS SECTOR

BPB STRATEGY AND VALUES

BPB is the world leader in the supply of plasterboard and gypsum
plasters, and a major supplier of insulation, celling tiles and related
products lor interiors, serving growing markets for building systems
in over 50 countries. It operates more than 130 manufacturing
sites and employs mare than 12,500 peaple worldwide,

The group aspires to be the prefarred choice tor interior building
systerns that provide innovative design solutions. 1 pursuing

this vision for future growth, managernent’s key strategic aim s
to strengthen BPE's competitive: positioning in plasterboard and
building plasters aver the medium term and grow profitably from
the developrment of the group’ global sector leadership.

BPB’ business model provides the strategic framework for focusing
on the delivery of a superior customer cftering through world dass
processes, targeting real progress in three key areas:

« profitable sales growth - by enhancing and leveraging BPBs
global leadership in plasterboard and gypsurn plasters

- continuous cost reduction - by pursuing world class standards in
repeatable business processes and securing the lowest delivered
cost wherever BPB does business

« development of its people - by fostering & common sense
of purpose and promoting a challenging environment of
empowerment and continuous learning

The underlying strength of BPB's straightforward business madel
is grounded in the exciting growth characteristics of plasterboard
across all stages of market development, the contribution ta product
mix and performance fram gypsum plasters and other interior

products, and the group’s international spread of well-located low-

cost operating fadilities.

BPB's annual plasterboard sales volume from over 50 growing
national markets now represents nearly 2040 of a world market
of some 6.5 billion square metres, where demand is around

1 square metre per head and exhibiting leng-term average annual
growth of about 5%. Behind this positive global picture there

are significant business developrment opportunities for the group
arising from:

>> This review (along with the chairman’s statement on pages
10 and 11, the chief executive® review on pages 12 and 13 and
the corporate responsibility report on pages 30 and 31} s intended
to assist stakeholders in BPB to assess the strategies adopted by
the campany and the potential for those strategies to succeed. It
sels out a summary account of the development, pedformance
and financial position of the group for 2004 /05, together with the
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« an enlarging Furopean Community, with its mix of more-
developed and emarging markets, where BPB is currently
growing at 5-6% per annum from a relatively under-developed
per capita base of less than 3 square metres

« the advanced North American market (now approaching
11 square melies per head and representing over 504 of
world dermand) growing at around 3 5% per annum over
the long-term and providing scope for further investment

« the patentially huge Emerging Markets, particularly Asia, with
their fast expanding ecanormies drving double digit growth
in dermand

Local managing directors and their teams are empowerad to run
their businesses within a specified framework of Board approved
strategic qeals, mandatory governance policies, and key business
change initiatives. The protection of BPB's reputation s of
fundamental importance and employees throughout the world are
made aware of the behavioural principles and values which should
be applied in pursuit of the group’s vision and strategic objectives.

BPB has a ¢lear business strateqy and defined values, a strong
industry position and provides cne of the main growth products in
the building materials sector. With these core operating strengths
and a robust financial platform, 8PB aims to achieve its business
objectives of delivering improving performance, meeting the
value expectations of shareholders, customers and employees,
and acting as a responsible member of its communities, locally,
nationally and globally.

main trends and factors underlying the year's results and which
are likely to affect future performance. It also describes the group’s
business and its key objectives, strategies, values and resources,
tegether with Lhe main risks and uncertainties it faces. A cautionary
comment concerning forward-looking staterents is given on the
inside back cover.




>> THE BENEFIT OF BETTER TRADING PERFORMANCES

AND IMPROVED OPERATING EFFICIENCIES ACROSS BPB'S

BUSINESSES EXCEEDED THE IMPACT OF SIGNIFICANT
COST INFLATION, RESULTING IN THE GROUP'S RETURN
ON SALES IMPROVING FROM 11.5% TO 13.3%

GROUP PERFORMANCE

GROUP __ 2005 2004
Turnover (E£m) ) _ 23168 21708
Underlying operating profit {£rm) 308.1 2497
Return on sales (o) 133 115
People 12,689 12,907

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW

Group turnover increased by 6 7% to £2,317 million (up 10% 1 local
currency terms), driven by further good growth in global plasterboard
dernand, substantialiy increased overall sales of building plasters,
and improved selling prices, as relatively low interest rates in the
groups principal markets supported bugyant construction activity,
particularly in the residential and renovation sectors. Underlying
operating profit increased 24% to £308.1 million, with adverse
currency transtation of over £6 million mainly offset by lower
restructuring and redundancy costs of £15.3 million, some

£29 million less than in 2004, The benefit of better trading
performances and improved operating efficiencies across BPB'S
businesses exceedad the impact of significant cost inflation, resulting
in the group’s return on sales improving from 17.58% to 13 3%

Underlying profit before: tax was up 25% to £287.5 million, reflecting
the improved trading pesformance, a reduction in the group's net
interest charge as a result of lower average net debt levels, and
an increase of aver 554 in BPE' share of profits from joint ventures
and asscciated companies to £6.7 million {2004 £4.3 million).
Underlying earnings per share increased by 28 to a record 39.1p
{2004 30.5p), slightly lower than the increase in underlying profit
before tax as a resuli of a higher nurber of shares in issue; the
underlying tax rate rernained stable at just under 32%.

GLOBAL SALES GROWTH

sales of plasterboard and accessories increased almost 1060 to
£1,518 million, representing arcund two-thirds of group turnover,
with overalt plasterboard volurnes growing by almast 5% to

1.2 billion square metres. European volumes advanced by maore
than 6% o 600 million square metres, with strong growth in the
British Isles, Spain and Eastern Europe and stightly higher sales in
the French market. Nordic volumes began to recover after several

years of weak dernand and, aithough construction activity in
Germany remained subdued, BPB' restructured business achieved
a modest improverment in sales volumes. North American wallboard
sales of 520 miflion square metres continued to be underpinned
by strong residential and renovation markets in the US and Canada,
with volume groweth of just under 380 restricted by capacity
constraints, particularly in the second-half. Volumes in the Emerging
Markets advanced ovar 9% to 90 million square metres driven

by strong growth in South Africa and substantial Asian demand,
which continuad to grow at double-digit rates in Thaitand, China
and India.

overall plaster volumes {compnsirg building, industrial and specialist
plaster sales) increased by over 6% to 5.8 million tonnes, with
turnover increasing 6% to £367 million (16% of group turnover).
Building plaster sales alse increased by aver &% to 4.8 million
tonnes, driven by growth in Spain, Italy and the Bnitish Istes (which
more than offset a further contraction in French demandj and by
increased sales in the developing markets of Egypt and Turkey.
Growth in Spain, BPES largest building plasters market and
representing over 25% of group volumes, reflected further progress
with sales mix ensichment as traditionat plasters continued to be
replaced with higher margin hightweight plasters. In the Emerging
Markets, sales in Eqypt were boosted by further market share gains
and encouraging growth was achieved in the developing plaster
businesses of South Africa, Thailand, India and rexico.

Turnover from other building products decreased by 3% to

£432 mitlion, with the reduction i paperboard operations offsetting
growth in BPE' Iberian distribution business, which increased its
tunover by 9% to over £70 miifion. Fallowing the likely closure this
year of the group’s remaining paper mill, located at Aberdeen in
the UK, BP8's other bullding products segment will mainly comprise
European insulaticn and fixings, textured finishes, Iberian distribution,
and the ceiling tile businesses in North America and Europe.
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

G ROU P PERFO RI\/\AN CE CONTINUED

COST ISSUFS

The average annual rate of costinflation on the total group cost
base rose to 4%, double the previous year's level, adding nearly
£75 million to casts in 2004,/05. 1he major variable cost increases
were in energy and freight, driven by higher oil and natural gas
prices, with costs for labour, steel, expanded polystyrene beads
and US paperboard liner also increasing.

Group-wide operating cost sawings of over £25 million exceeded
management’s on-going annual target of 1% of trnover, reflecting
the full year benefits of lower plasterboard liner costs in continental
Europe and the restructuring ol the US ceiling tiles and German
businesses, together with further effiaendies arising from the
inteqration of Gyproc Benelux, Most of these savings were
re-invested in additional functional and systems resources to ensure
the delivery of BPB's growth abjectivas and medium-term capital
exXpansion programme.

Key operational efficiency initiatives during the year, which will
deliver further cost savings in 2005/06, includad:

» further reducing the group’s plasterboard liner costs in Europe
by sourcing substantial quantities from the St Regis paper
division of ©5 Smith, complementing last year's successiul
sourcing of increased liner valumes from the group’s German
associate, Tecnokarton

- restructuring the French and Belgian sales operations, the closure
of the gypsum block plant at Grozen, and the planned closure
of the plasters plant at Wijnegem with the transfer of production
to Vaujours

- progression of the group’s wartd class manufacturing, purchasing
and supply chair initiatives, with a broader applicaticn of best
practice standards relating to safety, customer service, product
quality, operating efficiency and capacity utilisation
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CURRENT INVFSTMENT PROGRAMME

BPES recent and planned capacity expansicns in plasterboard and
plaster markets, aimed at meeting medium-term sales growth,
are summarised below:

FURGPE )
Kingscourt, Ireland @ January 2005
Kirkby Thore, UK & January 2005
Country-wide, Spain % ) Ongoing
vaujours, France Mid 2005
Turda, Romania & Late 2005
Madrid, Spain & 2006
Sherburn, UK & 2007
Fast Leake, UK ] 2007
NORTH AMERICA )
West Virginia, Us & 2007
Narth Carcling, U & 2003
EMERGING MARKETS

pumrbai, India ™ Mid 2005
Laern Chabang, Thailand © Late 2005
Murnbai, India & Late 2005
Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia ™ 2006
5an Luis Potosi, Mexico = 2006

O expansion of existing plasterboard capacity
M new plasterboard facility

& expansion of existing plaster capacity

= new plaster facility




>> MANAGEMENT FURTHER DEVELOPED
THE GROUP'S RISK EVALUATION PROCESS,
ENHANCING THE RISK PROFILING EXERCISES
UNDERTAKEN BY OPERATING BUSINESSES
TO IDENTIFY, EVALUATE AND CONTROL RISK

MANAGING GROUP RISK

BPBS sisk environment has improved significantly over the past few
years, with a nisk governance framework embedded in operational
management processes and good progress being made in better
understanding and managing the group’s significant risks. In addition,
the increased scale and geographic spread of the group's operations
serves ta mitigate the impact of any single unexpected event, while
management’s strategic focus on the profitable development of
BPB'S global leadership in plasterbcard and building plasters further
contributes to restricting operationat risk. o support the continuing
grawth cf core praducts across the group’s worldwide operations,
BPB is progressing a measured capitat expansion programme
airning to increase productive capadity to meet global sales demand
anticipated over the medium term.

The group’s approach to internal control is business risk difven, with
emphasis given to both business and financial risks, a5 explained
in the corporate governance review on page 38. During the year
management further developed the group’s risk evaluation process,
enhancing the risk profiling exercises undertaken by operating
businesses to identify, evaluate and control risk.

The following represent the significant risks identified by BPB that
could materially affect the group’s financial condition, perfermance,
strategies and prospects:

Ineffective execution of BP8’s business plan for future profitable
growth, specifically in the areas of: productive capacity utifisation;
capital investment project management; implementation of changes
in business information systems; continuity of key raw material
supply; people management and developrment. Management is
engaged in delivering a focused programme of group operational
initiatives, aimed at improving ranufacturing efficiencies and
supplying custemers with market-leading solutions, as a series

of significant failures across these key operational risk categories
could affect the competitive advantage and opportunities for growth
of BPB'S low-cost business operations.

Significant changes in BPB's key markets arising from: timing
of industry investrnent; raticnalisation of distribution channels;
loss of critical BPB production facilities; launch of a new product

“The group’s approach to internal control is
business risk driven, with emphasis given
to both business and financial risks”

replicating plasterboard functionality BPB's operating tzams are
focused on the continuous irmprovernent of product quality and
sales mix, customer service performance, and operating etficiency,
Howvever, unanticipated actions by competitors or customers could
restltin @ lower contribution from core products and/or a dedline
of market share.

Inadequate systems of group self-requlation, communication
and co-ordination, resulting in: unforesesn adverse decisions in
the requlatory environmeant; ineffective integration of acquisitions;
decline in shareholder support for the stewardship of BPB. The Board
believes that the alignment throughout the group of comprehensive
governance policies, standards and procedures with 8PB’ clear
business model for growth engenders responsible corporate
behaviour, serving to restrict exposure to these categories of
reputational risk.

Key measures and approaches incorporated within BPB'S
operational framewaork for manaqing risk include: performance
audits; compliance confirmations; benchrnarking to world class
standards, market assessments and forecasts; forward plans and
contingency provisions; monitoring market developments and
building trends; mineral resource and site risk managemant;
gioupwide repetition of best practices; tiaining and development
programmes; and monitoring and addressing stakeholder issues
and requlatory developments.

As well as the specitic risks identified by 8PB, the group’s businesses
face general risks arising from their exposure to national buitding
cycles, which themselves are influenced by levels of economic
grawth, interest rates, demographic change, local building regulations
and the general condition of public and private buildings. Weather
can also affect demand. Local markets are highly competitive, with
sales volumes sensitive to seliing prices, industry production levels
and custormer demand, while operating costs are sensitive to labour
costs ang raw material price inflation, particularly for enargy, freight
and paper liner sugplies. Political risk may be an issue in scme
locations and, as for all international businesses, variations in
currency exchange rales may have an impact, althaugh generally
only through translation of results into Sterling.
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

>> OPERATING PROFIT INCREASED BY
12.2% 10 £217.6 MILLION, BENEFHTING
FROM CONTINUING STRONG DEMAND
AND HIGH PLANT UTILISATION LEVELS

FUROPE

EUROPE _ 2005 2004
Turnaver {£mj o 1,707.8 16474
Underlying operating profit (Em) 217.6 1939
Return on sales (%) 12.7 118
People 8,836 $104

European underlying operating profitincreased by 12.2% 1o
£217.6 million, benefiting from continuing strong demand and
high plant utilisation levels, the recovery of substantial cost inflation
thiough selling price increases, and efficiency improvernents
arising mainly from iast year’s restructuring actions and sourdng
of lower cost paperboasd liner Turnover growth of almost 4% to
£1,707.8 million was impacted by the closure of vanous non-core
paperboard businesses, togather with adverse foreign currency
translation as Sterling strengthenad against the Euro. Plasterboard
volurmes advanced by 6.1% driven by good growth in the British
Isles, Spain and Eastern Europe, and continued high fevels of dernand
in France. Building plaster volurnas grew by almost 4% 10 4 2 million
tonnes with strong demand experienced in the British Isles, Spain
and taly. The benefit of lower restructuring charges was mare than
offset by a £6 million increase in UK pensions costs, adverse foreign
exchange translation, and development costs for a new Eurcpean
business intormation system. Regional return on sales increased
from 17.8% t0 12.7%.

NORTH & WESTERN EUROPE

Continued streng growth in demand in the British Isles and increased
trading activity in the Nordic ar2a more than offset a higher UK
pension charge, systerns development costs and lower profits from
paperboard operations, resulting in regianal underlying operating
profit advancing by 3% to £108.3 million. Following the partial exit
from paperboard manufactuning activities, turnover was broadly
unchanged at £556.1 million, although the increased focus on core
plasterboard and plaster businesses improved return on sales by
0.3 of a percentage point to 18.2%.

UK sales volumes grew strongly, driven by a good hausing market,
further public sector investrent in schools, hospitals and housing
and an active renovation sector. Substantial cost inflation pressures
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during the year were offset by increased selling prices, with results
alsa banafiting from improved plant efficiencies and lower freight
costs. Imports from BPBS Belgian business werg substantially reduted
following the upgrade of the Fast Leake plant in early 2004

The UK market continues to benefit from changes in building
requlations which require greater levels of insulation and sound-
proofing performeance. Sales mix enrichmant continues, with higher
performance boards now accounting for around ene-third of totel
plasterboard sales. To meet the continuing strong demand for core
oroducts, BPB s progressing plans 1o construct a new medium-sized
plasterboard plant at Sharburn (near Leeds) to be commissioned in
early 2007, and additional plaster capacity was recently introduced
at Kirkby Thore, with further capacity planned to come on-stream
al East Leake in 2007.

Following the previous years closure of the Purfleet paperboard
mill there was insufficient demand to support the UK recovered
paper operation and consequently the business was sald in August.
In tarch 2005, the group entered into a substantial long-term
agreement to source lower-cost, lighter grammage plasterboard
liner frorn DS $mith plc in the UK, complementing the liner
agreement entered into with the greup’s German associate,
Tecnokarton, in 2004 As a consequence, BPB's remaining paper
mill located at Aberdeen is likely to be closed in July.

Buitding plester and plasterboard sales again grew strongly in Ireland
as construction activity remained buoyant, particularly in housing.
Additional capacity was cormmissioned in January at the Kingscourt
plant and, during the plant uparade, plasterboard was imported
from group companies resulting in additional freight costs.

Greater plasterboard sales in the Nordic area, driven by a more active
housing sector, combined with cost efficiencies 1o offset inflationary
pressures and defiver an improved overall performance. Denmark
achieved a further good performance, supported by incieased
construction activity, with Sweden benefiting from cost efficiencies
following a plant upgrade and improved sales. Strong volume growth
was achieved in finland but exports to Russia were again restricted
by the relative strength of the Fur, and BPB'S Norwegian profitability
stabilised after a period of severe price competition.



>> WCM IS DELIVERING
MUCH MORE THAN
CONSISTENTLY
IMPROVING PLANT
EFFICIENCY RATES

BPB's world dass manufacturing
programme (WC) - now established
as a way of life across the majonty of
the group’s cperations —is & continuous
improvement process focused on
safety, reducing all waste, improving
product quality and plant reliability,
and converging the performance of
BPBS international spread of plants
with those of the group’s best-in-
class production facilities.

But WCM is delivering much more
than consistently improving plant
efficiency rates - the process
generates feal value by involving
BPB's people and fostering emplayee
ernpowerment, motivating local teams
to excel at their tasks and contributing
to improved working relations.

{oaching teams on how to identify
areas of foss and inefficiency, the best
ways 1o plan and deliver their own
solutions, and the steps necessary

to rigorously measure and review
progress, represents a significant
groupwide change management
challenge - one that is now delivering
clear gains in manufacturing and
people development,
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

E U RO P E CONTINUED

SOUTHERM EUROPE

Better results in France, good growth in Spain and taly, improved
regional opasating effiiencies and selling prices, and lower
resiructuring costs in Belgium led to profitatility rising by over 10%
10 £84.1 million, despite significant commadity cost inflation, on
reqional turnaver up by almost 4.5% to £760.8 million. Regional
return on sales increased 1 17 1% (2004 70.5%),

France experienced rmodest growth in overall plasterboard valumes
albeit at a high level of activity, with lacal construction activity
remaining buoyant, particularly in the residential sector. Profitability
improved thraugh a combination of increased demand for
performande boards and added-value lightweight plasters, together
with selling price increases which offset considerable cost inflation
(particularly for energy, steel, and expanded polystyrene beads);
cost savings also contributed, driven by the sourdng of lower-cost
plasterboard liner and improved plant performances at Chambery
and Cognac. The Gyproc and Placo sales functions were integrated
and simplified to facus on the developrment of the market leading
Placo brand. The increasing penetration of plasterboard systems

in the building sector has contributed to some erosion in dermnand
far gypsum blocks, resulting in the impending closure of the plant
at Grozon. Domestic building plaster volumes declined slighly,
although at a less rapid rate than in recent years, as demand for
value-added lightweight plasters increased and plaster production
was transferred from the now redundant Wijnegern site in Belgium
to the recently upgraded Yaujours fadility near Paris.

The Spanish construction market continued to grow strongly, and
the Portuquese market began ta recover from [ast year's recession
Growth in averall plaster volurmes was accompanied by the
commencement of the second phase of a substantial investment
programme in fightweight plaster capacity to meet increasingly
strong demand and enrich the product mix. Plasterboard volumes
grew rapidly as penetration of the commercial construction market
continued, assisted by increasing use of plastercoard systems in
the new housing sector To mest expected medium-term sales
growth, a new 26 million square metre capacity plant is 1o be
constructed near Madrid, with commissioning anticipated in late
2006 1o suppert the existing plant at Quinto. BPB'S Iberian
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distribution business exparienced good sales growth, enhanding
the group’s ability to progress the development of the [beran
plasterboard systems market.

BPES ltalian business also delivered increased profitability as
plasterboard penetration of the growing residential sector continued,
offsetting a woak commercial rarket. Further strong growth in
plaster volumes was achieved, supported by additional investments

prafitability in the Netherlands was alfected by continuing strong

competition, with margins affected as cost savings were insufficient
to offset cost inflation. However, a better performance in a relatively
flat Belgian market was mainly due to @ lower restructuring charge

and the commencement of cost savings following the upgrade of
the Kallo plasterboard plant.

“Plasterboard volumes advanced by

6.1% driven by good growth in the
British Isles, Spain and Eastern Europe”




CENTRAL & EASTERN EUROPE

significantly improved German profitability {particuiarly in the
second-half), further sales volume growth in Eastern Eurape and
lower restructuring costs diove a doubling of regional operating profit
to £25.2 million, on turnover up mare than 6% to £250.9 million
Return on sales increased by over three percentage points to 7.2%.

German plasterboard volumes grew moderately, against the
background of a depressed but statble domestic construction market,
benefiting from exparts to capacity-constrained markets. Plant
utilisation and efficiency levels increased and an improvement in
average selling prices towards the end of the year compensated for
significantly higher energy, haulage and raw material costs. Results
akso reflected the delivery of €10 miflion of annualised cost savings
targeted during the restructuring programme last year. Elsewhere
in Central Europe, sales of plasterboard and gypsum blocks increased
in switzerland, and Austeia achisved good plasterboard voluma
growth in hoth its domestic market and from exports to the Balkans.

Further good penetration of plasterboard in Eastern Europe’s
developing commercdial and residentiat sectors, together with high
levels of construction activity in most countries, resulted in continued
double-digit valume growth. Better prices and increased volurmes
were achieved in Poland {BPES largest plasterboard market in
Fastarn Europe) despite a declining construction market, while the
group’s businesses in the Czech Republic, Hungary and Rormania
3ll delivered strong growth in sales volumes. The construction of

a new plasteroard plant near 1o the group’s existing plaster plant
in Romania s progressing towards cornmissioning in late 2005.
sales of plasterboard 1n the Ukraine continued to grow strongly,
driven by demand from the commercial and renovation sectors.
Building plaster sales also grews encouragingly, with good progress
in the developing Romanian market, and strong dermand in Turkey
benefiting from a relatively mild Winter. Over the medium term,

it is expected that the recent enlargement of the European
Cormmunity will contribute to the growing demand in Eastern
Furape for plasterboard systems, building plasters and ceiling tiles.

“Building plaster volumes grew
by almost 4% to 4.2 million tonnes
with strong demand experienced
in the British Isles, Spain and Italy”
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OPFRATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

>> RECORD US WALLBOARD DEMAND,
COMBINED WITH HIGHER INDUSTRY
PLANT UTILISATION LFVELS, SUSTAINED
A SIGNIFICANT INCRFASE IN BP1'S
AVERAGE WALLBOARD PRICES
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NORTH AMERICA ) 2005 2004
Turnover {£m) ) 532.1 4888
Underlying operating profit {£m) 71.4 401
Return on sales (i) 13.4 82
@O[)Le 1,964 2,022

record US wallboard demand, combined with higher industry plant
utilisation levels, sustained a siqnificant increase in BPB' average
wallboard prices, resulting in a 78% increase in North American
underlying operating profit to £71.4 million. Despite further
substantial commiadity cost inflation, the restructuring of the
group’s Las Vegas mining activities, second-half patent protection
costs, and adverse curmency translation, regional return on sales
advanced 5.2 percentage ooints to 13.4% on tumover up almost
90 to £532.7 mullion.

Buoyant activity across the new housing and renovation sectars
led t a further substantial increase in North America’s waliboard
market, aithough BeBs first-half volume growth of 5% was restricted
to an annualised rate of nearly 3% due to lack of capacity in the
major eastern markets. To strengthen the group’s representation
in the east, BPB announced in March the compietion of a lang-
term agreement with American Electric Power for the supply

of desulphogynsum to a new 700 miflion square feet capacity
plant to be located near Mitched] in West Virginia. This planned
100 million investrnent complements the agreement made last
year with Progress Energy te supply desulphiogypsum 1o a new
4100 million wallboard plant alongside their coal-fired generator
at Roxbore in North Carolina. The new Mitchell-sourced plant will
be commissioned in the second half of 2007, with the Roxboro
plant expected to come on-stream in fate 2008

BPB's average realised US wallboard prices increased to $117 per
1,000 square feet (some $23 up on the average for the prior year)
with most of the price increases being realised in the first half.

A further headline price increase of 10% was announced at the end
of April and since the year-end prices have averaged around $125.

Market acceptance of Glaskae, an added value high-performance
exterior sheathing product launched in early 2004, grew rapidly
dunng the yaar, This successful glass-reinforced gypsum waliboard
became the subject of patent claims, originated by Georgia Pacific,
which both parties recently agreed to dismiss. Demand continued
to grow for BPE's high quality ProFin wallboard fimshing products
and work bagan on the constiuction of a new manufacturing
facility near Toronto, The new fughly autcrnated plant, due for
cormissicning in the Auturnn of 2005, will improve product quality,
custarner service levels and operating efficency in the Ontano region
and provide the market with a full range of jointing compaunds
and setting powders.

The US celling tites business experienced further weak dernand in
the commercial sector However, efficiency savings arising frem
restructuring actions taken in the previous year and better selling
prices offset the impact of cost inflation, contributing to a near
break-even performance. A modast recovery in cammercial activity
is anticipated for the current year and management continues to
focus on strengthening operating efficiency and building a higher-
margin sales mix.

Construction activity in Canada remained strong, with BPB plants
operating at near capacity levels as the domestic wallboard market
grew by 29 to a record level of approximately 3.2 billion square
feet. Export volumes grew by 20% as Canadian plants supplerented
constrained US manufacturing capacity particularly in the north
east. Higher selling prices were sustained and this, combined with
manufacturing efficiendies, offset cost inflation pressures (notably
energy, freight and paoerboard liner) enabling the business @
deliver a substantial improverment in results,




>> WORKING TO
WORLD CLASS
STANDARDS AND
SUPPLYING THE
BEST PRODUCT
AND CUSTOMER
SERVICE OFFERINGS

BPB's local business teams aim to
be the preferred choice - the first
company that customers turn to -
working to world class standards
and supplying individual markets
with the best product and customer
service offerings.

Adding real value and shaping the face
of retail, work, home, educational,
healthcare and leisure environments,

BPB products provide industry-
leading solutions which are fast,
reliable and cost-effective for all
stages of market development in
all market segments {renovation,
residential and comnmercial) and for
all product sectors (walls, partitions,
columns, floors and <zilings).

Working alongside architects and
specifiers, BPE people promote and

develop an advanced range of
products which meet Jocal building
spedifications for energy efficiency,
comfort and safety, and satisfy
custormer needs for interior building
systerns that deliver space division,
thermal insulation, acoustic
absorption, fire and humidity
resistance, utifities and dircuitry
distribution, structural integrity and
design aesthetics.
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OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

>> OVERALL RETURN ON SALES AGAIN
IMPROVED, INCREASING FROM 14.0%
TO 15.1%, ON PLASTERBOARD VOLUME

GROWTH OF ALMOST 10%
EMERGING MARKETS 2005 2004
Turnaver (£m) 126.4 1056
Underlying operating profit (£m) 19.1 152
Return on sales () 15.1 140
People 1,889 1,781

EMERGING MARKETS

Excellent prograss was achieved in the profitable development of
8P8'% Emerging Markets businesses, with underlying operating
profit of £19.1 million advancing by over 25%, dnven by & strong
performance from a buoyant South African market, improved
south American results and further good volume growth in Asia.
Overall return on sales again improved, increasing from 14.0% to
15.19, on plasterboard volume growth of almost 10% and turncver
up more than 16% to £126.4 mrillion. Together, BPB' South African
and Asian businesses contributzd over 80% of regicnal prafit.

Double-digit sales volume growth was achieved by BPB'S Asian
plasterboard producers aithough export volumes were restricted
by capacity constraints. Capital investment plans were successfully
progressed during the year, the Jim being te meet growing demand
for plasterboard and building plasters in selected developing markets.
In addition BPB spent £36.8 million to acquire substantally all the
minority interests in its fast-growing businesses in Thailand and
India where the group has established strong markst positions.

Further good plasterboard volume growth was achieved in
south Africa and, with better selling prices offsetting higher input
costs, led to a good impravement in results. Strong growth in
new residential and renovation activity, and increased commercial
demand, were underpinned by a stable currency, lower interest
rates and a continuing low rate of inflation. Economic forecasts
point to continuing strong grovith in bullding sector activity
during the current year, particularty in housing. Other factors
influencing demand during the year were the imposition of anti-
dumping duties on Indonesian importers and the government’s
promoticn of energy efficient low-incorne housing, an area of
future opportunity for BPE'S Gyproc and Rhino systerns. Sales of
building plasters, atbeit developing from a low base, continued
to be encouraging.
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Substantially increased sales of building plasters and betler selling
prices resulied in a significantly improved performance in Egypt.
Industry corpention in the current year is expecied to intensify

strong growth in plasterboard volumes continued in Thailand,
attracting mare intense competition which resulled in reduced
profitability as rmarket share was maintained. Substantial additional
capacity will corme on-stream with the group’s new plant at Laem
Chabang later this year, significantly improving BPB'S domestic and
export operating cost platform

New plasterboard capacity near Kuata turnpur wili be commissioned
in early 2006, to support growing demand in the Malaysian
peninsula and increase BPB's market representation.

BPB’ developing Chinese business reported a maiden profit, drven
by strong plasterboard sales growth, improved manufacturing
efficiencies and stable selling prices. This result was achieved against
the background of continuing substantial growth in construction
activity and further market consolidation. The increasing availability
of fow-cost desulphogypsum dose to major markets in easterm
china will further improve industry operating efficiencies

substantial volume growth of plasterboard and building plasters
was achieved in India, due o further market penetration and
continued buoyant commercial construction activity. This led 1o
3 significant performance improvernent despite increased
cornpetition from plasterboard imports. While the impact on
construction activity levels in the current year arising from
government changes to the sales lax regime is uncertain, BPG
anticipates further strong growth in sales volumes and plans to
bring on-stream in fate 2005 3 new combined plasterboard and
plasters facility near Mumnbai to strengthen its distribution
infrastructure across the sub-continent.

south American perations delivered impraved results, reflecting
qood growth of plasterboard sates in Brazil and further solid
pragress in strengthening BPB'S presende as 3 manufacturer of
high quality building plasters in Mexico.




>> [IMPLEMENTING
A PLASTERBOARD
CAPACITY EXPANSION
PROGRAMME OF
CIRCA 5% PA OVER
THE MEDIUM-TERM

BPB’s plasterboard capacity utilisation
is running at & high level after several
years of significant growth in glabal
demand - which continues to outpace
the developrent of construction
markets generally - leading to
attractive opportunities in the group’s
threa major regions for investing in
future profitable growth.

Central and operating BPB teams
are now engaged in impleraeating
a plasterboard capacity expansion
programme of circa 5% pa over the
medium-term, based on current
plans for new investments spread
across Europe, North America and
Emerging Markets (principally Asia),
combined with capacity liberated
through perfarmance iImproverments
at existing plants.

Spreading best practice and
transferring relevant technologies
are essential tasks in BPB'S strategy
for installing lower-cost capacity,
with the group's technical and
innovation teams actively assessing
the imgact of requlatory and
environmental influences and
pilot-testing process developments
aimed at achieving step-changes
in manufacturing performance.

BPB ANNUAL RFPORT 2005 27




OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

>> BPB'S ROBUST FINANCIAL POSITION
1S UNDERPINNED BY A HIGHLY

CASH GENERATIVE BUSINESS MODEL
COMBINED WITH A PRUDENT APPROACH
TO FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

GROUP FINANCIAL POSITION

Strong results in 2004 /05 were diven by a rise In both volumes
and selling prices in all three major regions and benafited from
restructuring actions taken in previous years. This further consolidated
BPE's robust finandal pasition, which is underpinnad By a highly
cash generative business model combined with a prudent approach
o financial management. Opetating cash flows amounted to over
£400 million, aliowing the group to fund Hs accelerating capital
investment programme, the buy-out of Asian minority shareholders
and increased dividend payments to shareholders entirely from
internally generated resources. The group interest charge was
covered over 11 times by undesrlying operating profit and year-end
gearing was 4465,

REPORTED PROFIT, GOODWILL AND EXCEPTIONAL TEMS

A recongiliation of the group's reported profit before Lax of

£258.7 million (2004 £180.3 miflion) 10 the underlying pre-lax
profit (before goodwill amortisation and exceptional items) of
£287 5 million (2004 £222.8 miflizn) s seteutin the able below,
together with equivalent post-tax analysis. This shows:

« an operating exceptional charge of £34.0 million arising
from the likely dosure of the paperboard mill at Aberdeen in
the UK in July, The charge comprises £24.0 million relating to
redundancy, plant de-commissioning and cther site closure
costs and a £10 million write-down of the paper machine and
related equipment
- an operating exceptional pre-tax gain of £14.6 million afising
frarm the company’s share of BPB Canada’s pension fund surpius
distributicn, made following requlatory approval of an agreement
between the company and the pensicn scheme members
non-operating exceptional profit of £6.9 million, arising principally
from the sale of surplus land in the UK and Belgium
amortisation of goodwill of £:16.3 million (2004 £ 18.0 mitlion)

In addition the graup benefited from an operating exceptional tax
credit of £13.9 million arising from the recognition of brought forward
tax losses in the US, resulting from the substantial improvernent
in profitability of the US waliboard business during the year
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NET DEGT AN CASH FLOW

Year-end net debt of £422 0 million was £73.0 million lower than
at the previous year-2nd, after a nel cash inflow of £78.4 millen
and adverse fareign exchange maovements of £5.4 million arising
from the translation of debt held in foreign currendies. The main
features of the graup cash flow staternent this year were:

« continued strong operating cash flov, which increased by
£66.1 million to £416.6 million reflecting improved profitablity
and good working capital management

« increased capital expenditure of £154.1 million (2004
£99.6 miflion), 1.4 times the annual depreciation charge and
consistent with the group’s expanded capital investment plans

- taxation payments of £66.2 millicn, with the cash tax rate on
underlying profit falling to 23% (2004 279 mainly due to the
utilisation of tax losses brought forward in the US and Germany

« £36.8 million spent in buying out minority sharehelder interests
in Thailand and India

2005 2004
GROUP CASH FLOW £m £m
EBITDA 4088 3445
Net maovement in working capital 7.8 60
Operating cash flow 4166 3505

Capital expenditure (154.1)  (996)

Fixed asset disposals 6.6 156
Taxation (66.2) (60.2}
Other 1.0 0.5
Interest (27.2y  (31.4)

Dividends (73.1)  (67.3)
Free cash flow 103.6 1081
Purchase of Asian mincrities (36.8) -
Acquisitions .7y (51
Disposals 8.6 75
Net shares issued 127 9.3
Net cash inflow 784 1203

RECONCILIATON OF MOVEMENT e ;
IN PROFIT: YEAR TO 31 MARCH 2005 X7Fim o A1

Underlying profit 2875 (91.4) 1961
Arnortisation of goodwill (163) 27 (136}
Aberdeen closure costs (340) 87 (253)
Canadian pension refund 146 (58 88
Exceptional US tax credit - 139 139
Disposals/sales 69 (26) 43

Reported profit 2587 (745) 1842




CAPITAL INVESTED AND RETURN O INVESTMENT

approxirmately two-thisds of BPE's £1.73 billien (2004 £1.66 bilion)
capital invested continues 1o be in Europe with nearly a quarter in
North America and arcund 102 in Emerging Markets.

Return on capital invested advanced strongly to 12.7% from last
year’s 9.9%, well above BPB'S weighted average cost of capital.
This reflects the sharp improvement in operating results on a

madestly increased capital base and high plant utilisation levels.

PENSIONS

BPB operates a number of pension schemes (detaited in note 6
to the accounts on pagas 53 to 55), with the largest being the
orincipal UK funded defined benetit scheme. Following actuarial
advice ahead of the results of the trignnial valuation ¢f the UK
scherne, due later in 2005, that the surplus had largely been eroded,
the additional annual pension charge introduced in 2002/03 was
increased to £12.2 million (2004 £6 2 miflion} and @ matching
cash contribution made to the pensien scheme

TREASURY

BPS's treasury operations operate within clearly defined Board
approved policies and imits. Group treasury is not a profit centre
and hedging /derivative transactions are only undertaken to manage
the range of cornmercial exposures the group faces. The department
tollows controlled reporiing procedures and is the subject of reguiar
internal and external reviews,

Group fiquidity is provided through a range of cormmitied debt
facilities in excess of immediate needs. Committed debt facilities
cornprise £379.3 million of Euro and US Dollar denominated bonds
and £644 7 million of committed bank facilities. The total of these
facilities of £1,024 million is significantly more than the drawn debt
requirement of £560.9 million at 31 March 2005. The average length
of time to maturity of BPE's committed debt faciiities was over

5 yeafs at the balance sheet date.

Group policy with regard to reducing interest rate risk is to keep
hetween 50% and 80% of borrowings at fixed rates of interest

At the year end, 53% of the group’s core debt requirernent was
at fixed rates of interest and the average rnaturity of the group’s
fixed debt rernained around 6 years.

The group’s current debt ratings are BBB+ {stable) from Standard
& Poor's and Baa1 (stable} from Moodys.

More detailed information an the group’s treasury policies is provided
in note 23 to the financial statements on pages 60 and 61.

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The group’s programme to achieve transition to Intermnational
Financial Reperting Standards ("IFRS") is pragressing to plan and
BPB, along with cther EU listed companies, will prepare and report
consolidated financial staternents for its current financial year to
371 March 2006 under IFRS. BPB' Septermber trading update and
interim 2005 /06 financial statements will also be prepared under
IFRS. In advance of these, detailed quidance on the impact of IFRS
on BPB's 2004 /05 financial staternents will be provided in july

Initial indications are that IFRS will have a limited impact on the
financial staterments for the year to 31 March 2005:

« there will be no significant change 1o revenue and no change to
actual cash flows, aithough there will be presentaticnal changes
to the cash flow statement

« underlying profit before tax will fall by between 1t and 2%
This will mainly be dug to addilional charges for share-based
awards, as other adjustments to the Incomne Statement, indluding
the impact of adopting 1AS 19 in respect of retirement and other
employee benefits, are not expected to be signiicant

« reported profit before tax will be slightly higher as goodwitt is no
langer amortised (£16.3 million) but reviewed annually for
impairment, and the exceptional Canadian pension refund
(£14.6 million), recorded under UK GAAR is not recagnised in
the Income Statement under IFRS

« net assets will fall following recognition in the balance sheet
of defined benefit pension fund deficits (similar in size to those
disclosed under FRS17 in note 6) and additional deferred taxation
liabifities. These reductions in net assets will be partly offset by
a reversal of the proposed final dividend accrual of £53.9 million
untif approval at the annual general meeting

IFRS, and in particular their inlerpretation, are still evolving and
further adjustments may be identified during the transition and
audit process, Similarly the IFRS impact on the 2005/06 financial
statements is unlikely to be the same as that anticipated for
2004,/05. In particular an additional charge of circa £2 million for
share-based awards is expected in 2005 /06 as the transition ruies
of IFRS 2 mean that the full annual impact of the standard is not
expected uniil the year to 37 March 2008, Furthermore, BPB has
adopted 14532 and 14539 from 1 April 2005 and hence the potential
earnings volatility fram marking to market financial instruments
will be reported far the first ime in the interim results for the six
months to 30 September 2005.
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CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY REPORT

>> THE GROUP AIMS TG PURSUE ITS BUSINESS WITH
INTEGRITY, RESPECTING THE DIFFERENT CULTURES AND
THE DIGNITY AND RIGHTS OF INDIVIDUALS IN ALL
COUNTRIES IN WHICH IT OPERATES, RECOGNISING THAT
THE TRUST AND CONFIDENCE OF THOSE WITH WHOM
IT DEALS ARE AMONGST TS MOST IMPORTANT ASSETS

CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

QUR COMMITMENT TO RESPONSIBLE CORPORATE BEHAVIOUR

BPE recognises that the highest practicable standards of safety,
ethical and environmental practices are vital to its success in building
value, and are & key responsibility of alt employees. Our policies
and procedures in these areas, which incorporate monitoring and
reporting arrangements, are designed to identify relevant risks and
opportunities and provide a clear framewaork for our approach to
doing business and against which performance can be assessed.

To reinforce our commitment to achieve these standards, BPB has
preduced a group-wide Code of Business Conduct which clearly sets
out the basic principles which are to be applied everywhere that
we do business. The Code is published on the group’s internet and
intranet sites, has been translatad into 29 languages and given to
every group employee.

The groups safety, ethics & environment committee has responsibility
for facilitating throughout the group the promotion by management
of 3 culture of responsible carporate behaviour and for assessing the
adequacy of management repcrting of such behaviour in compliance
with embedded policies and procedures,

Further details of our corporate responsibility activities are set out
in a Corporate Responsibility Review which may be cbtained from
the secrelary’s department at the company’s registered office and
can be accessed in the corporate responsibility section on BPB's
website (www.bpb.comy).

SAFETY

Safety at work rermains our first pricrity and features as the first item
on the agenda of all management meetings. 8PB is committed
to the protection and safety of its staff and others affected by its
ooerations, adopting the most rigorous and highest practicable safety
standards. Qur key goal remains no injury incidents and no harm
to pecple and is encapsulated in the group’s health and safety policy
which is published in 29 languages and sets out required standards
and objectives for cperating safe and efficient businasses.
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All emplovees and contractors who work for B8 know they are
personally responsibte for the health and safety of themselves
and others. Health and safety are embedded in the management
responsibilities for all BPB businesses, with management being
responsible for ensuring that health and safety hazards are
systematically identified and contiolled, staff are fully trained,
safety programmes are implernented, monitored and reviewed,
and working environments are created in which all instances of
occupational il health and injury at work are regarded as preventable.

Greup and lecal health and safety programmas, safety audits and
formal accident investigations, together with continued investment
n training, manufacluring processes, equipment and safety
management systems form the key elements of our drive to
continually raise standards, promate best practice throughout the
graup and foster a culture in which health and safety management
is integral to the way our busingsses operate.

The drive 1o deliver better safety performance was sustained during
the year with a reduction for the second consecutive year of 40%
in our lost time injury frequency rate, BPB is pleased to reporl that
there were no fatal accidents in the year (2004 two employees
and three contractors died a5 a result of two road traffic acdidents
while on corpany business and one operational incident). Although
this is a significant improvement in our safety record, itis still some
way from the perfect record BPB seeks to achieve, emphasising
the need to strive to further improve our safety performance.

ENVIRONMENT

BPB recagnises society’s right by expect industry to exercise the
highest practicable level of environmental care. Thraugh the group-
wide implementation of an envirenmental and site risk paficy which
provides a framewaork for establishing effective management
practices, BPB aims to minimise any adverse effecls its activities
may have on the environment.

All operations are required to have an environmental management
systern in place which is at least equivalent to either 15014007 or
EMAS, the international standards for environmentat management.

“The drive to deliver better safety
performance was sustained during
the year with a reduction for the
second consecutive year of 40% in
our lost time injury frequency rate”




A rclling audit programme has been established for identifying and
managing environmental and site risks and oppertunities, with alt
sites being audited al least every five years and major siles at least
every three years. The results of this pregramme are encouraging,
with salid progress being made across the group and significant
savings made to group insurance costs; BPE also recently won an
award for “best loss prevention strategy” at the turopean Strategic
Risk Management Awards. '

Qur continuous drive to improve energy efficiency has played a key
part in many initiatives. For example, in Norway, heat generated
by the manufacturing process is recycled and used to supply over
370,000 kwh of energy to local hemes and businesses, and in the
1S, a new project to recycle waste heat has identified savings of
over 100 in lotal plant utility spend.

PR works in partnership with housebuilders in the UK and
specialist waste company in Canada to collect and recycle gypsum-
based building site waste, thus reducing the need for landfill sites
and the extraction rate of the group’s mineral reserves. In addition,
over 14,004 tonnes per annum of manutacturing waste in the UK
and Iretand is converted inte agrigypsurm to enhance the guality of
soil. BPBS mineral reserves of over 1,000 million tonnes worldwide
- encugh to meet current requirements for many decades - are
further preserved through the use of high grade synthetic gypsum
produced by power station desulphurisation pracesses. Use of
desulphiogypsurm and other synthetic gypsums is st ta increase
further with the recent completicn of long-term agreements

with American Electric Power and Progress Energy to supply
desulphogypsum to the group’s new wallboard plants near Mitchell
in West Virginia and Roxboro in North Carclina, which are expected
to come on-stream in 2007 and 2008 respectively.

OUR PECPLE

with a global workforce of over 12,500 people, BP8 is committed

to providing equal coportunities and creating 3 culture that recognises
team and individual performance, values innovation and continuous
improvement, and empowers and encourages individual resporisibility

As a global organisation, our strategy Is increasingly to devolve
our human resources practices into the local businesses, creating
a responsive culture that promates the involverment and
empowerment of people at alocal level, and which is aligned wath
the aims of our business. To this end, during the year BPB published
a clear set of values that articulate the high standards of social
accountability, ethical behaviour and approach to working with
colieaquas, customers and suppliers that our people need to adopt
in seeking to achieve the group’s vision 'to be the preferred choice
for interior building systems that provide innovative design sofutions”.

A continual supply of talented managers is essential to the future

suceess of the cormpany. To realise this, BPB has developed robust

succession planning processes, defining core competencies to ensure
that the best peaple are identified and developed across the group.

Further information on the company’s employment policies is set

out in the directars’ report on page 35,

COMMUNITY

BPR is committed to supporting local communities and remaining
sensitive to their needs. Our Code of Business Conduct reflects the
group’s aim that its conduct should be a source of positive influence
for those whom its business impacts. BPB believes it is able to
benefit communities most by concentrating its efforts on projects
which are closely related to its business operations, allowing it

to encourage the involvernent of more of its emplayees and to
strengthen links with locaf communities.

During the year, BPB carried cut community projects both locaily
and nationally, ranging frorm the donaticn of employees’ time
and skills, materiais or financial help to educational and vocational
initiatives. The group donated over £100,000 to the Tsunami disaster
relief fund through a number of local and international charities
including Architecture for Humanity and the Red Cross.

In 2004,/65 donations for charitable purposes in the UK amountad
to £216,500 (2004 £728.000) induding support for arganisations
providing shelter for the homeless and low-cost accommodation
ior young people linked to skills training and job opportunities.
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BOARD CF DIRECTORS

1 ANDREW DOUGAL (53)

Non-executive director since 2003

Forrnerly chief executive of Hanson plc (the international bullding
materials company), having previously been greup finance director
and halder of a number of senior management positions in Hanson
(the fosmer diversified industrial company) fram 1986 until its
dernerger in 1997 Non-exocutive director of Taylor Woodrow plc
and formerly of Celtel Internaticnal BV,

2. LADY BALFOUR OF BURLEIGH (59)

Non-executive director since 2000

Non-executive diractor of Scottish American Investrment Trust ple,
Stagecoach Group plc and Murray International Trust ple. Chairman
of the Nudlear Liabilities Fund. Formerly a director of Cable and
wireless ple, Midlands Fleciriaty plc and WH Smith plc.

3. JEAN-PIERRE CLAVEL {57)

Executive director since 2000

Joined the group in 1990 as managing director of the group’s
plasterboard business in France. Appointed regional managing director
for Scuthern Europe in 1999 prior to becoming group managing
directar of BPBS businesses in Southern Europe, Germany, Austria
and Switzerland in 2003, He has additional respansibility for BPB
Formula, the group’s industrial plasters division.

THE BOARD

BOARD COMMITTEES
M Executive
Executive directors
Three additional members

m Audit
G Acherf
A Dougal
Sir lan Gibson
F } Leibenfrost

W Remuneration
Lady Balfour of Burleigh
A ] Dougal
Sir fan Gibson
E Henkes?

m Nomination & management development
D € Hamill
E Henkes
Sir Jan Gibson
£ | Leibenfrostt

m Safety, ethics & envirenment
G Acher
Lady Balfour of Burleight
0 CHarnill
Sir lan Gibsan

T Committee chairman
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4. RICHARD COUSINS (46)

Chief executive since 2000

Joined the group's planning and business develapment departrnent
in 1950, becoming group financial controller in 1992 and managing
director of Abertay Paper Sacks in 1996, Fresident and (O of BPB
Canada from 1998 to 2000. Appainted ta the Board in 2000,

5. DAVID HAMILL (47)

Non-executive director since 26 January 2005

Currently an executive director of imperial Chemical Industries PLC
and chairman and chief executive of the IC| Paints division, a leading
international paint business with sales of over £2 billion. Before
joining IC1 in December 2003, he had worked for Royal Philips
Flectronics for 17 years, latierly as President and CEO of Philips
Lighting, having previously held a range of senior maragament
appointments including President of Philips Lighting Asia-Pacific,
where he was responsible for activities in China and Hong Kong

6. MARK HIGSON {49)

Group operations director since 2060

Joined BPS in 1996 as director of operations, and was appointed
araup managing director for Southern Africa in 2002, He has
additional responsibility for leading the implementation of the
group’s enhanced capital expenditure programme. Previously
responsible for BPB' businesses in Northern Africa, Turkey,

the Middle Fast and Northern Eusope, and for BPB Formula.




7. PAUL HOLLINGWORTH (45)
Finance director since 2002
Formerly finance director of De La Rue pic, having previously held
similar positions at Enghsh ¢hina Clays plc and Ransames ple. Prior
to that he was group financial controller at the former Unigate ple.

8. EVERT HENKES {61)

Non-executive director since 2003

Formerly CEO of Shell Chernicals, having spent 30 years working for
the Royal Dutch/shell Group of companies in a number of senior
rmanagement positions in Furope and Asia Pacific. Non-executive
director of Tate & Lyle plc, Outokumpu QY), SerbCorp Industries Ltd
and CNOQC Lid (€hina National Offshore Oil Company), and member
of the Air Products Furopean Advisory Councll

9 BOB HEARD (52)

Executive director since 1995, and group secretary

Joined the group in 1974. Appointed group secretary in 1985.
Chairman of the group’s US and Canadian pension committees,
a director of the group’s UK pension trustee companies and a
member of the ICSA's company secretaries’ forum.

10. SIR JAN GIBSON CGE (58)

Chairman since 21 July 2004

A non-executive director of GKN ple, Northern Rock ple and Chelys
Ltd, and a trustee of the Centre for Life. Formerly a member of the
Court of the Bank of England, chief executive of Nissan Europe Ny
and senior vice presidant of Nissan Motor Company (Japan) Ld,
and deputy chairman of Asda Group pic. Appeinted to the Board
in 2001 and as deputy chairman in tMay 2003.

11, PAUL WITHERS (48}

Business development director since 2000

Joined the group in 1985 and new graup managing director of
P8’ businesses in Asia, South America, Mexico and Egypt, wath |
additional responsibility for the group’s acquisition programme

and for group markating. Previously managing director of British

Gypsum Ltd, regional managing director for Westeim Europe and
responsible for BPE'S businesses in Eastern Europe,

12. FRANZ LEIBENFROST (67)

Non-executive director since 1999

Chairman of Solvay Osterreich AG and Fisenwerk Sulzau Werfen AG,
and a non-executive director of Foreign & Colonial Small Companies
plc. Formerly chairman and chief executive of Custodia Hoiding AG,

Léwenbrau AG, Veitscher Magnesitwerke AG and Semperit AG, and
a non-executive director of Atlas Copeo Holding AG. He is currently
BPB's senior independent director.

13. GERRY ACHER (BE, LVO {60}

Non-executive director since 2002

Non-executive director and formesly interim chairman of Camelot
Group ple, chairman of the London Climate Change Partnership and
a Trustee and Senior Treasurer of the RSA. Formerly vice chairman
of London First, a member of the Board of KPMG and the Senior
Partner of its London Office, and a Council member and chairman
of the Audit Faculty of the ICAEW.

ADDITIONAL EXECUTIVE
COMPMITTEE MEMBERS

JOHN COLLEY (51)

Group managing director,
fastern and North &
Western Europe

JANE KINGSTON (47)
Director of group
hurnan resources

BRENT THOMSON (53}
Group managing director,
North America
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DIRECTORS' REPORT

Aperspectve of the group s given on e inside front cover, page 1 and pages 14 and 15,
and the activities of the company's principal subsidiary. associated and junt venture
compan'es are ndicated on page 66, Analyses of trnover, operating prolit and net assels
are shower i note 3 on page 52. Reviewes of the perating and financial performance of
the group for the year, of any impostant 2vents after the year end, ane of likely future
developments, are given on pages 12 1o 29 and, 1ogether with the Chainnan’s statement
onpages 10and 11, and the corporate responsibilily repost ar pages 30 and 31 form
part of this report,

The corporale governance reporl on pages 36 1o 395 submitted by the Board, and the
remuneration report 1o shareholders on pages 40 to 46 is submitted by the remuneration
cummittee on behalf of the Boarel.

A staternent of direciors’ responsibilities for the prepatation of financial statements for
the year to 31 March 2005 is given on page 47, and a cautionary cormment concerning
forweard-looking staterments is made on the inside back cover.

DIVIDENDS

The Board recomimends a final dividend of 10.75p per share (2004 9.45p) making a tolal
for the year af 16.00p (2004 14.25p) 1 approved, the final dividand will be pa'd on

19 Auqust 2005 to shareholders on the register on 22 July 2005; the interitn dividend
of 5.25p was paid on 27 January 2005.

SHARE CAPITAL
Full details of changes in the company’s share capital which occurred during the year are
shown in note 24 on page 62.

No shares were purchased during the year under the limited authority granted at the 2004
annual general meeting to make markel purchases of up o 10%: of the comparry's shares.

AL31 parch 2005 there were 500 3 millien ordinary shares in issue held by 8,488
sharehelders. These shareholdings are analysed in the lables below by categary of
shareholder and size of sharehotding.

AS a1 Raay 2005, the company had been notified of the felloveng interests of 3% o
rmiore i its issued ordinary share capital; Prudential ple 7.3t Sprucegrove Investiment
Fanagernent Ltd 630w Standard Lile Investments 3.9%; Legal & General Investmait
Management Ld 3,180

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The cormpany’s annual general meating wil be hekd al 12 noan on Wednesdey 20 Juby 2005
After considering the ordinary husimess, shaieholders will be asked 1o consider, as
spedial husiness, propusals to:

« renew the diredors” limited adthority 1o make cartain payments which might
inacvertently breach the provisions of the Pulitical Parties, Flections and
Relerendurms Act 2000

« renew the directors linmited authority 1o rake market purchases of the company’s shares

Details of the meeting venue and full details of the resolutions to be proposed, together
with explanatery noles, are set out in a separate notice of meeting which accompanies
this annual report and accounts.

Folowing recent changes ta the Companies Act 1985 as a result of the Companies (Audit,
tnvestigations and Cormenunity Enterprise} Act 2004, the company is required to disclose
tat under article 157 of the company’s articles of association the directors have the benefit
of an indeminity. to 1he extent permitted by the Companies Act 1985 (as amended}, against
liabilities incurred by thern in the execution of thelr duties and the exercise of their powsers
Acopy of the company’s articles of association (which contain this indemunity} is available
for inspection at the company’s registered office during normal business hours and wil
be available for inspaction at the company’s forthcoming annual general meeling.

The company will continue its policy of providing details of proxy voting at ach AGM
These will atso be provided after each meeting in the investor centre on the company’s
websile (wyww.bpb.comy).

Number 4o of by of ordinary

Category of sharehelder of accounts total accounts share capital
Indivicduals 6,299 74.21 342
Banks and nominees 2,003 23.60 95.07
Companies 182 2.14 122
Insurance companies and pension trusts 4 0.05 0.29
8,488 10000 100.00

The majority of holdings in the second category are of investment managers who act for a much larger number of investors.
Number b of U of ordinary
Size of shareholding of accounts total accounts share capital
1-1,000 2,812 33.13 031
1,001-10,000 4,585 54.14 259
10,001-100,000 702 827 417
100,0071-500,000 234 275 11.08
560,001-1,000,000 65 0.77 336
over 1,000,000 80 (0.94 7219
8,488 100.00 T00.00
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FLECTRONIC SHAREHOLDER SERVICES

shareholders can elect to oblain shareholder documents, such as annual and interm reparts
and nolices of general meetings, electronically from BPB'S website rather than by post.
These shareholders who wish [0 take advantage of this Tree service may du so by registering
their debails o BPB'S ragistrar's websile fwwwshareviewco.uk). Additionally, sharelwlders
miay, if ey so wish, register the appointment of a proxy for the AGM electonically by
loeging o o BEES registrar’s proxy appointment veelx te at wnvisharevote couk where
fut details of the procedure are given. Similarly, CREST members who wish o appoint

a proxy through the CREST electronic proxy appointin:a2nt service may tlo su by wsing 1he
procedures described in the CREST manual. Further information on bolh these electranic
proxy lodgement services is set outin a separale notice of meeting which accompariies
this aniwal report and accounts,

DIRECTORS AND THEIR INTERESTS
The directars of the company during the year were as shown on pages 32 and 33, together
with Allan Gormiy CBE, who retired on 21 July 2004

The interests of the directors holding office at the year end in the company’s ordinary shares
as at 31 March 2005, and moverments during the year i their share option, share matehing
plan and performance share plan interests, were as shown in the remuneration commitiees
report on pages 45 and 46; the weighted average prices of directars share options, tugether
with the pre-tax gain invalue of exercisable options at 31 Maich 2005 are shown un page 46,

During the year o directar had any interest in the company’s 6.5% euro denominated
bonds due 2010 or in any shares or debenture or loan stocks of the company's subsidiaries,
or any material interest in any contract with the company or 3 subsidiary being a contracl
of significance in relation to the company’s business.

David Haimill, who will retire having been appointed sirce the last annual general meeting,
together with Sir lan Gibson, Paul Hollingworth and Franz teibenfrost, who retire by
fotation, offer themselves for se-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

As explained in the service agreements paragraph oil page 42, Paul Hollingworth has
aservice contract terminable by the company on one year’s notice. Sir fan Gibson,
Franz Leibenfrost and David Hamili do not have service contracts.

EMPLOYMENT POLICIES

The group continues to develop and maintain progressive poficies for all aspects of
employment, the overall abjective being to optimise performance through recruitment
and retention of effective, well-motivated people in every sector of its business.

BPB seeks 10 realise the patential of every employee, recognising individual and team
contribution and rewarding competitively refative to the group’s success.

Group companies operate within a framework of human resources” policies appropriate
to their country of operation.

The group atlaches considerable importance to keeping its employees informed on
matters affecting their jobs and the progress of the business. Although there are various
communication channels, including a global magazine, an intranet site and emails, the
primary one is face-to-face communication between managers and theit slafl. These are
complemented by formal consultation processes through & works coundil in Europe and
national systems of employes representation. All these communication channels, along
with training pregrammes, enhance swareness of firancial and economic factors affecting
BPES perforrance and promote good communication and mutua! understanding.

Employees in the UK have the opportunity to participate in the company’s SAYE share oplion
scherme over 3 three o five year period, and lurther details of these amangements are
diven in note 24 on page 62. Approximately 66% of eligible employees {those with

a minimum of one vear's service) participate in the scheme, each holding on average
options aver 3,000 shares and saving almost £170 per month. In additian, employees
are able o participate in the 3P UK employee share ownership plan providing a funher
opportunity 1o increase their shareholding in BPB by enabling them o buy shares on

a monthly basis out of pre-tax salary, Almost 15% of eligible employees (those with

a minimun of 18 months’ service) participate in the plan, investing on average almost
£75 per manth in BPE shares.

BRI also encourages, where appropiate, the introcuction of all-cimplovee share schemes
in other countries in accordance with predetennined group guidelines, primarily involviig
the use of shares alrealy in issue.

BPE s commitled o promoting diversily acrass the group, bolh in recognition of the
inherent value of diversity and to ensure that BFES local businesses reflect the diversiy
of their cuslomer base. To thrs end, BPE is committed Lo provicing equal opporntunity n
secsitmer, promation, career development, training and reward for all employees without
discrimnination and continues ¢ be supportive of the employment and advancement of
disabled persons in accordance with their abilities and aptitudes, provided that they can
be emploved in a safe working environiment. If employees become disabled every effor
is madle to ensure their employment continues, willt appopriate training where necessary

Training and devetopment remains a key priarity in actieving the groups goals and

in ensuring that all ermployees perform to their highest potential. To this end, employees
have the opportunity to participale in training and development i the felds of technology,
huilding and construction industry, professional and leadership skills, Linked 1o a group-wide
pracess for encouraging employees, where relevant, to transles belween group companies,
his provides the cpportunity for BPB pecple lo experience new and challenging
ervironments and for the sharing of skills and expertise throughout the group.

Further comment on ernployment issues is confained un page 31.

CREDITOR PAYMENT POLICY
It is the company’s policy o agree terms of paymenl. prior (o commencing trade with any
supplier and to abide by those terms based on the timely submission of satisfactory involces.

The number of trade creditor days for the year ended 31 tarch 2005 was 45 (2004 45 days)

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

The grou’s research and development programme plays a key role in supporting BPE's
activities. During the year, the group spent £5.3 millfion (2004 £5.4 iriillien) on increasing
manufacturing effidency, improving product quality and infroducing new products. BPB'
acoustic, fire, systems-development and structural testing facilities are accredited to a
range of international standards through UKAS; such accreditation is also recognised by
avariely of international standards authonities. In addition, the facilities huld notified body
status allowing tests 1o be conducted in support of CE marking in accordance wilh the
Construction Products Directive.

CHARITABLE AND POUTICAL CONTRIBUTIONS

Details of payments for charitabie purpeses made during the year are given on page 31.
The company did not make donations to or incur expenses to benefit any UK or other EU
political parties or organisations (2004 nif)

AUDITORS
A resclution proposing the re-appointment of £msl & Young LLP as auditors o the company
will be put to the annual general meeting on 20 July 2005.

On behalf of the Board

RM Heard

Director and group secretary
18 May 2005
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is committed tomaintainng high standards ¢ corporale gavesnance inils
managerient of the aftairs of the group and when accoanting to shareholders,

This section of the annual report has bieen prepared in accordance with the Code of Best
Practice in the Combined Cude on Comporate Governance ssued by he Finandal Reporting
Council 1 July 2003 (the Combined Cade). The groups palicy quidelines on coporale
direction and control ensure hat the company applies &l of the principles ol good
govemance contained in the Combined Code in the oryanisational structure has adopted
10 conduct its business, the means by which directors are remunerated, the manner of
contact with shareliolders, and the procedures adhered 1o its financial reporting, internal
control and assurance process. The following report explains in more detail how the
company applizd the principles of the Combined Code and complied with its detailed
best praclice guvernance provisions traughout the financal year

THE BOARD

Effective management and good stewardship are led by the Board of directors, which
currently consists of iteen directors, twalve of whom served thioughout the financial
vear, with David Harmill having been appointed on 26 January 2005; Allan Gormly was
alsara director {and chairman) up to 21 July 2004, In addition t the current chairan here
aro six executive directors and six non-executive directors; this bialance ensures that ng
individual director or small group of directors dorminates the decision miaking process.

It s BPE's pulicy thal, exchuding the group chaimman, atleast half the Board should
normally be independent non-execulive direclors. The Board considers each ol its current
non-executive directors to be independent in character and judgerment. In reaching its
delermination of independence the Board has condluded that there are no relationships
o circumstances which are likely o affect, or could appear to affedt, 2ach non-executive
director's judgement.

Seven regular Board mieetings were held during the financiai year, one of which was held
aver two days and two more were held in conjunction wilh visits o company locations
wehich tock 3 total of five days. Attendance of the current directors at Board and comimiltee
meetings was almost 999 during the year, of the 29 meetings held Andrew Bougal and
Evert Herkes wera absent from one meeting each.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS, AND SENIOR INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR

The non-executive directors provide a strong independent element and a solid foundation
fur good comparate governance. Although all directors are equally accountable under the
law for the proper stewardshig: of the companys allairs, (he non-executive directors fulfd
a vital role in corporate accountability. They have a parlicular respensibility to exarmine
critically the strategies propased by the execulive direclors, scrutinise the performance
ol management in meeting agreed goals and objectives, and play a leading role in the
functioning of he main Board committees, Between thein, the current non-executive
directors biing experience, expertise and independent judgemnent from a vanety of business
sectors and public life

Fior 21 July 2004 until the conclusion of the AGK in 2006, Franz Lefbenfrost will be the
senior independent director, To ensure every independent non-executive direclor s equally
well informed, this role will be rotated every two years. The senior independent direclor
wil, along with the other directors, be available 1o discuss matters of concermn with
sharehalders which normal channels of eommunication with the group chairman, chief
executive or finance director have failed 1o resolve or for which such contact is inappropriate.
He {or she) also teads the annual evaluation by the nan-executive directors of the group
chairman’s performance.
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CHAIRRAN

The group chavmmian is amember of the audi, remunaration, nomination & managerment
development, and safety, ethics & envronment comimallees, The Boare continues to
befieve thal he shoukd be engaged in all aspects of the group, particularly Board conmitiees,
tlue e the breadth of knuwledge and refevant expenence he brngs o these commilles,
and the fact that encornpassed in bis mole is the leadership of Hie Board. The commarnty
praclised aitematve of sitting in attendance at cammittes meelings is not cons.erad 1o
he an adequate altemative. Lis, howaver, the Boards policy that the first two committees
will normally also have at least threz indapendent non-executive directors as members,
with the normnation & nianagement developrent commiliee having al least two
independent non-executive direckars The chairmen of alt four cammitiees will be non-
executive direclors. The Board is satisfiad that, in the unfkely event that the group chainman
is required to arbitrate on any differences between Boand committees and management,
he would do so totally objectively.

$ir lan Gibsun is a non-execulive director of GEN ple, Northern Rock plc and Chelys Lid, and
a trustee of the Centre for Life. The Buard is satisfied that these are not such corumitiments
o his tine as W interfere with the perforiance of his duties as chaiiman of the company.

INDUCTION, TRAINING ANE INFORPAATION

Fallowing appuintment to the Board, all new «drectors receive a cemprehensive and
struclured induction tailored 1o their individual requirements. The induction programime,
wehich is approved by the group chairman and amanged by the company secretary, incudes
visits to the group’s businesses and meetings with senior managernent as appropriate.
This facilitales their understanding of the group, the key drivers of business performarce,
the role of the Board and its committees, the company’s corporate governance praclices
and procedures, and provides thern with appropriate training and quidance as to their duties,
responsibilities and iabilities as a direclor of a public fsted company. When a non-executive
director is appointed to one of the Board’s commiillzes, additicnal induction training is given
which is relevant to that appeintment

"To assist directors in the performance of their duties, there are procedures to provide them

with appropriate and timely information, including infonmation between meetings about
developments in the group’s business and financial performance, so that they can maintain
full and effeclive contrel over strategic, finandial, operational, compliance and govermance
issues, Directors also have access 1o the advice and services of the group secretary, the
appointment and removal of whomm is a matter for the whole Board, and, in appropriate
circurnstances, ray obtain independent professional advice at the company’s expense

Where appropriate, additional training and updates on particular issues are arranged
For example, over the last 12 months, the Board and audit committee, have received
specific briefings by internal management and the external auditors on the introduction
of Intermnational Financial Reparting Standards and Lheir likely impact on future reperting
by 13PB.

To ensure that the Board as a whole remains fully informed ort the views of shareholders,
fe Roard receives reqular reports on shareholder sentiment from the chainnan, chief
executive and finance direclor. Although not part of their induction programme, all non-
executive directors have a standing invitalion o attend sharehalder meetings and analyst
preseritations, and shareholders nay meet infermially with directors at the annual general
meeting. In addition, the chairman and senior independent director will normally attend
lhe post-announcement presentations of the preliminary eesults to selected principal
institytional investors and report the putcome to the Board. Furthermicre, at least once
avear, one or both ol the company’s brokers make a presentalion on shargholder issues
1o the non-executive direclors without the executive direclors being present.




PERFORMANCE EYALUATION

A lull Board performance evaluation process was undartaken in fate 2004, faciltated by
the Board Perfarmance Uit of the institule of Chartered Secretaries and Adisinistrators,
with Uty decumented results being presented (o the January 2005 Board meeting.

The process was carefully structured boi pragmatic, tailored 1o bring about a gendine
debale of issues that matler and assist in identifying any polential for improvement in
BPE processes. I ertailed initial and sign-oll meetings with the group chairman and
company secrelary, individual interviews with each director and a cormposile detailed
repnrt by 1C5A assessing the quality of the Board's perfunnance in a range of different
areas. While being satisfied with its ovesali performance, e Board is developing action
plans in respect of certain processes identified for improveiment, including for example
the way in which potential Board candidates are identified 0 all existing directors al an
earlier stage in the appointment process.

During the year the chaifman also hield one formal meeting with the non-executive
directors without executive direclors being present o discuss the functioning of the Board
and its committees, and the contribution of the exectitive directors. There was also

one meeting of the non-execulive directors without the group chainman being present
1o evaluate his performance, led by the senior independent director. In addition, the
chairman met the non-executive directars informally on two occasions without any
execulive director attending,

The performance of the Board comimittees was also appraised by the group chainman, with
inpult from the chiel exacurive, the company secretary and the commiltee chainnen.

Sir lan Gibson, as group chairman, undertakes a dacumented rolling annuak progiarmine
of evaluation of the performance of each individual non-execulive direclor His cne-le-one
review during the vear wilh Franz Leibenfrost to discuss his individual performance was
particularly rigoraus in view of the fact that he has served on the Board for imore than
six years. Executive directors’ performance was appraised by the chiet executive, wilh
input from the group chairman, and discussed with the nomination & maniagement
development committee. The performance of the chief executive wias appraised by

the group chairman in conjunction with discussion al both remuneration cammitiee and
nomination & management developrient commitiee meetings.

Following this vear's review the nomenation & manajgernent development committee
and Board have confirmed that all directors standing for re-election at the farthcering
annual general meeling continue to perform efiectively and to demonstiate cornmitment
1o their roles.

while sell-assessment remains the most appropriate mechanistn for continuing evaluaticn
of individual performance, a mixture of self-assessment and full of top-up review by third
parties is most likely o be BP8's way forward with Board and commitiee evaluations.

RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

New directors appointed by the Board must submit themselves for re-election by
shareholders al the AGM following their appointment. Thereafter BPR's articles of
association require thal all directars stanct for re-election at least every (ree years.

BOARD AND COMMITTEE RESPONSIBILITIES / MEMBERSHIPS

The Board as 3 whole determines group strateqy, reviews trading petformance, ensures
adequate funding, examines major investments and maoniiers the performance of the
executive. Althcugh it has a formal schedule of matters specifically referred to it for dacision,
the Board has five principal commitiees to deal wilh specific aspects of the group’s affairs.
In addition, the group secretary has a specific responsibility to the group as a whole for
its sound gvernance and for the guidance of the Board in the responsible and effective
execution of ils tasks.

The group executive committee, which met on eight occasions during e year, consists
of all the executive direclons together with three senior group executives, and is chaired

by the group chiel execulive. Its principal tasks are to ensure the proper managernent of

the group’s operalions, 1 act as @ forun for consultation and co-ordinaton, and to make
recommendations to the Board.

The audit committee increased the number of meetings Lintends 1o hold each vear hiom
three 1o four, This reflects the importance the Board aliaches to the role of the cormmittee
and the amount of work itis now required to carry out. Commitleg members are Getry
Acher (ehairman), Andrew Dougal and Franz Leibenfrost (@il of whom are considered
Ly the Board to be independent non-executive direciors) logether with Sir lan Gitson
{greup chainman), At least cne member of the comenittes has recent and relevant
financial experience.

For the reasons set out on page 36, Ihe Board has concluded that it remains appropriare
for the group chairman tw cantinue as @ member of the comimittee for the time being,

At the end of each meeting the conimittes meels with the extemnal auditors, without
manayerment present, 1o facilitate the discussion of any matter relaling o its remit and
any isses arising from the audit. Aangenents have also been adopted to ensure that
the head of intemal control, audit & risk has direct access to the committee chairman
and is accountable 1o the comimittee,

The committee receives at each meeting detailed reports from imanagement and the
external auditors te facilitate the discharge of its duties. It is respansible for recommending
he appointment, re-appuintment, and approving the terms of engagement. of the
company's auditors, ensuring that key partners are rotated al appropriate intervals, and
(it necessary) considering the resignation or dismissal of the auditors. It also reviews the
auditors’ performance and cost cormpetitiveness, including the scope and effectiveness
of and matters arising from, the annual audit, The coimpmittee reviews and discusses
the intended publication of resuls and, whenever practicabie, other finandial statemnents,
the estimates and judgemnents applied by management in the preparation of those
staternents, the efficacy and reliabiity of internal conirol, the effectiveness of the coripany’s
internal control function and its relationship with the external auditors, the effectiveness
of management actions in contralling the intensity of key gioup risks identified by the
Board, and any changes to financial reporting requiremnents.

The comemittee also receives reqular reports on developments in financial reporting praclices
and other relevant matters so as ta keep abreast of current thinking on accounting poficies
and standards.

The full remit of the comimittee is availahle in the nvestor cenire on BPE's website
(wewwbpb.com) and on request from the secretary’s depactiment at the company's
registered office. The remit and effectiveness of the committee is reviewed annually.

The committee has reviewed the adequacy of the company’s procedures for the receipt
and treatiment of any concems and suspicions that might be raised by employees

in confidence o anonymously reqarding possible legal, requlatory of ather viotations in
matters of financial reporting and other matters,

I respect of 2004,/05, the cominittee reviewed the execution of the agreed extermnal
audit plan, the robusiness and perceptiveness of the external auditors in their handling
of key accounting and audit judgements and the content of the external auditors” half-
yearly review and annual audit report. As noted above, the committee also met four
times with the external auditors alane. n the basis of these meetings, detailed
feedback and reparts from senior group and operating management, and other
information available to the commitiee, the commiltee is able 1 assess the ongoing
effectiveness of the external audit process.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

[ satisly its responsiblity for reviewsing aned mondoring the extemal auchions” objectivity

and ndependence, the committes reviewed the praposed key extemal audit stall in the
exlemal auditors plan, the amangaments for the management of the audit relationship,
and the external auditurs” arangements 1 identily, report and manage aimy conflicts of
teros, The commitiee has also determined a framevork for governing the provision of
audlit and non-audit services by the auditors and their associates, (king inlo consideration
relevant prefessional and regulatory requrenments and rporls from the external auditors
an their palicies and procedures regarding ‘ndependence and qualty control,

The connritiee’s franmiework ndudes a policy identitying certain non-audit services wi nch
the auditors are prohibited from providing and a process through wiich audit and ron-
audit services are approved. Certain categories ol non-audit service are appioved by the
comyrittes on an annuat basis and, n addition, the conenittes chainman (urin his absence
a comvittze merrbert may approve ugent engagerients nol covered by these categuries,
subsequently notfying the commuttee at its next imeetng. The non-audit services of the
extemnal auditors will orly be used where the company benefits in a cost-effective manner
and the auditers maintain the necessary degree of independence and objectivily. The
framework is kept under review and may be amended friom e Lo Tme as necessary

subject lo receipt of appropriate shareholder autherty, the commitles approves all fees
paid to the extemal auditors. Detalls of the amounts paich o the exteral auditors during
the vear for audit and non-audit services are sel oulin note 4 00 page 53.

The remuneration committee et four times during the year. The members of the
cominitiee are Evert Herkes (chairman from 21 july 2004), tady Balfour of Burleigh
(from 21 july 2004), and Andreye Douyal (from 21 July 2004) (all of whom are considered
by the Boasd to e independent non-executive directos) togelher with Sir lan Gibson
{qroup chairman, wha was chairman of the committee until his appointment as group
chaitman on 21 July 2004). Belails of the commitlee’s emain functions, and its current
remuneration policies for parent company direckrs ani senior executives, are given in
the remuneration commitlee’s report commencing on page 40.

The nomination & management development cominittee consists ol Fianz Letbenlrost
(chairman), Evert Henkes (frorm 21 July 2004) and David Harmilt (from 26 january 2005}
(all of whom are considered by the Board to be independent nen-executive directors}
together with Sir lan Gibson (graup Chairman).

The committes, which provides a formal and transparent procedure for the appointment
of new directors o the Board, generally engages external consultants to advise on
prospeciive Board appuintees. The commitles keeps under review the need for planned
and progressive refreshing of the Board, prepares a description of the specific experience
and skill needed for an appointment, considers candidates put lorward by extemnal
cansultants, and recommends to the Board the appoinimenits of all directors after having
met shortlisted candidates, It also supervises and puts in place succession plans for the
posts of group chairman and group chief executive and keeps under review the
management development and succession plans for all senior managernerit appointments
within the group, including the identification of senior executives judged to have polential
for 8oard appointment. The full remit of the committee: i available in the investor centre
o0 BPE's website (wwwbpb.com) and on request from the secretary’s department at
the company’s registered office.

puring the year, the committee recommended the appointiment of one further nen-
execulive director. A detailed job description was agreed by the committee, hiaving regard
to the desired balance of skills and experience for the Board as a whole, before extermnal
search consultants were engaged to prepare a shortlist of candidates, Only after a rigorous
interviews process was a candidate recommended 1o the Board. The committee met three
times during the year for formal meetings in addition to (he interview sessions referred
1o abave, ankl participated in performance evalation processes as outlined in the separate
section above.
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fhe safety, ethics & enviropment comimittee, which et tree tines turng the year,
consists of Lacly Balfour of gurleigh (chaimian), sir lan Gibson (iom 21 July 2002), Gerry
Acher and David Harnill (um 26 January 2005),

Its principal tasks are t facilitate throughout the group the pronioton by managgment ol
a culiure of responsible cororate bebaviour ang for assessing the adequacy of managervient
reporting of sich behavour i comphance with ernbedded procedures and policies. 11 alsy
assisls i promoiing a culiure of safe working practices and care and sensiiity towards
the environmeni, and overviews the groups chartable donations palicy

The full remit of the comimittee is availalde ay the investar centre o BRES website
(e bph.com) and onrequest [rom the secretary's department at the company’s
regisiered office.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has aveall responsibility for the groups systerm of internal control and risk
management and for reviewsng the effectiveness of this systen. Such a syster is
designed 1o identify, evaluale and control the sigeslicant risks assucialed with the group’s
achievement ol its husiness ohiecives with a view to safequarcding sharefiolders’
imvestments and the group’s assels. Because of 1he lirmitations (hat are inherent in any
systern of intemnal control, this systemis designed o meet the company’s particular needs
and the risks to which itis exposed and is designed to manage rather than eliminate risk
accordingly, such a systeim can provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

In accordfance with the Combined Cade Turnbuli Guidance on internal contral, the Board
confirms that there is an on-going process for identifying, evaluating and managing the
significant risks faced by the group and that it has been in place for the year ended

31 march 2005 and up o the date of approval of the annual report and accounts.

The Board has adopted a risk-based approach in establishing the group’s sysleirs of
internal control and in reviewing its effectiveness. To identily and manage key risks,

it has established a number of group-wide procedures, policies and standards, has set
up a framework for reporting and escalating matlers of significance, has autharised the
audit committee to undertake reviews of the effectiveness of managerment actions in
controlling the intensity ol key grous risks identified by the Board, has developed a system
of reqular reports from management setting out key performance and risk indicators and
has reserved specific, key matters for its decision. This process is desioned o provide
assurance by way of cumulative assessment and is embedded in operational management
and governance processes.

Key elements of the group’s system of intermal contiol which have operated throughout
the year are:

- aclearly defined organisation structure with established responsibilities
« 3 simple and focused husiness strateqy, thus restricting potential risk exposures

« group financial, business conduct, operating and administrative policies and
procedures which incorporate statements of required hehaviour

« conlinuous reviews of operating pedormance

« monitoring by the Beard of a comprehensive reporting syster, including monthly
results, annual budgets, and periodic forecasts

s approvai by the Board ol 2l major investments, with proposals being subject to
rigerous strategic and comnmarcial exarnination, and with post-investiment appraisals
ol all significant projecls




- acentrally co-ordinated intemal audit programime wiich uses bothinternal
and externat resource to support the Board in its 1ol of ensuring a sound
control envireniment

« completion by business unit managamenl of an annual internal control assessiment
contriming compliance with company policies atk procedures, detailing controls i
aperation and listing any weaknesses

aninternal control, audit and risk commillee for each group managing director’s
businesses which nonnally meels at least annually

o assurance aclivities covering the key business risks suimnarised and reported
annually to the Board, the audit commitiee o5, where appropriate, the safety, ethics
& enwironment commitlee

local businesses undertaking annual risk profiing exercises for identifying, menitoring
an managing significant risks, The results of the exercise are discussed at business
review and intermal control, audit and risk meetinys

a group risk proiling workshop for reviewing all business fisk profiles and for
identifying, monitoring and overseeing the manageiment of corporate risks across
the group The results of this workshop are used to produce 3 kay, group-wide risk
and control schedule for consideration by the Board

The Beard regards responsible corporate behaviour a; an integral part of the overall
governance framework and believes that it should be: fully integrated into management
stiuctures and systems. Therefore the risk management poficies, procedures and monitoring
methods described above apply equally te the identification, evaluaticn and cantrol of
BPES safety, ethical and environmental risks and opportunities. This approach has enabled
the company to comply with the disclosure quidelines issued by the Associalion of British
Insurers on socially responsible investment which require listed companies [0 repart 10
sharehalders and give assurance that the company is managing its risks in these matters

All acguired businesses are brought within the group’s system of internal control as soon
as practicable and in any event within twelve monihs of acquisition.

The Board has completed its annual review of the effectiveness of the system of internal
control for the peried since 1 April 2004 and is satistied that itis in accordance wilh

the Tumnbull Guidance, The assessrent included consideration of the effectiveness of
the Board's on-geing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the risks facing
the graup.

Further information on the company’s system o internal controls is set out in the operational
and financial review In the section analysing the risks and uncertainties faced by the group
o page 19 and in the corperate responsibility report on pates 30 and 31

GOING CONCERN

Alter reviewing the group’s financial resources and projected cash flows, the Board has
a reasonalble expectation that the group has adequate resources to conftinue in operationat
axistence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, it continues 1o adopt the going concern
basis in preparing the financial slaternents.

SHAREHOLLER COMMUNICATIONS AND VOTING PATTERN

The Board recognises the importance of good commun-cation with sharehulders.

In addition 1o the interiy and annual reponts which are sent to all sharchelders, there
is a reqular dislogue with indivicual institutional shareholders, who als from time to
trne visit Lhe group’s operations. There are also generat stockbroker /institutional analyst
presentations each hall year, webcasts of the post-announcement presentations of the
interim and preliminary results to city analysts and principal instilutional shareholders,
traciing update announcements with associated conference calls each March and!
seplemiber, and there is an oppertunity for individual shareholders to question the
charman and, through him, the chairmen of e principal Board comimiltees at the AG
Aller the AGM, shareholders can meel infarrnally with the directors. The company
consults principal sharehalders over sianificant changes in rermuneration policy, discusses
its approach to corporate govemnance whenever requestad o do so by them and
respends as necessary Lo letlers o individuat sharenolders on a wide range of issUes.
The company’s website, www.bpb.com, includes a section focusing specificaliy upon
investars, and contains an arehive of alt recent parent company press reteases and
annual feporis.

although the Board has previously noted a trend of rising voting participation levels at
8PB annual general meetings, it was disappainting to nole that the tolal number of shares
voted by proxy (as a proportion of the company’s issued share capital) decreased to 63%
al the 2004 annual generat meeting, compared o the previous yaars 69%. Delaiis

of the proxy vates cast for use 2l that AGM are avaiable In the investor centre on e
company’s website; those for the 2005 AGM will be avallable at the meeting and will
be displaved on the company’s website as soun as possible lhereafter
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE'S REPORT

INTRODUCTION

This report to shareholders is in a number of sectens, the first of which deals wilh the
cormmittee ancl 15 rernit. The second part provides detals of the company’s ramuanerat'on
pulicy for exccutive directors and senior managers. The thid parl describes the efements
af resmuneration for the year to 37 March 2005 and the fourth addresses mescellaneous
malters such as service agreements, non-executive diceclor fees and policy on exten al
appoinments. The last part provides details of the remuneration and nierests o orbnary
shares, share malching awards, performarnce share awarcl, and share options of he directors
for the year ended 31 March 2005.

Lecisons and secomimendatons of the committee are reported o the Board, andd this
repurt is submilled 1o shareholders by the Commitles on befhalf of the Board.

As required by schedule 74 1o the Companies Act 1935 - The Directors” Remuneration
Report Requlations 2002 {the Regulations) - this refort will be subject to an advisory
sharcholder vote a1 the forthcorming annual general meeting. This report fully complies
with the requirements of the Regulations and has been audited by Emst & Youndg LLP to
the extent required by those Reguiations. Commient on compliance with the Combined
Code on corporate yovernance is contained in the Conporate Governance sectien of this
annual report

THE COMMITTEE AND ITS REMIT

BPB' relnuneration commities is primarly responsible for determining and recommending,
1o 1he Board, the framework for execulive remuneration and determining, on behalf of
the Board and shareholders, the entire remuneration package of the executive directors
and executive committes rembers. It also recommetnts and monitors the level and
struclure of remuneration paid to olher senior executivers and decides on the grant of
entitlernents under senior executive share option, parformarice share, delerred share
bonus and (for the tast time in July 2004) share matching plans. The full remit of the
Comimittee is available in the investor centre on BPE's website {(wiwwliph.com) and on
request from the secretary's deparlment at the company’s fegistered office.

The refmuneation of and fees paid to the chairman, any deputy chairman and the non-
xecutive directors are decided in line with market levels by the Board, but with the
relevant individuals abstaining as appropriate.

Committee members are Evert Herkes {chairman of the Committee from 21 July 2004},

Lady Balfour of Burleigh {fiom 21 July 2004} and Andrew Dougal (from 21 July 2004}
(all of whom are considered by the Buard to be independent non-executive directors)
together with sir 1an Gibson (group chairman, who was chaimman of the Committee
until his appointment as greup chairman on 21 July 2004); they all bring a wide range
of experience from cther organisations and their biographies are shown on pages 32
and 33. franz Leibenlrost and Allan Gormly were members until 21 July 2004,

For the reasons set out in the Corporate Governance section on page 36, the Board has
concluded that it remains apprapriate for the groups chiaiiman Lo continue as a member
of the Commiliee.

The group secretary acls as secretary to the Comimittes and the chief executive, director
of group hurman resources and group head of reward normally attend meetings, at the
invitation of the Commmittee, to provide informaticn and advice. The Cominittee also has
access 1o professional services from the Hay Group and the Monks Partnership for the
provision and interpretation of cornparative senior management remuneration data; this
allows the Commiittee to be informed by a consensus market view of data across lhe wide
range of countries in which the group operates. New Bridge Street Consuitants provide
infosmation to the Commitlee primarily un equity-based incentive schemes, and Watson
Whall provide and interpret information on UK and overseas persion benefits. These are
all leading independent remuneration consultants who have been appointed with specific
terms of reference directly by the Committee. The four firms also provide advice Lo the
company on UK and internationa! salary matters, share schernes and pensions respectively,
as the company helieves this is the most efficient way to assist with implementation of
pdlicies agreed by the Cominittee,
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REMUNERATION POLICY

The Commitlee seeks o ensure that the company’s renunaration policics and practices
facditate the employiment and imotivation of high calibre personnet with the appropriate
skills to implement the groups busness ohjectves, while also relaling reward to
perfoimance and aligning the nterests of direclors and senior execulives with those

of shareholders. It aims 1o lollows best practice i relation to its rermuneration policy and,
in pasticular, cornplies will the Regulatons and the Combined Code.

In constiucting and reviewing remuneration packages, the emphasss is on revarding
directors competiively for their contribution 1 the company’s overal performance and
for enhancing value to shareholders, taking inl account market compar'suns and the
compelitive pressures in the construction and buildling 1saterals sector External comparsons,
including annual assessments of the refevant senior execulive rermuneration markel, lock
at comparable roles  similar organisations in terms of lumnover, profitability, markel
capitalisation and gecgraphic spread of operations,

The strateqy for executive director rerunesaticn, 0 general terms, is t provide 3 balanced
package which includes base pay and benefits in kind &t around the median market level
for comparable industrial companies and performance-based incentives which are capable
ol delivering upper quartile rawards for excellent and sustained performance; poor
perfarinance would result in total remuneration below the median. A high proportion
of the total remuneration will be awarded through performance-related elements, with
phased delivery over the shorl, medium and long term. Ferfurmance measures will be
balanced between absolute financial measures and peer group comparalive measures
10 achizve better alignment between executive director and sharetiolder objectives and
o feinforce BPRS focus on creating shareholder value in a period of heavy capital expansion.
short and mediurm term incentives are provided through an annual bonus scheme with
opporturity for partial deferral into GPB shares; other medium term and alt long term
incentives are delivered in the form of options over. or performance-related awards of
BER shares. Executive ditectors are required to comply with share ownership guidelines.
Rermuneration arrangements and performance fargels are reviewed on a reqular basis
lo achieve these strateqic objectives, the targets being designed fo remain stretching in
the light of on-going forecasts.

The Commmittee strives ta ensure that the remuneration policy provides a streng and
demonstratle link belween incentives and the group’s strateqy, and sets a performance-
biased framewark for remuneration which is consistent with the groups scate, which
motivales its growing infemnational spread of managers and which enables execulives
% share in the fong term success of the group, without delivering excessive benefils.

As a result of this year's review, the Committee has concluded that the existing pelicy
continues 1o serve the comipany and shareholders well and will remain in place for 2005 /06,
The Committee has reviewed the current trends and best practice in performance targets
andl s satisfied that the structure and level of BPES existing earnings per share (EPS) and
1otal shareholler return (TSR} perfarmance conditions remain sufficiently challenging
and appropriate for grants Lo be made under the senior executive share option scheme
and perfermance share plan during 2005/06. 1t also considers it appropriate to continue
o inclue a demanding returm on investment (ROW target in the matrix of measures wyhich
determine annual honuses.

ELEMENTS OF REMUNERATION FOR EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR EXECUTIVES

The principal components of remunesation for executive directors and senior executives
are base satary and henefits in kind, annual bonus opportunity, medivm/long lerm <hare-
based incentives and pension benefits; these are explained further below.

« Base salary and benefits in kind ae generally reviewed with effect from 1 April each
year. Base salary is set within a range around the market median for comparable
industrial companies to reflect the size and nature of the job, individual performance
and experence, comparalor group relativities, BB’ performance and the policies
adopled for ather groups of staff within the company. Benefits include a cormpany <ar
of equivalent cash allowance, health insurance anc, where appropriate, relocation
assistance, allin line with entitiernents provided lor executives in similar positions in
comparable industrial companies.




Annual bonus apportunity based upon speafic and challenging targets which are
ohjective and measurable, sel at the start of each financial year and weighted 1o
reflect each participani's role withins the group; the Comimittee may, in exceptional
crcumstances, also award discretionary bonuses, but no such awards have beeu
made in the last five yvears.

The annual bonus opporunity comprises up o fve discrele elements: a business uind
cormponant, a gioup of key perfonmance indicatars (KF1, a corporate EPS component,
an ROl measure and personal objeclives, Payrments for business performance are related
1o relevant operational results (primarily cperating profit, with awards 1iiade in return
for achievernent ahtve larget. The key performanse indicators imeasure perfoimance
1elated 1o factors such as safety improvernent, cos! reduction and the imygleimentation
of world class manufacturing and other group change initiatives, with payments being
made for achievernent of stretching targets, The corporate EPS component (the largest
single element of banus) is geared Lo group underlying eamings per share, with bonuses
anly being generated above a demanding treshold level The ROl measure rewards
performance related to the creation of long-term shareholder value, with payments
being made for achievernen: ahove stretching largets; in future, these will contain
relative as well as absclute perfarmance measures. An element of each director’s
maximun entitlernent is measured against dearly defined peisonal objeclives
oriertated towards specific actions or projecls.

While the mix of kPl and persenal lamgets will depend on the individual responsibilities
and job function of each director, anly those with direct responsibility for operating
companies {Jean-Plerre Clavel, Mark Higson and Paul Withers) have a business unit
component {representing between 5 and 20 percentage points of polential bonus):
all directors have ERS and RO corporate compenents (representing in aggregate
hetween 60 and 80 percentage points of potential bonus), and KPI/personal components
{representing between 10 and 20 percentage points of potential bonus). Specific targets
are not disclosed as they would give a dlear indication of the group’s business targets,
which are commercially sersitive.

Bonuses (which are all payable in cash but which may in part be deferred into BPB
shares) are disclosed for the year in which they are eamed although they are nol due
and payabie untl the foflowing june, and they are not pensionable. The maximum
performance-related bonus targets, achievabla onty by full participation in the deferred
share bonus plan, are 90% of base salary for executive directors and 100% for the chief
executive, with generally fower limits being applicable to other seniof executives.

For the achieverment of target performance, 45% of maximum entitlement is payable
for mosl components of bonus

Executive directors and eligible senior executives are now able 10 participate in

a deferred share boenus plan whereby 2ach year one half of their actuat cash bonus
earned can be deferred and invested in the company's shares to be held by an employee
share trust. Provided the executive remains in employment the shares will normaly
be released after three years, assisting the accumulation of greater long-term
shareholdings by participants. For those executives who opt not to participate in this
plan the cash bonus availabie will be reduced by half the value of the deferred share
right foregone, with the result that the total cash bonus paid will be 25% lower

Imitial awards under the deferred share bonus plan will be granted atound Jure/July
2005 when bonuses for 2004,/05 will be payable. Assuming full participation in the
plan, bonuses actually eamed by executive directors in 2004,/05 will have averaged
89.80n compared with 76.9% in the previous year including the value of bonus
matching awards made undar the former share rnatching plan. With no deferral inlo
shares the average bonus eamned will be 67.34 (2004 55.5% exchuding the grant of
matching awards). These payments reflect the significant irnprovement in results
achieved by the group over the last two years.

Share matching plan alfecations were awarded for the last time in July 2004 (when
bonuses eamed in 2003704 were paid) under a BPB plan whereby eligible directors
and selected senior executives were invited to invest up Lo half of their actual cash bonus
{net of deductions) in the company’s shares. In return, participants were granted
amatching award over a number of shares equal in valug to the amaunt of bonus
invested {before deductions). Pravided the executive remains in emplayment, the
ratching awards are normally exercisable after 1hree years, but only if the shares
purchased with the bonus have not been sold.

.

It this way each executive was invilad 1o corniit part of [vs camed perfonmance-tested
bonus for a three year pesiod in retum for additional shares in the gioups. Yesting of the
matching award will (unless il amounts o less than 20% of base salary when granted)
depend upon BPB'S TSR performance. As each outstanding award was helew this
threshold when granted, the vesting of such awards is not dependent upon the
achievernent of the performance concition, although the bonus payments o wiich
the awards had been based had themselves already been performance tested,

Fellowing the introducton of the deferred share bonus plan, the share matching plan
has been withdrawn and no new aweards will be made under it

Performance share plan awards operate in conjunclion with the seiior execdtive shive
oplion scheme (see below). tnder the plan, awards are granted to executive directors
and selected senior execulives over company shares worth up to a maxirmuim of one
times hase salary each vear, although proportionally higher grants may be made where
an executive agrees to salisfy the employer’s National Insurance Contribution liability
arising when awards vest. Vesting of the awards will be subject to the achieverment
of deranding performance criteria, with 50% of each award being subject lo BPES
relative T5& performance and the remaining 50% being subject o BPBS actual EPS
performance. Taking performance share awards and share options together, the overall
weighting of performance criteria will effectively be 75% EPS and 25%: TSR A fixed
three-yeat performance period will apply 1o all performance share awards, with

no retesting.

Under the TR perlormance condition, which measures the change in value of a share
and reinvested dividends over the pefiod of imeasurement, BPB's perfurmance will be
compared 1o 3 bespoke comparalos group of 20 UK and international quoted construction
and bullding materials companies, with no vesting below median TSK, 25% of this
portion of the award (12.5% of the total) vesting lor median pertormance and full
vesting (50% of the total) for upper quartile performance; a shiding scale of vesting
will be applied for performance between median and upper quartile performance.
Measuring the company’s performance against e comparator companies recognises
the importance to shareholders that the company should outperform its peers and
seeks lo align executives’ interests wilh those of shareholders. She preparation

and calculation of such comparison will be determined by the Comimittee with the
assistance of independent remuneralion consultants.

The comnposition of the comparator group is reviewed annually by the commiiltee,
The cusrent group of comparator companies (applicable for awards in 2005)
comprises:

Boral Ltd Cemex Sade (¥
Compagnie de Saint Gobain SA CRH plc

(SR Ld Fagle Materials inc

Florida Rack industries Inc Hanson plt
HeidelbergCement AG Holcim Lid

Italcermnenti SpA James Hardie tndustries Lid
Kingspan Group plc Lafarge SA

tartin Marietta Materials Inc Pilkington plc

Rinker Group Lid Societe Ciments Francais SA
Vulcan Malerials Company wienerberger AG

The EPS perfarmance condition requires substantial impravemnent in the uaderlying
financial performance of the company before awards vest; 25% of this portion of the
award will vest for achievernent of EPS growth of UK RFI plus an annual average of

3 percentage points during the performance period, rising to full vesting for achieverment
of UK RP1 growh plus § percentage points per annum, with a sliding scate of vesting
Leinig applied between these perforinance levels. These largets will be reviewed
annually by the Committee to ensure that they remain demanding for fulure award
grants. In the event of a change of control, awards will normally vest on a pro-rata
basis by reference to the length of time since the award was granted, and enly if the
performance conditions can effectively be regarded as having been satisfied at that
time. The EPS figure for both the performance share plan and senior execulive share
opticn scheme {see below) is determined in accordance with FR314 adjusted te exdlude
qoodhwill amortisation and exceptional items as disclosed in the group’s annual accounts
for the relevant period. With the advent of reporting under mtemational Financial
Reporting Standards {IFRSY it is anticipaled that, for the purposes of comparison,
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lie Committee will 10 futwre agree an approach for re-stating future (IFRS) EPS figuies
uncker the cument (UK GAAPY approach

Where performance share awards are granted in any year this will reduce the capac ty
1o grant oplions to an execulive under the company’s senior execulive share oplion
scherme within that schemies effective annual imit of from 2005, teo times base salary
{previously two limes earings). The aggregation of e value of performaince share
and option awands in tis way wil mean that the meinuim it on share based Avarels
avallable in any year rom 2005 will he two times baze salary; for this purpose, one
performance share wil be valuad as equivalent to two shares under option.

Share aption allocations under the company’s various equily paiticipation schermes.
BPL palicy for new option grants made L execulive dieclons and senior execulives
after 2004 is generally to grant options over shares under the senior executive scheme
approved by shareholders :n 2001 {the 2001 plan) with a value up 1o two times hase
saany in army year (previously b tmes carmings}, although grants of oplions in excess of
this Fmit may be made where the executive agrees 16 salisly the ermnployer’s National
nsurance Contribution liability arising on the exercise of options, or if the Comimitiee
and Goard decide that this is justified in the circumstances of recruitment, or in other
exceptional cicumslances. While the Cominilee befeves that the individual annual limit
of twa times hase salary is aporopriate aind in line vath market praclice, only the most
senior participants in the 2001 plan are likely to receive awards at this level, with
other senior executives receiving lower fevels of grant commensurate wilh seniority
and perfarmance.

Exercise of all optiens will be subject to the achieveinent of a performance condition.
To focus executive directors on generating real eainings growth, BPES eamings per
share (EPS) must grow by at least an annual average of 3 percentage points over the
growth in the UX kP for a period of at least three years measured from a fixed base
beginning at the end of the financial year last precading the date of grant, and any
grants with a value greater than one Limes salary 1 A year, in respect of lhe excess,
require EPS growth to exceed the UK RPI by at least an annual average of & percentage
points over the same pericd (previously 4 percentage peints over the same period)
for full vesting. A sliding scale of vesting between these furdles applies for the higher
levels of grant. For grants made in 2004 there is one retesting opportunily at the end of
year four, while from 2005 onwards here will be no retesting of new grants made to
executive directors and senicr execulives, so if the performance condition is not met after
the three year period, the option willlapse. In the event of a change of control, options
will normally vest an a pro-rata basis, by reference to the length of time since the opion
was granted and only if the performance conditions can effectively be regarded as having
been satisfied at that time. The 2001 plan also affords beneficial tax and social security
charge treatment for share options granted to particpants who are resident in Frarce,
indluding Jean-Pierre Clavel, provided certain criteria are met as to the setting of the
price at which options are granted and the exercise period during which such options
are exeicisable {normally only exercisable fromn the fourth anniversary of the date

of grant}.

Executive directors are eligible to participate in the company’s SAYE scheme, which is
open 1o all UK employzes with at teast one year's service. It permits the grant of options
0 acquire ordinary shares in the company (&t a discount of up to 204 of the share price
at the time of invitation} and is finked! to a bank save-as-you-earn contract, with

a maximum savings limit of £250 per month.

Executive directors are also efigible to participate in the BPB UK employee share
ownership plan. This is an infand Revenue approved plan and is open to all UK employees
with at least 18 months’ service. The plan permits the purchase of existing BPB shares
from pre-tax salary on a monthly basis at prevailing market prices, subject to 3 maximum
of £125 per menth.

The company compies with the ABI/NAPF dilution [milts restricting the number of new
shares which can be issued in pursuance of awards (ranted under alt of the company’s
employee share schemnes in a 10-vear period 1o 10" of the company’s ordinary share
capital in issue from lime to time, and with the 5t in 10 years limit for discretionary
schemes; as al the year end, the amount utilised was 5.9% for the former and 3.3%
for the latter (2004 5.9% and 3. T4 respectively).
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- Share ownership guidelines o better align exccutive director interests v th those of
shareholders were intiodhuced for executive directors it 2604, The guidelines require
each executive director W build up and inaintain a holding inshares of the company
to the value of one trmes base salary. Executive directors have fve years (rom the date
of their appointment to build and maintain thes level of shareholding, of, if later, twio
vears from 1 April 2064, The value of a holding is based essentially on the cust of the
shares 1o 1he director on the date they are aceuired, and not their market vilue at any
given pointin tirme.

Pepsion provision lor drectons (exceptin the case of Jean-pierre Clavel - see note {wi}
on page 44) of up to two-thirds of their final year's base salary at the normal relirement
age of 60 (less than two-thinds where service 10 age 601 is below 20 years) under the
B3P senior execulive pension scheme, a tax approved, defined benefil, lunded scherme,
subject to an independant trust under which contribut ons are payable by the company
Directors may retire and diaw their pensions earier than age 60, ¥ which case the
pension payahle will be reduced by up 1o 4%, dependent on the crcumstances of their
reliresnent, for each year early. Gn death before retirement a lurmp suim of four times
the annual rate of hase salary is provided together with a spouses/financial dependants”
pension of two-thirds of the director’s prospective persicn al age 60; a pension of
two-thirds of the director’s pre-comimutation pension is payable on death after
retierment. Chitd allowances of up te ane-third of the director’s prospective or actual
pension at age 60 are payable on death both belore and after relirement. Onee in
payment, pensions are guaranteed lo increase in fine with inflatiun up o a maximum
of 5% per annum {or higher if the Board agrees).

For executive directors who entered service after 31 pay 1989, the benefils which can
be provided under the BPB senior executive pension scheme are restricted by the
gperation of the Infand Revenue eamings cap. Such execulive direclors receive an
additional unfunded pension entitlement from the company on an equivalant basis
to compensale for the shortfall.

The detaiis of future pension arangements for UK executives remain under review in
fight of the Governmient's proposals for simplification of the pension tax regime with
effect fram April 2006. While the Committee will seek as far as possible to maintain
the existing pensions pramise, it has, however, decided that BPBS poficy decisions wil
be macde within a framawork built around the principles of broad cost neutrality to the
company, no cempansation for extra parsonal taxation and relative simplicity, durbility
and flexibility.

OTHER REMUNERATION MATTERS

Service agreements

Nolwithstanding the possible necessity to offer a longer initial period immediately
following appointment, new executive directors wil be employad on a contract that can
be terminated by the company on giving one year's notice, with the director required to
give not less than six months’ notice of termination. The contracts of Richard ousins,
Mark Higsen, Paul withers, Paul Hollngworth and Bob Heard are all terrminable by the
company on ong year’s notice. These were granted to the first three on 31 March 2001,
Paul Hollingworth on 1 July 2002 and Bob Heard on 1 June 1995.

As miany of Jean-Fierre Clavel's operaticnal duties, and his pension rights and tax residency,
tie tn or are based on his location in France, he has retained the French-based contract
of employment granted on 6 Aprit 1959 he held irmediately prior 1o his appointment
as an executive director in May 2000, which entitles him o receive six months’ notice
frorr the company plus 12 menths’ severance entitlermnent under French law determined
by his length of service, Under French law an acdiional payment would also be required]
if the company wished to enforce a nen-competition provision in his contract following
termination. He also has a collateral employrment agreement dated 22 fay 2000 in
resoect of his appointiment as a parent company direclor which is coterminous with his
French agreement but also capabie of termination in its own right on six months’ notice.
Ye is requirad to give not less 1han six months” nolice of terrmination under both agreements.

The Committee continues to believe that in the event of early termination it is better 10
consider the specific circurmnstances of each case, including where appropriate phased
payment of compensation over a fixed period or until the executive director finds a new
position, if eariier, and mitigation of payment of cempenisation through providing 3 legal
obligation on the part of the vutgoing executive director 10 seek new employinent,
rather than explicitly provide for compensation commitments in service contracts.




The: Comrittee will continue t rronitar the appropriateness of these pokcies in the light
of market practice 1o ensure that they allow the company to attract and refain execunive
ddrectors of the right calibre.

Policy on external appeintments

Although there are none at present, the Committee believes thal te company an benefil
irom executive directors holding ene approved non-group directorship, offering directors
e opportunity to broaden thair experience and knowledge. Company poficy 1s 10 allow
directors o retain fees paid from any such appointment. Executive direclors are not
permitted 10 take on (he chairmanship of a FTSE 100 companty.

Non-executive directors

Non-executive directors are normally appointed for an mital period of hree years;
re-appointment is not auternatic, they do not have service contracts with the company
and they receive no benefits other than their fees, the 1ate of which s £35,000 per annur,
No additional fees are paid to rellect time spent working on Board commitiees,

since his appoitment as group dhairman on 27 July 2004, Sir lan Gibson fias received
sermuneration at he rate of €155,000 per anmun o addition to fis nun-executive direcion
tees, prior to that date he had received remuneration al the rate of £57,000 per annum i
addition to his non-executive lees 1 his rale as deputy chairman. From his apporntiment
10 the role on 21 uly 2004, the senior independent director, Frans Leibenfrost, has receivesd
additional remuneration of £5,000 per annum.

The chairmen of the audit commitlee, the remuneraton commitiee, the safety, ethics &
environment committee and the nomination & management development comimitieg
each receive addilional semunesation; this is payabile at the rate of £10,000 per annuim
for the Frst commillee, £7,500 per annum for the secend committee and £5,000 per
annum for e other twio, the varying rates rellecting the differing burdens of the roles
ol the four respective chairrmen. Until 21 July 2004 the rate of pay for the chairman of
the audit committee was £7,500 per annwim.

REMUNERATION FOR THE YEAR TO 31 MARCH 2005
The total emoluments of the directors for the vear la 31 March 2005 were as shown in
the table below.

2005 2004
Year 1o 31 March Tota! including Total excluding Tatal including Total ext luding
Salary/ Banys Other DSB awards D58 awards SiP pvards SR awards
fees note(i) emoluments note(f) note(i) note(i) notedi}
Girectors” emoluments £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £¢00
Chairman
sir lan Gibson (from 271 July 2004) 160 - - 160 160 83 83
AG Gonmily {lo 21 july 2004) 56 - - 56 56 172 172
Chief executive
RJ Cousins 550 533 22 1,105 972 952 842
Executive directors
1P Clavel 317 2387 13 617 545 462 406
R Heard 220 193 13 426 378 385 349
MV Higson 285 244 14 543 482 474 417
PR Hollingworth 320 274 14 608 539 536 472
PN Withers 290 248 15 553 491 496 438
Non-executive directors
G Acher 44 - - 44 44 38 38
Lady Baifour of Burleigh 40 - - 40 40 39 39
AJ Dougal 35 - - 35 35 23 23
DC Hamill {from 26 January 2005) 6 - - 6 6 - -
E Henkes 40 - - 40 40 23 23
FJ Leibenfrost 44 - - 44 44 38 38
Former directors - - - - 62 62
Total emoluments 2,407 1,779 91 4,277 3,832 3,783 3,394
2004 analysis 2,291 1,007 9%

(i) The individual bonus payments shown above assume fult participation in Juna/July 2005 in the Deferred Share Sonus plan referred te on page 41; the total for the year to 31 March 2005 excluding ary
0SB awards includes alternative cash bonuses 25 lovaer thar those shown, totalling £1,334,000. Totals for the year 1o 33 Morch 2004 have similarly been shown with and without the value of bonus

matching awards imade under the former Share Matching Plan.

(i) Executive salaries were generally increased to align wilh market median benchmarks on 1 Aprl 2004. Sir 1an Gibsen received additional remuneration as deputy chainman prior (o his appaimtment as

chainman on 27 July 2004,

{iiiy Bonus payments reflect the significant improvement ir financial results, high levels of achievement against targets and the revised structure of awards introcuced with sharehelder support fast year,

(1v) The Board has agreed with Aflan Gormly that he will continue to assist the group in dealing with matters arising out of its appeal against the £ fine levied in Novermter 2002 by the European
Commission on BPB and other major competitors in the: furopean plasterboard industry for allegedly allempting to stablise certain FU markats between 1992 and 1998, He will receive a fee far each
day’s consultation services which the company decides to ¢all for in this capacity, with the armount paid being included within the figure for payments made 1o former directors
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Executive Commitlee

The agqregate emoluments for the year (o 31 March 2005 of the three menibers of the execulive cormnillee who are not executve direclors were as shawin in the table below

2005
Including Excluding
Emcluments of additional 058 awards DSB awards SIAP
executive committee members £000 £000
Salaries 648 648 5493 593
Bonus 547 411 443 318
Other etnoluments 34 34 33 33
Total emoluments 1,229 1,092 1,069 944

(3 Salaries tor e yearto 31 fMarcl 2004 did rotinglude the Luit emoarit of
() Sonuses have increasid for the same reasons as explained above for cacutivie direciors,

Pensions

invredses made part way theeagh Hat vearas a consegquence of changes in the group’s managemesnt structure.

The tahle below shews the acciued pension benefits and ransfer vatues for indwicual executive direciors urider he BPB senior executive pension scherne, including fwhere appropriate)
unifunded, unapproved arrangements, jean-Fierre Clavel’s position is explained separately in note {vi} 1o the Lable.

Gross NCIEase
in accried
pension during

‘ptal gcerued pensicn as at

lrease in
Acciued pension Incizese
during the: vear Transfer value of tatal ir ffansfer value
net of inflalion Accrued pansion as ot for the year 1o

Executive directors’ Age L T April 2404 31 March 2005 the year of 3.7% 1 Ageit 2004 31 #arch 2005 31 March 2005
pension benefits 31 parch 2605 £ £ £ £ £ £ f
R] Cousing A6 157,895 186,550 28,655 23,760 1,593,472 1,991,111 397,639
RM Heard 52 109,060 119,187 10,127 6,746 1,535,663 1,767,628 231,965
MY Higson 18 93,721 110,038 16,317 13,4711 1,090,294 1,353,761 263,467
PR Hollingworth 44 17,033 29,333 12,300 1,772 162,951 296,832 133,881
PN Withers 48 108,377 123,125 14,748 11,388 1,256,385 1,509,532 253,147

(v Ttal accrued pensions are those which would be paid anr ually on retirement at normal retirement age based on service at 37 March 2005.

{ii

Transfer values have been calculated on the basis of actuarial advice in accoidance with actuarial quidance note GN11. They repwesent a liability of the: pensien scheme o the exient they are funded

and atherwise they are a liability of the company, rather tH-an any resnuneration due lo the executive director, and cannal meanirgluliy be aggregated with annuaf remuneration, and do not represent
money the executive director ss entitled o receive. Transfzr vatues increased during the year primarily because of the accral of one year’s additional benefit and the ageing of directors.

{iii} No contributions vere made to the pension scheme by diectors during the year.

(iv) The accumulated unfunded pension provision as at 31 Maich 2005 15 £8,757,000 (2004 £7,656,000)including provision in respect of three (2004 tiree) former directors; payments are disclosed
as pensions paid to past directors when they are made. During the year £302,808 was paid in respect af three former directors (2004 F294,560 for thive former directors).
{v) With the exception of Jean-Pietre Clavel (see note (vi) below), the cantributions paid by the company on the basis of the full service cost, as advised by the actuaries, far the funded entitlements

explained in the peasion provision section set out on page 42 was 356 of salary.

{vi) Jean-Pierre Clavel (age 57 at 31 Maich 2005) is a memmbes of the French complementary pension schemes (known as ARRCQ and AGIRD) for his French eamings, to which the group contributed
£30,317 10 2004/05 {2003/04 £20.689). He is alsa entitle d 1o an unfunded, tap-up cash balance plan fioi the company which aims 1o provide 13.5% of tinal salary at age 60 or 22% at age 65.
Wwhen aggregated with his estimated State pension, this is targeted to provide a pension of 40% of final salary al age &0 or 52% 4t age 65 N death afler age 60 a spouse’s pension of twa-hirds
of his entitlement urder the plan at that time would be provided. No pension benefits are payable frarm the plan if he decides to leave the company befare reaching age 60. For that part of his basic

salary paid i the UK {£35,000 in 2004/05), no pension is being accrued.

ordinary shares and share matching awards

The interests of the directors who held office on 31 March 2005 in the company’s ordinary
shares (including shares acquired during the year under the UK employee share ownership
plan) as at that date and 1 Aprit 2004 (or their date of appointment, if later), together with
movements in the matched shares awarded under the share maiching plan, were as
shown in the Lable on page 45.

ro changes in those interests occursed in the peried belween 1 Aprit 2005 and 4 May
2005, except for manthly purchases of shares under the company’s UK employee share
ownership plan which resulte in Richard Cousins, Bub Heard, Mark Higson and Paul Withers
acquiring 26 shares and Paul Hollingworth acquiring 25 shares during that period.

All of those interests were held beneficially. During the year none of the directors had any
interest in the company’s 6 5% eura denominated bonds due 2070
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Executive directors were entitled to participate in the company's share matching plan, under
which they purchased for cash during the year 3 total of 53,380 shares in their own names
al 399.5p per share. Directors were then granted matched awards far a nil consideration
over atotal of 97,227 shares which are held by the BPB Employee Trust and which are
normally accessible only from & July 2007,

At the year end, directors hetd matched shares awarded under the share matching plan
over a tolal of 263,234 shares {2004 192,536) which are normally exercisable between
the third and seventh anniversaries of the date of grant, The execulive directars, as
potential beneficiaries of the BPE Employee Trust, are also deemed to have an nterest
inall 513,006 BPB ordinary shares held by the Trust at 31 March 2005 {2004 467,443}
similarly, they are also deemed to have an interest in all 5,188 ordinary shares held by
the BP3 QUEST {see note 24 on page 62) at 31 March 2005 (2004 614,332).




1 Aprl 204"

31 March 2005

Directors” interests Shre share
in ardinary shares and raatching Share matcRing aviaid Inoverenls matching
share matching awards Hanes cwvards Grarted Exgrcised Papset gwards Shares
G Acher 5,000 - - - - 5,000
Ladly Balfour of Burleigh 3,400 - - - - - 3,840
J-p Clavel 249,448 23,445 13,926 12,118 - 25,254 42,255
K| Cousins 78977 64,672 27,517 4677 - 87,512 111,259
A Dougal 5,000 - - - - - 5,000
Sir lan Ghsun 26,370 - - - - - 51,369
DC Hamill {from 26 January 2005) - - - - 1,000
R4 Heard 57,989 27,225 11,006 2,763 - 35,468 66,471
E Henkes - - - - - - -
MY Higson 26,480 32,616 14,259 3,754 - 43,121 48,011
PR Hollingworth 27,548 12,843 16,010 - - 28,893 37,118
F| Leibenfrost 5,000 - - - - - 5,000
PN Withers 110,192 31,694 14,509 3,217 - 42,986 128,026
373,404 192,530 97227 20,529 - 263,234 504,349

“or date of appointment, if tater

(i1 Share ratching awards veere giaried dunng the year cn 8 july 2004 when (he tarket price was 399.5p; they normally become exercisable betveeen the tird and seyenth anniversary from that date
i) The aggregate pre-tax gain invalue on the exercise by executive dieclars of matched awards during the year was £116,018 (2004 £87,563) Jean-Plerre Cavel exertised an award over 4,661 shares
and e reraaining direclors exercised awards as shover in the table alove all at ¢ market price on the daie of exercise of 404.5p per share, such awardls having been granted on 5 july 2007 (when the

prevailing market price was 260p) and which had first becorne exercisable on 5 July 2004 twhen the prevailing market price was 406.5p). 1n addition, jean-Fe

Clavel exercised an award over £,d57

shares al a market price on the date of exercise af 571, 3p; this had been granted on 10 July 2600 and had first become exercisable on 10 July 2003, when the prevailing market prices were 300 dnd
331 respectively. Apart from sales ol some shares 1o Ineel associated tax and nationat insurance liabilities, all shares acquired on the exercise ol these awards were refained by each director
{iiiy At the year end, executive directors hedd an average of 72,190 shares, an increase of almost 32% on the 54,772 shaies they held an 1 April 2004

Share options

Executive directors are entitled to participate in the company’s SAYE and senior executive
share eplion schemes, and the interests of those who held office 6n 31 fharch 2005 are
set out it the table below; details of the total number of opticns granted and shares
outstanding under these schemes are given innote 24 on page 62.

During the year, executive share options over 763,500 shares at an eplion price of 412p
per share were granted 1o executive directors under the 2007 plan as set outin the table
Below. All of these options were unapproved options and (apart from jean-pierre Clavels,
which was granted under the France scheduie of the plan) include a propoitionate

allowance of approximately 138 of the nuimber of shares under option to compensale
directors for assuming the cormpany’s National insurance Contsibution liability on the gain
arising on the exercise of eact option. Excluding that allowance, no option exceeded two
times any director’s earnings. No SAYE share options were granted 1o executive directors
during the year.

After allowing for the exercise of oplions during the year as selout below; at the year end
directars held options over a total of 33,551 shares under the SAYE scheme and 3,785,200
shares undes the senior executive share option schemes.

Farliest date

from which Latest
Directors’ interests Opticn movements any oplion is EXpify
in share options 1 Apdil 2004 Granted Exercised {apsed 31 March 2005 exercisable date
J-P Clavel 583,100 75,200 58,200 - 600,100 29 June 2003 1July 2014
R Cousins 1,542,410 232,600 662,800 - 1,112,210 1 Aug 2004 1july 2014
RM Heard 598,333 92,600 235,300 - 455,633 5 july 2005 1July 2014
MY Higson 817,036 114,500 358,400 - 573,136 15 July 2002 1July 2014
PR Hollingworth 396,436 129,900 - - 526,336 5 July 2005 1July 2014
PN withers 707,236 118,700 274,600 - 551,336 5 July 2005 13uly 2014

4,614,551 763,500 1,589,300 - 3,818,751

(i) Options cver shares granted under the SAYE scheme are normally exescisable for six manths alter the third or fith anniversary of the commencement of the related savings contract,
iy Onptions over shares granted under the senior executive share cption schermes are noimally exercisable between the hird and tenth anniversaries of the date of grant, apart fram options granted in
1997 which are normally exercisable between the third and seventh anniversary and options granted under the France schedule of the 2001 plan, which are nommally exercisable between the fourth

and tenth anniversaries of the date of grant.

(i

All senior execulive share cptions are subject 1o the achievemert of a performance condition, which may impact the earliest date from which an cption is exercisable.

(iv) Seniar executive share options were exercised over 3 number of shares during the year as lollows: Jean-Pierre Cavel - 58,200 shares at an option price of 395p and a market price on date of exercise
of 490.7p; Richard Cousins - 351,900 shares at 256p, £.300 at 333p, 35,400 at 395p and 767,200 al 348p were all exercised at a market price of 447p; Bol Heard - 67,400 shares at 348p and 7,200
al 333p were exerdised at a market price of 400p, and 10,100 shares al 395p and 150,600 at 256p were exeicised af a markel price of 447p; Nark Higsor - 35,200 shares at 327p were exercised at
a market price of 403p, and 172,800 shares at 256p, 20,600 ot 333p and 129,800 at 348p were exercised al a market price of 447p; Paul Withers - 96,500 shares and 76,400 at 256) were exercised
at a market price of 447p and 470p respectively, and £,400 shares al 333p, 73,100 at 348p and 70,200 at 395p were exercised at a market price of 54(p.

{v} The aggregate gain in value on the exercise of such options, betore tax and emplovees national insurance (but after allowing £209,680 in respact of employer's naticnal insurance liability met by

execlive difectors exercising those options) was £2,137,744 (2004 £108.452).
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE'S REPORT

The weijhted average prices uf drectors” share oplions, together with the: pre-tax gainin valug of those wiich could have been exercised (o produce a surptus at the year end share

price of 496 5p, were as shown below.

Pre-lax gain
in value (note(i})
of exercisable

Wrinited sverage optic phoes (1 e options at
Directors’ share Fyisfisallee 31 March 2005
options cutstanding muher Fiues rurriber £
P Clavel 50,100 348 5AS,000 313 81,824
RJ Codsins 2,300 2h0 T, 10844810 335 5,532
RiA Heard - - 455,633 334 -
MV Higson 22,400 395 550,736 335 22,736
PR Hollingworih - - 520,330 337 -
P Withers - - 551,336 336 -

(i There is ni company National lnsurance ContiEbutica liabitity due on any of the ¢
(i) Executive share options granted since

The market value of the company’s shares dusing the yearwas in the range 345010 543 5p
pef share.

The register of directors’ interests, whicl is open tu inspection, contains full details of
direclors’ shareholdings, share options, share ownetship plan holdings, share matching
awards and performance share awards.

Performance share plan

Executive directors and senior executives are entitled 1o participate in the company’s
performance shiare plan, which was approved by shareliokders al the 2604 annual general
meeting. initial awards under this plan utilised shares acquired at a price of 407 3p and
were granled for il consideration on 30 July 2004, when the prevailing markel price was
393.3p; these awards will vest on 30 jJuly 2007 to the extent that the performance conditions
sel out on page 41 are satisfied. The interests of executive directors who held office on
31 March 2005 are set out below.

reisable aptions.
a0 may only be cxercised of they reeet the peeformance conchtions set cut on page 42; those granted i
BPB's earnings pes share exteeds e growd i e UK Retail Prices Index by of ioest 6 pecentage points cyer any thiee year pericd folloveing ear!

Directors’ interests in 1 Aprl Award movements 31 March
perfarmance share awards 2004 Granled Vested Lapsed 2005
J-P Clavel - 38051 - - 38,054
R} Cousins - 0317 - - 102,317
R Heard - 10,736 - - 40,736
MV Higson - 50395 - - 50,395
PR Hollingworth - 57171 - - 5717
PN Withers - 52,229 - ~ 527229

- 340907 - - 340,902

Audited information

The information in this report which has been audited is included in the tables and related
notes entitled direclors” emoluments, executive directors’ pension benefits, directors’
interests inordinary shares and share matching awards, directors” interests in share options,
directors’ share options outstanding and directors” interests in performance share awards.

¢ that dlate may only be exercised iF the mqroveth in
it cate of grant.

Perfarmance graph

In accordance wilh the Regulations, the graph Lielow shows the total shareholder retum
performance of the company and that of the FTSE 350 Construction & Building Materials
index aver the five year period lo 31 March 2005; although BPB underperlormed the
index by 16% in that period it outperformed the index by 15% during the year to

31 parch 2005, This index has been selecled as itis a broad equity index of which 8PB
is a constituent rmember.

Total shareholder return
Indexed change in year end share price plus dividend
source - Thomson Financiat

00 01 02 03 04 05

®EPB
WFTSE 350 Construction & Building Materials index

On behalf cf the Board

E Henkes Cu R R W
Chairman of the Rernyneration Committee -—

18 May 2005
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are required Ly company law Lo prepar2 financial statements which give
atrue and fair view of the state of aflairs of the cormpany and the group as at the end
of each financal year and of the profit or lass of the group for that period, They are alse
responsitile for maitaining proper accounting secoick, for safeguarding the assets of the
group and for preventing and detecting faud and othes inregularities.

In preparing these financial stalements un a going congen basis, the directors have ensured
thal appropriate accounting policies have heen used and been applied consistently, thal
applicable accounting standards have been fullowed and that reasonable and prudent
judgements have been made.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 8PB PLC

we have audited the group’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2005 which
comprise the group profit and loss account, balance sheets, group cash flove staternent,
group statement of total recognised gains and losses and the related notes 1 1o 30. These
financial stalements have been prepared on the bas s of the accounting policies set out
thereir, We have also audited the information in the remuneration committee report that
is described as having been audited.

This report is made solely to the companys membets, as a body, in accordance with
Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit work has been undertaken so that
we might state o the corpany’s members those malters we are required o stale lo
thern in an auditors’ report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by
law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and
the company’s mefmbers as 3 bady, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions
we have formed.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND AUOTORS

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual reporl, including the financial
statements which are required to he prepared in accordance with applicable United Kingdom
law and accounting standards as set out in the staternent of directors’ responsibilities above.
The directors are also responsible for preparing the remuneration commitiee report.

0Our responsibifity is to aucdit the financial statements and the part of the reimuneration
committee report 1o be audited in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory
requirements, United Kingdom Auditing Standards and the listing rules of the Financial
Services Authority.

We report {0 you cur opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair
view and whether the financial statements and the part of the rermuneration cornmitiee
report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
1985. We also report to you if, in our opinion, the directors’ report is not consislent with
the financial statements, if the cornpany has not kept proper accounting records, if we have
nat received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if infermation
specified by law or the listing rules regarding directors’ remuneration and transactions with
the group is not disclosed.

wWe review whether the corporate governance statement reflects the group’s compliance
with the nine provisions of the 2003 FRC Combined Code specifiedt for our review by the
listing rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not. We are not
required to consider whether the Board's statements on internal centrel cover all risks and
controls, o form an opinion on the effectiveness of the group’s corporate governance
procedures or its risk and control procedures.

we read other information contained in the annual report and consider whether it is
consistent with the audited Fnanciat statements. This other information comprises the
directors” report, unaudited part of the remuneralion committee report, chairman's
statement, chief executive’s review, operating and financial reviews, corporate responsibity
statement, corporate qovernance staternent, the financiat highlighls and five year statisticat
sumimary, We consider the implications for our repan if we become aware of any apparent
misstatements or material incensistencies with the financial statements. Our responsibilities
do not extend o any other information.

BASIS OF AUDIT OPINION

we conducted our audit in accordance with United Kingdorm Auditing Standards issued by
the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a lesl basis, of evidence
relevant to the amounts and disclasures in the financial statements and the part of the
refnuneration committee report 1o be audited. it also includes an assessment of the
significant estimates and judgements made by the directors in the preparation of the
financial slaternents, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate (¢ the group’s
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disciosed.

we planned and performed our audit so a5 to obtain all the information and explanations
which we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give
reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the part of the remuneration
commiltee report 1o he audited are free from material misstalement, whether caused by
fraud or other irregularity or error In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall
adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements and the part of
the remuneration comrmittee repart [ be audited,

OPINION
inour opinion:

« the financial statements give a true and fair view of the stale of affairs of the company
and of the group as at 31 March 2005 and of the prefit of the group for the year to that
date; and

+ the financial statements and the part of the remuneration committee report to be
audited have heen properly prepared in accordance with the Companies ACt 1985
Ernst & Young LLP
Registerad Auditor & o
y Ly .
London 18 May 2005 s t k ( d L LP
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GROUP PRCHIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

2005 (e
Year 1o 31 March m
TURMOVER
Group aned share of joint ventures and assotiates 2,3735 2,2201
Less: share of joint ventures’ turmover (26.4) (22.5)
share of associates’ Wrnover (30.3) (26.3)
GROUP TURMNOVER 3 2,316.8 217038
Cust of sales 4 {1,516.4) (1.1515)
GRASS PROFIT 300.4 7193
Met uperaling expenses 4 {528.0) {5169}
OPERATING PROFIT
On-going helore exceptional items 291.8 2312
Exceptional items - on-going operations: Aberdeen closure (osts 8 (34.0} -
Canachian pension refured 8 14.6 -
Purfleet dosure costs 3 - {28.3)
Group operaling profit 3 2724 202.4
share of operating prefit 'n:
Joint ventures 24 1.7
Associates 54 40
Non-operating exceptional items:
Disposals of fixed assets 8 8.8 A0
Sale and terminalion of operations 3 (1.9) 3
PROFIT OiN ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE INTEREST 287.1 2124
Nel inlerest payable Y (28.4) (32.1)
PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAX 2587 180.3
Tax on profit on ofdinary activities 10 (74.5) (63.0)
Profit on ordinary activities after tax 184.2 1173
Mingrity interests (1.9) (2.3)
PROFT ATTRIBUTABLE TO BPB PLC 1823 115.0
Dividends 1 (80.0) (70.4)
RETAINED PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 102.3 446
BASIC EARMNINGS PER SHARE 12 35.7p 23.4p
Diluted earnings per share 12 36.4p 23.3p
DIVIDENDS PER SHARE Ik 16.00p 14.25p
UNDERLYING RESULTS
Belore goodwill amortisation of £16.3 million (2004 £ 18.0 millior), exceplionat operating ilems 13
- Aberdeen closure costs of £34.0 million (2004 £nify, Canadian pension refund of £14.6 million (2004 £nif) and Purfleet
closure costs of £nil {2004 £28 8 mitlion) - and net non-operating income of £6.9 million (2004 £4.3 rrufiion) 8
PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAX (£rm) 2875 2228
EARNINGS PER SHARE 12 39.1p 30.5p
GROUP STATEMENT OF TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES
2004
2005 Re stated
YEAR TO 31 MARCH £m im
PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO BPB PLC 1823 11549
Currency translation differences 25 19.6 (393}
TOTAL RECOGNISED GAINS AND LOSSES FOR THE YEAR 25 2019 759
Prior year adjustment 1 0.7
202.6

Moveiments in reserves are shown in note 25
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Goup {ompany
2004 2004
2005 Re-stated 2005 Re-stated
As at 31 March Note £ fm £m £m
FIXED ASSETS
Intangible assets 13 2709 261.7 - -
Tangible assets 14 1,150.6 1,099.6 - -
Investments in joint ventures: 15
Share of gross assets 26.5 22,1 ~ -
share of gross liabilities {18.0) (14.2) - -
8.5 79 - -
Investments in associates 15 255 214 - -
Cther investments 15 1.0 09 1,060.0 1,059.9
1,456.5 1,3915 1,060.0 1,055.9
CURRENT ASSETS
Stocks 16 165.0 139.7 - -
Debtlors due within one year 17 537.2 491.2 573 313
Debtors due after more than one year 7 224 153 1,603.9 1,5188
Cash and short-term depesits 18 1389 714 874 250
863.5 7.6 1,748.6 1,575.1
CRETATORS due within one year
Loans, overdrafts and finance leases 18 (38.5) {24.5) (75.5) (36.7)
Other creditors 19 {600.9) {529.2} (1,608.8) {1,509.8)
NETF CURRENT ASSETS 2241 1639 64.3 286
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,680.6 1,555.4 1,1243 1,088.5
CREDITORS due after mere than one year
Loans and finance leases 18 (522.4) (541.9) (472.5) (497.7)
Other creditors 19 (27.9) (31.3) - -
PROVISIONS FCR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES 20 {185.0) (162.6) {9.7) (8.9
945.3 8191 642.1 5819
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Called up share capital 24 2501 24738 2501 247.8
Share premium account 25 248.7 2359 248.7 2359
Capilal redemption reserve 25 327 327 327 327
Investment in own shares 25 (3.9} (1.4 (3.4) (1.4}
Profit and loss account 25 408.2 2799 114.0 66.9
SHAREHCLDERS' FUNDS 936.3 794.9 6421 581.9
MINORITY INTERESTS 9.0 24.2 - -
945.3 819.1 642.1 581.9

Approved by the Board on 18 May 2005

R Cousins Chief executive L ;
PR Hollingwaorth Finance director ; ' | ‘\L
|5 ‘ .
QA

N

e
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GROUP CASH FLOW STATEMENT

2005 0L
Year 1o 31 March e £m fin
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 27 416.6 3505
CAVICEMDS RECEIVED FROM JOINT YENTURES AND ASSCUIATES
Dividdends fron joint ventures 0.7 0.9
Uividends fiony associates 0.9 0.5
1.6 1.4
RETURNS ON INVESTMENTS AND SERVICING OF FINANCE
Interast received 5.9 o}
Interest pakl (33.0) 317
Interest element of finance lease payments (0.1) (0.1
Dividendds paicl o minerity shareholders of subsidiaries (0.6) (1.6}
27.8) {33.0)
TAX
united Kingelorm corporation tax paid (18.7) {11.5)
Overseas tax paid (47.5) (487
{66.2) {64.2)
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND FINANCIAL INVESTMENT
Purchase of tangible fixed assels (154.1} {99.6)
Sale of tangible [ixed assets 6.6 15.6
Repayrnent of loans by joint venlures 30 - 0.7
(147.5) (83.3)
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
Purchase of businesses arid minority interests 26 (46.5) (5.1
Sale of businesses 8.6 7.5
{(37.9) 24
DIVIDENDS PAID TO SHAREHOLDERS OF BPS PLC {73.1) (67.3)
CASH INFLOW BEFORE USE OF LIQUID RESOURCES AND FINANCING 65.7 1105
Management of liguid resources {65.3) (3.8)
FINANCING
Issue of share capita 24,25 15.1 98
Purchase of own shares 25 (2.4) -
Loan from associated company 30 - 03
Decrease in borrowings 28,29 (1.2) {52.6)
115 {425
INCREASE [N CASH 28,29 1.9 64.2
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FOLICIES

1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES centinued

Basis of preparation

These linancial staternents have heen prepared in accordance with applicable UK Accounting
standards under the historical cost convention. They ncorporate the resulls of the parent
company and its subsidiary unclertakings and include the resylts of joint ventures and
associated undertakings. Joint ventures are long-tern investments which are jointty
conlralled by he group and one or more other venturers. They are accountad for using the
gross equily method. Entilies, other than subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures, in
which the group has a participating interest and aver whose operating and fmancial policies
the group exereises a significant influence are treater] as associated undertakings. All
subsichiary and associated unedertakings and joint venlires are companies, and are referred
to as such in these financial statements. As permitted by Section 230 of the Companies
ACt 1985, no separale profit and loss account is shown for the parent company, BPB plc.

The accounts of all subsidiaries have been prepared for the year to 31 March 2005,

The group’s share of associaled companies’ and joint venlures profts is hased, for the
principal cormpanies, on the latest audited accounts, which cover in all cases the year o
31 becember 2004, Shareholders’ funds, minority interests and dividends referred 1o in
these financial statements are wholly attiibutable to equity interests.

Changes in accounting standards
During the vear the Accounting Standards Buard issued URF Abstract 38 - Accounting for
ESOP Trusts and UITF Abstract 17 (Revised) - Emiployee Share Schemes. These have both
been adopted in the current year,

Abstract 38 changes the presentatien in the balance sheet of an entity’s own shares held
in an employee share trust from requiring them to be recognised as assets to requiring
their value to be deducled in arfiving at shareholders” funds. The impaci of this change in
accounting pelicy has been o reduce fixed asset investinents by £0.7 millicn and to reduce
shareholders” funds by £0.7 million at 31 March 2004,

Turnover
Turnover represents the value of sales stated net of trade discounts, VAT and other sales laxes.

Acquisitions and disposals
The results of subsidiary and associated cornpanies arkd joing ventures sold or acquired are
included in the group accounts up to, or from, the date when controf effectively passes.

The net assets of subsidiaries are included at fair values ony acquisition; any goodwill
arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary, associated company of joint venture is treated
as described below, Group reserves include the group$s share of the post-acquisition
reserves of associated companies and joint ventuies

Goodwill arising on aequisitions prior to 31 March 1998 was writlen off directly against
reserves. This goodwill was not reinstated on implernentation of FRS10. Posilive goodwil
afising on acquisitions since 1 April 1998 is capitalised, dassified as an asset an the balance
sheet and amortised on a straight fine basis over its useful life up 10 a presumed maximum
of 20 years. It is reviewed for impairment at the end of the first full financial vear following
the acquisition, and in ather periods if events or changes in circurnstances indicate hat the
carrying value may not be recoverable.

Goodwill, whether previously written off to reserves or capitalised as an asset, is included in
the calculation of profit or loss on any subsequent dispasal or termination of the entities
to which it refates.

Tangible fixed assets
Deprediation s provided to write off the cost, less residuat value, of tangible fixed assets
on the straight line basis over the expecied future lives in their current location.

No depreciation is provided on freehold land where the cost is separately identifiable,
and major projects are not depreciated whilst in the course of construction. Typical assel
lives used are:

Freehold buildings - up to 33 years
Leasehold property - the peried of the lease
Plant and machinery - 8 1o 20 years

Mobile ptant and vehicles -3 to 7 years

ineral deposits are depleted in the proportion that extraction for the year bears to the
latest estinate of the usable wnnaye.

The carrying values of 1angille fixed assels are reviewed for impainment if events of
changes in drcumstances indicae that the cairying value may nol be recoverahle.

Capital grants
Capital grants are treated as a deferred credt and are transferred to the profit and foss
account uver the [ives of the relevant assets.

Leases

Assets hield through finance leases are capilalised and depreciated simifarly to other assats

The interest element of the rental payment is chargec to the profit and loss account over
the period of the lease. Rentals for assels used under operating leases are charged to the
profit and loss account on a straight ling basis over the tenn of the lease.

Stocks

Slucks are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value, Costis armived atmainly
on a lirst-in first-out basis and mcludes all the expenditure incurred in bringing stocks to
their present location and condition. Provision is made where necessary against slove-

moving, damaged or obsolele stock.

Employee share schemes
No charge is made Lo the profit and loss account in respect of SAYE schemes thal are
offerad on similar terms 1o all, or substantially all. UK employees.

Pension costs ard post-retirernent benefits

The cost of providing pensions and olher benefits for employees is charged against profi
systernatically, with acluarially assessed surpluses or deficits being amortised over
employees” expected average remaining period of service,

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recogrised as a liability or asset if the transactions or events that give rise
1 an obligation o pay more, or a fight to pay less, lax in the future have occurred by the
halance sheet date. In particular:

« provision is made for gains on disposat of fixed assets that have been rolled over inte
replacement assets only where, at the balance sheet date, there is a commitment to
dispose of the replacement assels

« provision is made for the tax that would arise on rervittance of the retained eamnings
of overseas subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures only to the extent
tha, at the balance sheet date, dividends have been accrued as receivable

Deferred 1ax assets are recagnised only to the extent that it is considered more likely than
nat that there wilt be suitable taxable profits from which the underlving tirning differences
can be deducted.

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected 1o apply in the periods in
which timing ditferences reverse, based on lax rates and laws enacted or substaniively
enacted at the batance sheel date, and is not discounted.

Recultivation provisions

Recyltivation provisions are made when the group has either a legal or construclive
abligation to festare mineral workings to an agreed condition. These provisions are stated
after discounting the estimated liability to present values.
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1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

Foreign currencies

The results of overseas companes are translated i average rates for the year. Assets and
fiatil Tes i foreign currencies are translated at the cusing rles of exchange uling at the
year end. Differences hatween resulls tansiated at average and at dlosing rates together
wilh difterences arising on conselidation on the retranslation of apening net assels are
taken Lo reserves. Differences on foreign currency borGyings and foreign currency swaps
used 1o finance or provide a hedge against overseas equily ivestmants are trealed as a
reserve movement; other exchange differences are included n trading profit. Transactions
derominated in foreign currencies are Uanslated at the 1ales applying on the date of the
transaction, unlass eovered by a fonward currency contiack, inwirch case Lhe rate under
the forward contract is used.

Financial instruments held as hedges

Hedging instrurments, principally forward foreign excharge contracls and ilerest rate swaps,
are malched with the itam being hedged. Gains and losses on forward loreign exchange
contracts are recognised within aperating profit al the samie time as the exchange gain

or loss o the underlying purchase or sale. Interest differentials on interest rate swaps are
recognised on an accruals basis within net interest payahle over the terest period of the
underlying financial instruiment,

Research and development
£xpenditure on research and development is charged against profit when itis incurred.

2 EXCHANGE RATES

The principal exchange rates used to translate the resuils and balances of overseas
subsidiaries are as follows.

Average At 31 March
Rates to sterling " 2005 2004 2005 2004
EUro 1.47 1.44 1.45 1.50
Us deliar 1.85 1.70 1.89 1.54
Canadian dollar 2.36 230 2.29 242
South African rand 1150 1201 11.76 1158

3 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS

The principal national groupings that form the geographical segrments shown below are
s follows:

Norlh & Western Europe: UK, trefand, Sweden, Oenmark, Finland, Norway, Russia, Latvia,
Lithuania and Estonia.

Southern Europe: France, Spain, Italy, Gelgiurn and Holland,

Cenlral & Eastern Europe. Germany, Austria, Switzerland, Poland, Czech Republic, Hungary,
Romania, Bulgaria, Greece, Turkey, Slovakia and Slovenia.

North America: USA and Canada.

Emerging Markets: South Africa, Thailand, India, China, Egypt, Brazil and Mexico
{previously classified as Rest of the World).

Group turmover Operating

by origin net assets

2004

2005 2004 2005 Re stated

£m &m £m fm

North & Weslern Furope 596.1 5885 2465 2967
Southern Europe 760.8 7281 5857 5566
Cenirat & Eastern Europe 3509 3308 2701 2439
Europe 1707.8 16474 11023 10972
Morth America 532.1 4888 4038 3949
Emerging Markets 1264 1086 1628 1105
23663 22448 16689 106026

Less inter-area (49.5) (7400 - -
2316.8 21708 16689 16026

Associates and joint ventures 56.7 493 58.9 54.2
2373.5 22200 37278 16568
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3 SEGHFNTAL ANALYSIS continued

o & Uperaing paudi;

2005 AUl 2005 /50

im Lin £m !

Morth & Westem Europe 1083 1031 70.1 721

Southern Europe 84.1 V6.2 81.2 723

Cenlral & Eastarn Europe 25.2 12.6 24.8 1.3

Eurape 2176 1939 1761 1567

North America 71.4 0.1 784 31.2

Emerqing Markets 19.1 15.2 17.9 145

3081 2492 2724 2024

Qperating exceplional items:

Aberdeen closure costs (34.0) -
Canaclian pension refund 14.6 -
Purfleet dosure costs - (288
Goochwill amortisation (16.3) (13}

Group operating profil 2724 240 2724 2024

Associales and jont ventures 7.8 57 7.8 57
Return on sales (underlying) % G
North & Western Europe 18.2 17.9
Soulhern Furope 11.1 10.5
Cenlral & Eastern Europe 7.2 38
Furope 127 113
North America 13.4 32
Emerging Markets 15.1 14.0
Group 13.3 15

Turnover is not disclosed by destination as it is fnaterially the same as that by origin.
As described in note 8, group operating profit incudes exceptional items against
the results of: North & Western Europe - charge of £34.0 milfon (2004 dharge of
£28.8 miflion) and North America - credit of £14.6 million (2004 £}

Net non-operating income of £6.9 million (2004 £4.3 rlfion) described innote & is
excluded from group operating profit in accordance with FRS 3, but arose in the following
seqmients: North & Western Europe — £3.7 million (2604 £0.6 imiflion) and Southern
Europe — £3.2 million (2004 £3.7 million).

The operaling net assets of the geographical segments are stated after adding back
goodwill written off to reserves pricr t 1 April 1998 and goadywili amaortised since that
date. A reconciliation of operating net assets in the previous columin to net assets in
the consolidated balance sheet is shown befow.

2004

2005 Re-stated

£m £m

Cperating net assets 17278 16568
Cumulative goodwill amartised and written off to reserves (306.6) (295.%)
Net borrowings (422.0) (1950
Dividends payable (53.9) (46.8)

Net assets 9453 8191




4 COST OF SALES AND NET OPERATING EXPENSES

LOPLNG

UpELIL0NS

2005 2004

£m 1l

Cost of sales 15164 11,4515
Distribution costs 31,2 3162
Adrmdstialive expenses 2120 2085
Other opefating ‘ncome (5.2) {7.8)
Net aperaling expenses 5280 3169

Aberdeen closure costs of £34.0milion {2004 £l were Uassified as folkuws: cost of sales
£30.6 millon; and administrative expenses £3.4 million.

The Canadian pension refund of £14.6 million {200+ Lot was allocated against the
fullowing calequries of expense: cost of sales £5,1 million; distribution costs £2.9 million;

and administrative expenses £6.6 milion.

purlleet closure costs recorded in 2004 of £28.8 imidlion were classified as follows: cost of
sates £285 million; distribution cosls £0.2 million; and adrministrative expenses £0.1 million

Administrative expenses incude goodwilt amortisation of £16.3 mitfon (2004 £18.0 mifion)

Operating profit is stated after charging:
Auditors’ remuneration:

Audit 1.4 13
Non-audit UK 0.8 0.7
Non-audit averseas 0.3 0.5
25 25
Depreciation:
Owned assels 111.1 109.5
Leased assets 0.3 05
Capitat grants transferred from deferred credits {13y (1.4
1101 108.6
Operating exceptional - Aberdeen asset write-dovms 10.0 -
- Purfleet asset write-downs - 155
1201 124.1
Operating lease rentafs:
Plant and machinery 7.7 9.8
Other 6.0 6.5
13.7 16.3
Goodwill amortisation 16.3 18.0

Research and development expenditure 53 5.4
Restructuring - including asset write-downs

ot £4.0 million (2004 £2.6 mitlion} 15.3

Non-audit services of Ernst & Young LLP relate predominantly to advice on taxation
{reorganisations and general compliance) and due diligence work. All payrments for
audit and non-audit services are approved within the framework established by the
audit cornmiitee for that purpose.

Non-audit services are also provided by PricewaterhiouseCoopers, Deloitte & Touche and
KPMG, including advice on information technology, acquisitions and the provision of support
fo the group’s internal control programime.

5 ERIPLOYEES

2005
Average  Awerage
Segmental analysis aumber  numke
North & Westerm Europe 2,879 3,108
Seuthem Europe 3,772 34838
Central & Eastern Eurcpe 2,185 2,048
Europe 8,836 104
North America 1,964 2022
Emerging Markels 1,889 1,781
12,689 12907

2005
Employee costs fm i
Wages and salaries 2915 2925
Sodial security costs 63.8 67.7
Other pension costs 17.4 15.0
3777 3752

6 PENSIONS AN POST RETIREMENT BENEHTS

The group operates pansion and ether post retirement benefit schemes throughout the
world, Funded, seff-adrinislered, defined benefit schermes are aperaled in the UK, U5,
Canada, Ireland, Belgium ard Soulh Africa. These schermes, lugether covering approximaltety
4140 of graup employees, are valued al regular intervals by independent actuaries.

The group also operates insured defined benefit schemes in Holland and Fintand, non-
funded defined benefit schemes in Germany, Austria, Norway and Sweden and defined
contribution schermes in Switzerland and Denmark.

Post retirernent medical benefits are provided in the UK, US and South Africa. There are ne
material persion aangernents, apart from state scheines and compulsory cormplementary
arrangements, in other areas of the groups operations.

The group currently accounts for pensicn and pest retirement costs in accordance

with $5APZ4 and the pensions disclosures below are those required by that standard.
The transitional disclosure requirernents of FRS 17 are also given. The liability for unfunded
refirement benelits is included in provisions for liabilities and charges as disclosed in
note 20.

SSAP24 pension disclosures

Contributions 1o the group’s benefit schemes are charged to the prafit and toss account
50 a5 [0 spread the costs of pensicns aver ernployees’ working lives. The contributions
are delermined by qualified actuaries.

The results of the most recent valuations for the main funded schemes in eacl couniry are
detailed below. All valualions are conducted using the projected unit method. The level

of funding represents the ratio of the market value of assets to accrued service liabilities
in percentage terms.

South

UK US  Canada  lreland Alrica

Date of valuation 31 Mar Tjan 1Dec  1April 3710ec
2002 2004 2003 2002 2002

fm £m m £m fin

parket value of assets 5443 175 58.8 478 84
U % Yo %o %

Level of funding 114 73 215 13 120

The most recent Lanadian valuation pre-dates the refund referred to in note 8.
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& PENSIONS AND POST RETIREMENT BENEFITS g(}lei{)UG-.[

6 PENSIONS AND POST RETIREMENT BENEFITS C()I]IVEHU{EU

The valuation of the principal UK scheme was based un the following assumplions: returm
Qi exishing imvestinents 6 0% ammgs ingreases 4.0%; pension inceases 2.5, Fullowing
actuarial advice during the year thal the UK pension scheme surplus identified in the last
trienmial valuation at March 2002 is likely o have heen lully eroced by the next valuation,
ar additional UK pension scherme charge of £6.0 mill enveas miade during the year,

A 2.2 million cuntalinent gain arose in connection with the restructuring of the gioup’s
papesboard division. The overall persion charge totalfesd £8.4 million (2004 £6.2 miflion)
Included within prepayments and accrued income, diszlosed in note 17, s a pension
prepayrment of £7.9 million {2004 £7.7 million).

FRS17 retirement benefits

The valuation of UK and averseas pension schemes was performed using the projected
unit method and was based on the latest actuanial valuation as amended to 1ake account
of the specific requirements of FRS17. The financial assurmptions used 1o calculate the
liabilities of the main funded and unfunded schemes were,

tuio SOLh
Assumptions UK J5 tanada e Affica
At 31 March 2005 Ty 3 by Uiy U
Inflation rate 2.80 275 275 2.00 400
Rale of increase in salaries 4.30 475 375 400 5.50
Rate of increase for pensions:
in payment 2.80 n/a 2.75 2.00 400
Deferred 2.80 n/a 275 2.00 n/a
Discount rate 540 600 5.40 4.40 950
At 31 March 2004 g ) Ys 3 U
Inflation rale 275 2.75 275 2.00 575
Rate of increase in salaries 4725 475 375 4.00 725
Rate of increase for pensions:
In payment 275 n/a 275 2.00 575
Deferred 275 n/a 2.75 2.00 n/a
Discount rate 5.50 5.35 5.55 500 1045
At 31 March 2003 oy Uiy % U Y
Inflation rate 2.25 275 275 2.00 575
Rale of increase in salaries 37 4,75 4.00 7.25
Rate ol increase for pensions:
In payment 225 n/a 2.75 200 5.75
Deferred 225 n/a 2.75 2.00 n/a
Discount rale 5.40 6.25 6.25 525 1075

n/a = not applicable

Long-term healthcare cost increases for post retiement benefits offered in the UK, US and
South Affica were assumed tc be 5.0%, 5.00 and 8 75% respectively (2004 4.00, 5.0%
and 8750, 2003 4.060, 5.25%, 9.0%).

The long-termm expected rate of return on assets held by the pension schemes were:

Furo South
Expected rate of return L us  ranada wne  Africa
AL31 March 2005 Ui L Yo Ui B
Equities 7.80 8.00 8.00 715 1050
Bonds 510 6.00 5.25 4.00 92.00
Cash 360 350 200 3.00 575
Other n/a n/a n/a 558 n/a
At 31 March 2004 Yo Uy W s U
Equities 8.00 8.00 8.00 7.35 12.25
Bonds 5.10 5385 540 450 970
Cash 375 350 3.00 350 7.50
QOther n/a n/a n/a 6.00 n/a
At 31 March 2003 i U ) b Uy
Equities 8.00 825 8,50 7.50 12.75
Bonds 5.00 6.25 6.00 4.90 10.00
Cash 3.40 350 3.00 4.00 8.00
Other n/a n/a n/a 6.20 n/a
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Seuth

T

Market value of assets 1K, LA e et Allic Group
at 31 March 2005 firl £ o I8 i £m
Eqjuities 3837 e 1.1 0.2 50 458.4
Bonds 149.9 G 1.1 6.2 A0 179.8
Cash /3 0.5 3.6 17 nn 14.0
Other n/a n/a n/a 14 0.2 121

54041 17.0 31.8 620 131 664.3
Present vaiue of
scheme Labilities (6698)  {266) (328} (55.8) (M2} (795.2)
{Deficiny/surplus (129.4) (9.6 (1.0} 6.2 19 {1319}
Restriction on surplus - - - - (1.8) (4.8}
{Delcit) /surplus recognised  (129.4) (96) (1.0} 6.2 (29 (1357}
Related deferred
lax assel 388 39 0.4 01 09 44.1
Net pension (liability)/asset - (99.6) {5.7) 0.6 6.3 (20 (92.8)

Cash contributions of £18.8 mitlion were made in the year 1o schemes in the UK, US,
Ireland, Gelgium, France and South Africa, whilst £14.6 million wias refunded om
schemes in Canada as explained innate 8. Future cash contributions inte the principal
UK scheme are expected 1o remain al alevel consistent with the annual SSAR24 reqular
cost. For the remaining schemes contribution rates for future years remain subject to
agreement with scheine trystees.

Furo South

Market value of assets UK Us  Canada fone Alrica GIoup
at 31 March 2004 £m £m £m i fm £m
Fquities 3619 10.1 16.3 35.6 86 4325
Bonds 1409 6.8 131 83 15 1706
Cash 80 0.2 306 5 14 40.7
Other n/a n/a n/a 71 n/a 7.1

5108 17.1 60.0 51.5 s 6509
Present value of
scherme liabilities (624.4)  (267) {4571y {410} {86) (745.3)
(Deficit}/surplus {113.6) (9.6) 149 10.5 29 (949
Restriction on surplus - - - - 2.9) (2.9)
{Deficit) /surplus reccgnised  (113.6) (9.6) 149 105 - (97.8)
Related deferred
tax asset /(liability} 34.1 - {(6.0) {18) - 26.3
Net pension (liability)/asset  (79.5)  (96) 89 8.7 - (N5




& PENSIONS AND POST RETIREMENT BENEFITS (Unlm_llf?d

S0

furg
Market value of assets UK Us  fanada 2 Al Group
at 31 March 2003 am im fin L Lo m
Ecuities 2924 9.9 14.7 258 56 3184
Bonds 122.7 69 11.8 ER 120 1524
Cash 15.0 03 3.0 20 16 499
Other n/a n/a n/a 39 n/a 39
4301 171 575 41.5 8.4 5541.6
Present value of
schemne liabilities (579.9)  (281) (382) (349) (7.4} (6B8.5)
{Deficit)/surplus {1498) (110) 193 66 100 (1339
Rastiiction on surplus - - - - {1.0) {1.0)
{Deficit) /suiplus recognised  (149.8)  (11.0) 193 6.6 (1319
Related delerred
1ax asset/{liability) 449 - (7.6} {1.1) - 362
el pension
{liabifity) /asset (049 (1) 117 5.5 - {98.7)
Urifunded
Funded ref rement benefits retire
North Eura South ment
Movement in Ur America one Aftica benefits Group
(deficit) /surplus £m Fim fm fm fin £m
{Deficit)/surplus
al 1 April 2004 (1136) 53 105 29 (505) {1454)
Operaling charges:
Current service cost {159y (25 (16 {02 {29 (2371
Pasl service (ost - (0.3} - - 03 (0.6)
Curtaiiment gain 0.8 0.2 - - - 1.0
Othet finance
incofme /{expense):
Expecled returnonassets 357 37 37 13 - 44.4
Interest on liabilities (33.6) (35 {(22) 12y (23) (428)
Recognised in STRGL:
Actuarial (loss)/gain (lesy @ (53 12 (1.1 (244)
currency gain/floss) - 0.2 0.2 - (0.9} {0.5)
Unfunded payments - - - - 35 35
Contributions/{refunds) 137 (M0 0.9 06 - a7z
Transfers - - - 27N 2.7 -
{Deficit) /surplus
3131 March 2005 (120.4) (106) 62 19 (51.8) (1837)
Unfunded
Funded retirement benefits retire -
Narth Euro South ment
Movementin UK America one Africa bepefits Group
(deficit)/surplus £m £m £m £m £m £m
(Deficit) /surplus
at 1 April 2003 (149.8) 83 6.6 10 (478) (1817
Operaling charges:
Current sefvice (ost 153y @& (D {0 (35 (225
Pasl service cost - (0.3} - - - (0.3)
Other finance
income /{expense):
Expected returnon assets  29.3 40 28 1.0 - 371
Interest on liabilities (30.6) (40 N9y (08 (22) (395
Recognised in STRGL:
Actuarial gain/(loss) 451 (13) 26 17 (3.0) 457
Currency gain/{loss) - 1.0 (0.3) 01 1.4 22
unfunded payments - - - - 46 1.6
Contributions 7.7 - 19 - - 2.6
(Deficit) /surplus
at 31 march 2004 (113.6) 53 105 29 (505) {145.4)

3005
fm %

History of experience
gains and losses

Lm iy

Actual return less expected
return o scherme assets

pPercentage of

schermie assels
Expenience gains and losses
arising on liabilties

Percentage of

scheme liabilties
Changes in assumptions
underlying present value
of liabilities

57 858 (139.2)

0.9 13.2

{9.4) (14.2) (4.1]

1.2

(20.7)

Actuarial {loss) /gain (z4.4)

Percentage of the present

value of the plan liabilities 375

3.1

If #2517 had been adopted in the financial statements, the group’s net assets would have
been £95.1 million (2004 £75.5 million}ower The group’s net assels at 31 March 2005
excluding $5AP24 pension and post-ratirermnent benefit assels and liabilibes were
£676.4 million (2004 £853.9 million,.

7 DIRECTORS” EMOLUMENTS
Aggregate emolurnents of the directors of the company were as follows:

2005 2004

£000 £000

Base salaries 2,156 2000
Fees 51 253
Annual bonuses 1,779 1,007
Other emaluments 91 96
4,277 3,35

The annual bonus figure for 2005 assumes full participation in june,/July 2005 in the
deferred share bonus plan referred fo on page 41 and in note (i) on page 43.

More detailed information concerning directors” emcluments, pension entitlements,
shareholdings, share option, share ownership plan, share matching plan and performance
share plan interests, together with details of agaregate qains of £2,187,744 (2004 £108452}
matle on the exercise of share options, is showr: in the remurneration committee’s report
on pages 40 to 46.

8 EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

2005 2004
£m £m
Operating exceptional items
Aberdeen closure costs (34.0) -
Canadian pension refund 14.6 -
Purtleet closure costs - (288)
{19.4) (72858)
Non-operating exceptional iterns
Disposals of fixed assefs 88 40
Sale and terminaticn of operations 9 03
6.9 43
(12.5) (245
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$ EXCEPTIONAL ITERAS continued

10 TAX ON PROTIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES

2005 exceptional items

The group anncunced the fikely closure of its remain ng paperboard m it al Aberdeen
o 3 Macch 2005 A consequential eperatng exceplonal charge of £341.0 million
comprises £24.0 million relating Lo redundancy, plant de-commessioning and other
site closure costs and C10.0 million of assel write-downs.

The Canatian pension refune of £14.6 million arese tollowing regulalory approval of
an agreemment between the company and the pension scheme members 1o share
in the distribution of part of a substantial pension furd suplus that had Suilt up over
a number of years.

Tlie gain on disposals of fixed assets arose largely from the disposal of surplus land
in the UK and Belgium, and the loss on sale and teanination of operations arose on
disposal of the group’s recycling business.

2004 excepticnal items

The group closed he paperboard il at Purileet in the UK on 17 Decerber 2003,

A operating exceptional charge of £28.8 million asscciated will the closure consists of
redundancy costs of £5.7 million, asset wiite-tlowns of £15 5 million, and other site closure
costs totalling £8.2 million.

The qain on dispasals of fixed assets arose predominantly from the sale of the investment
inasmall French plasters company, Toupret, and the gain on sale and tarrmination of

operations arose on disposal of non-core operations in Germany and the UK

The tax effect of exceptional items is shown in note 10.

9 NET INTEREST PAYABLE

2005 2004

£Em £m

Interest receivable 43 32

Interest payable:

Bank loans and overdrafts 4.7y (149)
Other loans and finance leases (26.9y  (190)
(273) (307

Share of joint ventures’ inferest {0.5) (0.3
share of associates’ interest {0.6) 1.0
(284) (3271}

Interest payable includes £0.1 million (2004 £0.7 million) telating to discounted bills of
exchange and £0.1 million (2004 £0.7 mifliors) relating to finance leases.
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2005
Analysis of tax charge in the year £m bre
UK corporation tax:
Charge for the period 68.5 AB.6
Unidler-provision in pror years 5.1 2.7
73.6 513
Couble tax relief (51.2) (298}
224 215
Qverseas tax:
charqe for the per:od 65.0 442
Qver-provision in prior years (0.2} {1.0)
64.8 43,2
Share of joint ventures’ tax 0.5 -
Share of associates fax 0.8 0.3
Tolal current tax 83.5 65.0
originalion and reversal of liming ditferences 0.2 (5.38)
Changes in tax rates and faws (0.3) 38
Tolal underlying deferred tax 0.1y 2m
Exceptional deferred tax credit (13.9) -
Total deferred tax (14.0) (2.0)
Tax on profit an erdinary activities 74.5 63.0

Exceptional tax credit and tax effect of exceptional items

The exceptional deferred tax credit arose due to a deferred tax asset being recognised in
respect of unrelieved losses that arose in the US in earlier years as there is now sufficient
evidence that the asset will be recovered from fulure taxable profits,

included within the tax charge for the year is a tax credit of £8.7 milfion arising from
Aberdeen closure costs of £34.0 million, and a tax charge of £5.8 milfon from the Canadian
pension refund of £14.6 million,

The tax effect of non-operating exceptional incorme of £6.9 million (2004 £4.3 mithon)
is a charge of £2.6 million (2004 £0.5 miflion).

Factors affecting tax charge for the period

The current tax charge on profit on ordinary activities varied from the expected tax charge for
the vear due ta the factors detalled in the table below: The expected tax charge s based
solely on the relevant 1ax rale and amount of accounting profit in each jurisciction in which
the group operates.

2005 2004

£m £m

Expected tax charge 81.6 539
Expenses not deductible tor tax purposes 6.9 39
Goodwill ameartisation not deductible 35 5.4
Income net subject to tax (1.5) (23}
Accounting depreciation in excess of tax depreciation 26 (2.3}
povernent on cther timing differences (1.7) 53
Current tax losses not utilised 03 24
Utilisation of tax losses (12.3) (1.1
Adjustments refating to prior years’ corpuration 1ax 49 1.7
Other 42 (1.9
Current tax charge 285 650




10 TAX ON PROFIT ON OROINARY ACTIVITIES CODI_i_H}JfC-d

13 INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Factors that may affect future tax charges

Unieelioved Lax losses and other timing differences of £87.0 million {2004 £706.1 mitlon)
can be recovered against future Laxable profils, Based on current plans o increase levels
of investment, the level of tax depreciation cormpared b accounting depreciation is fikely
to increase, resulting in a bigher deferred tax but lower current 1ax charge. No provision
has heen made for £8.5 miflion (2004 £8 5 nflion) uf deferred tax on gains on disposal
of lixed assets that have been rolled aver into replaceiment assets as there was 1o
commitment at the balance sheet date to dhispose of the replacement assets. No delenad
tax is fecaqnised on the urremitted eamings of overseas subsidiares, associates and joint
venlures as the group clogs not expect to pay 1ax on them in the loreseeable future.

11 DIVIDENDS
2005 2004
£m £m
Interiim 5.25p per share (2004 4.8p) 26.1 236
Proposed final 10.75p per share (2004 9.450) 53.9 46.8
80.0 70.4

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The basic eamings per share figure is calcuiated on profi after tax and rinority interests
of £182.3 million (2004 £115.0 mifton) and un the weighted average of 197.2 million

Gouch

Balance sheet movements im

Cost

ALT April 2004 3211

Currency adiustments HIAN
Acuisilions 254

A1 31 March 2005 346.4

Amoertisation

ALT April 2004 544

Currency adjustments i0.2)
Amortisation charge for the year 163

At 31 March 2005 75.5

Net book value

At 31 March 2005 2705

ALT April 2004 2017

Goodwill is being amortised evenly over its uselul life up o a presumed maxismum of
20 years from the date of each acquisition unless it is considered impaired in which case
a charge is taken immediatey

(2004 490.9 miffiory crdinary shares in issue during the year, after exduding the investiment 14 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS
in the company’s cwn shares Land and~ Plant and
Total  buildings  machinery
] . Balance sheet movements £m fm £
The diluted eamings per share figure is based on the same profit as the basic eamings per P
share fiqure and on the total diluted number of sharas calculated as shown in he lable o
. ) ) ) I ) ALT April 2004 2,1665 7326 14339
below. The underiying earnings per share figure is based on profit adjusted for goodwill :
o B ‘ Currency adjustiments 48.0 13.1 349
amorlisation and exceptional items and on the same weighled avesage number of shares o
) . ) A A . . Acquisitions 1.6 2.4 22
used in the basic earnings per share calculation above, The directors consider that this "
A SRR ‘ Additions 1542 265 1277
measure provides an additional indicator of the underlying performance of the group. .
Disposals (75.2} {11.2) (63.0)
AL31 March 2005 2,298.1 7634 15347
2005 2004 —
M m Depreciation
Basic weighted average nurmber of shares 4972 4909 ?t 1 Apri 2£04 10669 220 8149
Dilutive potential ordinary shares arising frorm share options 4.0 2.1 urren;y a Justiments 27.5 2.7 178
Depreciation charge for the year 1214 222 992
Total 5012 4930 Disposals (68.3) {6.6) 617}
At 31 March 2005 1,475 2773 870.2
2005 2004
Effect tiect  Metbook value
onEPS onEPS  AL31 March 2005 1,1506 4861 6645
£m p m p )
Profit after tax and minogily interests 1823 367 1150 234 ALT April 2604 10996 1806 6190
Goodwill amartisation 16.3 33 18.0 3.7
Exceptional iterns: The depraciation charge for the year includes as an exceptional operating charge the
Aberdeen closure costs 34.0 6.8 - - Aberdeen asset write-downs of £10.0: million (2004 £if) described in note 8,
anadian pension refund (146} (2.9 - -
Purfleet closure costs - - 288 59 The net hook value of fand and buildings comprises £58 6 million (2004 £21.5 miflion)
Disposals of fixed assets (88 {1.8) (4.0 0.8)  oflong-leasehold property, €0.1 million (2004 £0. 1 milion} of shart-leasehold property,
Sale and termination of operations 1.9 0.4 (0.3) (0.1 mineral reserves of £118.3 million (2004 £ 17,6 milfion) and other freeheld property of
Deferred tax credit (13.9) (2.8 - - £309.1 million (2004 £341.4 million). The net book value of assets held ynder finance
Tax effect of goodwill amartisation 20 (05 - - leases was £9.2 million (2004 £4.7 million).
Tax effect of exceptional items ©3 (O {77) (18
. ‘ - 2005 2004
Underlying eamings and EPS 194.2 391 1498 05 fm o
Capital and other commitments
Capital expenditure contracted for 69.8 34

Comimitments under operating keases are not material.

Certain subsidiaries have entered into contracts to purchase synthetic gypsum and
plasterboard liner over a number of years; the present value of these cormrmitments is
unquantifiable due to the nature of the contracts.
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15 INYESTIENTS

7 UEHTORS

Assoiatid pollll

ol Companies  ventues Urher
Vi fm Lin m
Group

AL T Aprit 2004 300 214 79 1.6
pror year adjustinent {177 - - (0.7)
AT ARl 2004 {as re-stated) 302 214 79 0.g
Currency ackustments 0.4 1.0 (61} -
Addditions 0.3 - - 03
Dispusals (] - - (0.2)
share ol retained profits 38 30 0.7 -
At 31 March 2005 35.0 25.5 85 1.0
2004
2005 Re slated
£m ‘m

Investments comprise:
Lisled 15.8 146
Unlisted 19.2 156
35.0 3072

Investments in associated comparies and joint ventures represent the group'’s share of their
net assets. Other investments are shown at net book value, The market value of isted
investimients was £29.7 million (2004 £12.5 miffion)

Delails of transactions and balances outslanding between group companies and the groups
associates and joint ventures are given in note 30,

The group's principal sulsidiary and asseciated companies and joint ventures are listed
on page 6.

Shares at st
and net book value
2004
2005 Reslated
£m £m

Company
trvestments i subsidiary companies 10600 10599
1060.0 1,0599

16 STOCKS
2005 2004
£m £m
Raw materials 65.7 523
Work-in-progress 2.8 24
Finished guods 96.5 85.0
165.0 139.7

The replacement cost of stecks is not materially different from these amours.
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aro|;

Lompeny
“hoos oo 2005 20
£ i £m fin
Due within one year;
Trace debturs 4229 3715 - -
Gills of exchange receivable 57.9 617 - -
Amaunts due fro subsidiany companies - - 48.0 207
Amounts due from assaciated
companies and jont venlures 18 16 - -
Corpuration Lax repayable 4.1 5.4 - -
Other debtoss 11.8 149 0.9 22
Prepayrments and accrued ingome 308 28.2 8.4 8.4
Defarred tax asset 79 1.9 - -
537.2 4912 57.3 313
Ligup LOMmpany
2005 A00d 2005 2004
£m £im £m £m
Due after more than one year:
Amounts due from subsidiary companies - - 16039 15176
AImounts due from associated
cormpanies and joint ventures 7.3 7.2 - -
Corporalion 1ax repayable 1.2 - - -
Other debtors 6.7 8.1 - 1.2
Deferred lax asset 7.2 - - -
224 15.3 16039 15188
18 NET BORROWINGS
Group Lompany
2005 2004 2005 2004
fm fm £€m fm
Loans, finance leases and overdrafts
due within cne year:
Bank loans: unsecured 29.6 89 20.9 -
Obligations under finance leases 2.8 09 - -
Cther unsecured loans and overdrafts 6.1 147 54.6 36.7
385 24.5 755 36.7
Loans and finance leases due
after more than ane year:
Bank loans: secured - 0.6 - -
unsecured 130.0 1643 932 1233
Finance leases 131 26 - -
€400 million 6.5% bond 2010 2735 2656 2735 2656
$100 million 4 9% bond 2013 529 544 529 544
$100 million 5.0% bond 2015 52.9 544 52.9 544
5224 5419 4725 4977
Total borrowings 5609 5664 5480 5344
Cash and shorl-term deposils {138%) (714) (874) (250)
Nel borrowings 4220 4950 4606 5094

secured loans are charged against the assets of the subsidiary companies concermed.




18 NET BORROWINGS conlinusd

GroLp

UOanpay
o005 o4 2005 004
£m ‘m Em fm
Aggregate amount of
repayments due:
Inane year o less, or on demand 385 245 755 36.7
In more than one year but net mere than two 14.9 289 6.7 218
In more 1han bwo years but not mose than five 3887 1237 360.0 1015
In mare than five years 1188 3893 1058 3744
Total borrowings 560.9 5664 5480 5344

Borrowing powers
The articles of association of 8BRS ple effectively restrict the net bomowings of the cormpaiy
and its subsidiaries to two times shareholders funds

Undrawn borrowing facilities
The group has various undrawn committed borrowing facifties. The ladilities available at
31 parch in respect of which all conditions precedent had been met were as follows:

20 PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES AND CHARGES )
RecLIti

Cerlern Retimne ther

lotal | Yell.Ol NG VSIS

£m fm fm £ L v

ALT Aprl 2004 162.0 59.9 511 2009 13.8 11.9
Currency adiustrments 29 12 1.0 (re .1 0.2
Transfers 07 (0.2) 01 - - 0.3
Chiarge for the year 670 (I 19.5 75 357 33
Utilised in the year (13.3) 22y (149 (29 (214) (14
Released in the year {4.9) - (33 01y (09 (06)
AL 31 March 2005 185.0 59.7 53.5 25.8 323 13.7

The provision for retirement benefits nchudes an amaunt in respect of unfunded pension
liabilities of £38.6 inillion (2004 £31.0 miflion,.

Recullivation provisions are macle when the group: has either a legal or constrctive
obligation to rectify the effects of its mining or quarrying aclivities. The amounts provided
are the liabilities at the halance sheet date to restore mineral workings to an agreed
condition as discounted t present values. The effect of the unwinding of the discount
applied o provisions at 31 Maich 2005 on he interest charge in this years profit and

2005 2004 loss account is immaterial. Utilisation of the provision is expected to accur over the next
£m im 13 years.
Expiring in one year or less - -
Expiring in more than one year but not more than tvzo 1.0 - Pestiucturing and other provisions are mostly expecled to be utilised within a year.
Expiring in more than two years 438.2 A9
4592 4410 The company’s provisians of £9.7 million (2004 £8.9 rifion) mainly arise in respecl of
unfunded retirement benefits of £8.9 million (2004 £8.4 miflior,).
19 OTHER CREDITCRS 27 DEFERRED TAX
Group {ompatry 2005 2004
2005 2004 2005 2004 £m £m
fm £m fm fm  Yearend analysis
Due within one year: Accelerated capital allowances 1058 1068
Trade creditors 1287 1445 1.9 14 Other timing differences (6.4) (6.1)
Bills of exchange payable 337 18.7 - - Unnelieved losses (39.7) (40.8)
Amounts due o subs@‘wary companies - - 11,5421 11,4489 Seferred tax fiabilties 5.7 596
Amounts due to associated
companies and joint ventures 2.2 31 - -
Corporation tax 79.5 553 - 25 A deferred tax asset of £15.1 million (2004 £1.9 mifhon) has been recognised in respect
Other taxes and social security costs 53.7 511 0.3 — of unrelieved losses as there is sufficient evidence that the asset will be recoverable from
Accruals 106.4 S 10) 8.1 56 future taxable profits. Note 17 includes £7.9 millicr {2004 £1.9 miflion}within debtors
Acquisition consideration 1.4 2.4 - - due within one year and £7.2 million (2004 £n#) within debters due after more than
Dividends payable 539 168 539 468 one vear. Insufficient avidence exists t record other unrelieved losses and other timing
Other creditors 1414 173 25 46 differences of £25.& million (2004 £63.5 million) as Jeferred tax assets.
6009 5292 16088 15098
Oue after mare than one year: 22 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Acquisition consideration 0.9 1.1 - = Thecompany has quaranteed the liabilities of its Irish subsidiary cernpanies so that these
Deferred credits for capital grants 17.4 183 - = companies are exernpt from the requirernent to file their accounts. The company has also
Corporation tax 0.6 - - ~ quaranteed the banking facilities of overseas subsidiary and assuciated companies, the
Other creditors %0 124 - = principal amounts being in the US, Chile and ttaty. At 31 March the total facilities guaranteed
27.9 318 - - were £50.3 million (2004 £50.7 miflion), of which £31.2 millien (2604 £31.6 mifion)

had been drawn.
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23 TREASURY POLICIFS, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS fr OFRIVATIVES confinuee

Treasury policy overview

Group tieasury's main functions are 1o manage the financal risks of the business ang

1o secure funding at rminimum cust, pursuant o policies and procedures agreed by the
apard. The performance of treasury s menitored closety, as are controls which seck o
pravent fraud, ermor and unauthorsed transactions. The key risks tnanaged by treasury
are interest rale: finance and liquidity; foreign currency, and credit. The Board reviews
and agrees policies for Imanaging each of them which are summarised in the following
paragraphs. It is, and has heen throughout the period urder revie, the group's policy
that no speculative frading in financial instruments is undettaken; and that the markel
price of all financial instruements is morvtored regularly

(a) Treasury policies relating to specific risks

Interest rate risk

Group policy is o keep belween 50% and 80% of its borrowings at fixed rates of interesl.
The group borows in a number of currencies and then us2s nierest fate swaps 1o generale
the desired interest profile and to manage its sensitivity W inlerest rate Buctuations.

Al the year end, 53% (2004 70%) of bormowings and inlerest rate swaps were at fixed
rates. The langest term of any significant (ixed rate deld was 10 years {2004 17 years),
with the average maturily of fixed rate gross borrowings at 6.0 years (2004 5.3 years).

A 195 and 5% rise in average interest rates for the year erced 31 March 2005 frorm market
levels seen al March 2005 would reduce group profit before tax by £2.6 million and
£13.2 million (2004 £1.7 million and £8.5 mihon) respectively. This has been calculated
o debt anly and has not taken account of changes in exchange rates following such an
interest rale move, nor the increased interest earmead on cash balances,

Finance and liquidity risk

The group's objective is te ensure that there are suificient sources of funding to meet
prejected requirements, It finances its operations through equity finance, retained profits,
bank facilities and debt raised in the capital markets. Funds are normally drawn centrally
by qroup treasury and lent to subsidiaries on commercial terms. External debt at subsicliary
level is only used where this is more efficient.

the group has a range of both syndicated and bilateral multicurrency bank laciities with
maturities from 1 1 5 years, and bonds in both the Euio and US capilal markels wilh
maturities between 5 and 10 yeats.

Total commitied facilities at the year end were £1,024 million (2004 £993 miflion} against
a drawn debl requiremnent of £535 million (2004 £557 milfion). The group also has access
to averdraft and uncommitted facilities to provide short-ferm liquidity

Foreign currency fisk

The group’s objectives are to manage its stiuctural currency exposures to provide a partiai
hedge agains! currency depreciation whilst keeping the cost of borrowing as low as
possible. As a result of substantial investment in overseas opezalions, the consulidated
balance sheel can be affected significantly by movemnents in exchange rates. The group
seeks to minimise possible adverse movements by helding a proportion of its debl
requirernents in local currency - at the year end the percentage of overseas capital
employed matchad by nen-sterling borrowings was 37% {2064 44%).

where operating companies are based in countries with more unstable financial markets,
the group can face prohibitive interest costs and a reduction in the value of local currency
cash balances. These can be managed by borrowing i stable currencies, repatriating
cash and taking oul forward currency contracts as appropriate.

The group alsa has transactional currency exposures arising from sales or purchases by
subsidiaries in foreign currencies. Forward currency coniracts are used when appropriate to
eliminate exposures on balances that are not expecterd to mature within 30 days.

Credit risk

The group is potentially exposed to credit related losses in the event of non-pericrmance
by counterparties under financial instrurents. This is centrolled by entering into transactions
only with highly rated, authorised counterparties and by limiting total exposure 1o them.
The group does nol expect any counterparties to fail to meet their cbligations. Positions
and ratings are monitored regularly.

60 BPB AMMLUAL REPORT 2005

(b} Borrowing covenants

wilh the excepfon ol some small averseas faciities, all bonowings are eithes in the name
of BER plc, or are guacantead by BER plc. The group’s procpal fnancial covenant s that
interest will e coverad at least 3 times by underlying earmings before interest, tax and
goudwill amortisation

{c) Analysis of financial assets and liabilities (included in notes 15, 17, 18, 19 and 20)

Financial assels and liabilities comprise drawn horowings and certain oiher debtors,
creditors and provisions,

The tables below show the interest rate risk profile of the nel financiat assets and
fiabiities of the group at 31 March, after taking 'nto account interest rale and fareign
exchaige swaps

2005 oo s
Net financial assets lotal  Steriry o dalla Uik
and liabilities fm £ (m ot Lm
Fixed rate borrowings (297.2) - {1867y (983) (12.2)
Floating rate borrowings {262.6)  (323) (104.6) (1090} (16.7)
Nil interest burmowings {1n - - on {1.0)
Total borrowings (56097 (323) (291.3) (20743 (299)
Cash and shert-term deposils 1389 62.5 263 34 16.7
Net homowings (422.0y 302 (265.0) (2040) 168
Loans 1o joint venlures

Fleating 79 55 1.4 - -
Loans lo associate

Non interest 0.8 - - - 0.8
Loan from associate

Floaling {1.3) - - (13 -
Employee profit share scheme (3.4} - (8.4) - -
Fixed asset investments

Non interest 1.0 - 1.0 - -
At 31 March 2005 (422.0) 367 (271.0) (2053) 176
Fixed rate financial liabilities
Weighted average interest rate {%) 53 - 5.6 43 43
Weighted average period for
which rale is fixed (years) 6.0 - 38 105 5.0
2004 furo Us
Net financial assets Total  Sterting e dolar Other
and liabilities £m £m £m £m £rn
Fixed rate borrowings (397.7) - (283 (M40) {05
Floating rale bormowings (167.5) (23 (132) {1356) (l6.4)
il interest borrwings {1.2) - - (0.5) 07}
Total borrowings {(566.4) (23} {(2964) (250.0) (176}
Cash and short-term deposits 714 76 19.5 10.2 341
Net borowings (4950 53 (2769) (2399) 165
Loans 1o joint ventures

Floating 77 6.5 12 -
Loans o associale

Non interest 0.7 - - - 0.7
Loan from associate

Fluating {13} - - (1.3} -
Employee profit share scheme {10.3) - {103 - -
Fixed asset investiments

Nen interest 0.9 - (1.9 - -
AL31 March 2004 (497.3) 1.8 (285 1) (2N 17.2
Fixed rate financial liabilities
weighted average interest rate (%) 47 - 47 16 13.0
weighted average period for
which rate is fixed (years) 53 - 32 102 09
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23 TREASURY POLICIES, FINANCIAL INSTRURERNTS & DERIVATIVES continued

Cash ane short-term deposits earn interest at floating rates appropriate to the local market
Fioating rate borrowings bear interest at the approprate local narkel rates plus an
agieed maryin

maturity profile of financial assets and liabilities
The maturity profile of the group's twkal borowings is g versn note 18, Amounts due under
the employee profit share scherne are payable as fo'lows;

2005 2004

£m H

within one vear or on demand 1.4 -
Between one and two years 1.5 22
Between two and five years 5.5 8.1
8.4 mn3

The loan frorm associate represents a rolling facility of less than one year and non-interest
bearing loans and investiiients do nol have a maturity date. The £6.5 mrilion fluating rate
ioan 10 a juint venture is repayable on 31 December 2008,

(d) Currency exposures

Translation exposures

As explained on page 60, the group manages its struclural curfency exposures arising from
its net asset investments in overseas companies. Ga.ns and losses arising from these
CUITeNCY exposures are recognised as moverments in reserves.

Transactional exposures

The group also manages expasures arising whese monetary assets and liabilties {principally
debtors, creditors and cash) are held in a different cstency from the functional cutrencies
of the group’s businesses. Gains and losses arising from these Currency exposures afe
recognised in the profit and loss account. The following table detalls these exposures
slter taking account of forward foreign exchange contracts.

Furo 5

Net foreign currency Total  Sterling one dollar Other
monetary assets/(liabilities) £m £m fm £m im
Functional currency of operation

Slerling 39 - 2.5 0.1 1.3
Euro 30 04 0.5 2.1
Us dollar (1.0 - (1.2) - 0.2
Other (35) (08 (37 12 {0.4)
At 31 March 2005 24 ©2y (249 18 3.2
Functionai currency of operation

Sterling 79 - 68 0.4 07
Furo 26 12 0.4 10
L dollar (0.7) - (1.0} - 03
Other {02 (©2) {7 0.5 0.2
At 37 March 2004 94 1.0 5.1 13 22

{e) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities

Set oul below is a comparison by category of book and fair values of all the grougs
financial assets and liabilities at 31 March.

Cash and
Total short-term

Primary financiak Total  borowings  deposits Other
instruments £m fm £ fm
At 31 March 2005

Book value {422.0)  (560.9) 1389 -
Faif value (459.9)  (5988) 1389 -
At 31 March 2004

Book value (497.3)  (566.4) 714 (2.3}
Fair value (531.2)  (6003) 714 {23}

The fair value of total borrowings ncludes the group's €200 million 6.5% bund at
£311.4 millicn (2004 £299 5 piffion) comparzd 10 a book value of £273.5 millon
(2004 £.265.6 milfon). The difference between book and farr value is not a liability of
the group

The fair value of the group’s interest rate swaps is calculated by comparing the actual swap
contract rate with the rate at which a swap contract on similar lerms could be enterad
into on the balance sheet date. This fair value would be realised in the profit and loss
account in the period to the maturity of the swaps i future interest rates are the same
as those assurned at the balance sheet date.

The fair value of the graup's forward currency contiacts is calculated by comparing, for
equivalent maturity profiles, 1he rate atwhich currency contracts with the same princpal
amounts could be acquired at the balance sheel date wath the actual contract rate. This
fair value will only be realised in the profit and foss accountin the period o 31 March 2006
if forward foreign exchange rates at thal date remain unchanged.

fFanand
nterest  foreign

rate currency
Derivative financial Tolal  swaps  contiacts
instruments (hedges) £m £ Fint
At 31 March 2005
Book value 02 0.1 03
Fair value 14.2 14.4 {0.2)
Unrecognised gains and losses 14.0 145 (0.5)

AL 31 March 2004

Book value 01y 05 04
Fair value 1041 97 .7
Unrecognised gains and losses 105 10.2 0.3
{f} Use of derivatives

The group uses derivatives o manage inlerest rate and loreign currency risks as described
in the treasury policies section on page 60. The Lables under (e} on this page show where
the group has unrecognised gains and losses (those not reflectedin the "beok value” row
in the table on derivative instruments in place at the year end).

Al the unrecagnised gains and losses on derlvative instruments are expected to be
matched by losses and gains on the underdying exposures or positions

Derivative
Reconciliation of movermnent in Total  Gains  losses
unrecognised gains and losses £m £m £m
Unrecognised Gains and losses
AL 31 March 2004 10.5 217 (11.2)
Recognised in the year (22) 177y 155
Arising in the year 57 10.5 {4.8)
At 31 March 2005 14.0 14.5 (0.5)

Expected to be recognised:
In the year to 31 March 2006 1.4 63 (4.9)
In the year to 31 March 2007 or after 126 8.2 4.4

Unrecognised gains and losses

AL31 March 2003 43 233 (19.0)
Recognised in the year 25 (144 189
Arising in the year 37 12.8 (9.1
AL 37 March 2004 5 217 {112)
Expected 1o be recognised:

In the year to 31 March 2005 06 3.0 (7.4}
int the year to 31 arch 2006 or after 99 13.7
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24 SHARE CAPITAL

25 RESERVES

RG] i
" oms : 2005 00
m n £m £

Ordinary shares of 50p each
Authorised 680.0 6800 3400 3100
Allotted, called up and fully paid 5003 4957 2501 2478

Atthe 2004 annual general meeting shareholders author'sed the company to buy-back
up 1o 10¢ of 1s allotted share capital, although no such purchases were made during the
year to 31 tarch 2005,

Option schemes
Allotments of shares by the parent compaiy and eptions granted during the year under
the company’s employee share option schemes were as follows;

Allatments ntions granted

Exercise
shires Consideration Murnbe Shares  period Price:
1308
SAYE: 616,622 £2.7m 631 564200 31808  356p
1.3.10-
238 289924 31810 356p
Senior 1707
executive; 3,963,882 £12.4m 104 2,197,500 30614 412p
1.7.08-
10 206,200 30674 412p

At 31 parch 2005, 3,216 oplions aver 4,712,112 shares were outstanding under the
company’s SAYE share uption scheme, exercisable during variaus periods up to 31 August
2010 at prices belween 188p and 356p per share. A further 361 options aver 10,298,761
shares were outstanding under the senior executive share option scheines, exercisable
during various periods up to 30 june 2014 3t prices between 254p and 412p per share.

The company has a qualifying employee share ownership rust (QUEST) 10 subscribe for
BPE ordinary shares for transfer to employees exercising options under BPB's UK SAYE share
option scheme. The Irustee of the QUEST is BPG QUEST Trustees Ltd, a wholly owned
subsidiary of the company: During the year, the QUEST ransferred a total of 1,171,864
shares to ermployees on the exercise of options far a consideration of £2.6 miliion (aleady
included in the figures for shares allotied under the conpany’s SAYE share option schermes
given in the table above). A total of 562,720 shares were acquired by the QUEST during
the year using funds received fram employees on the exercise of options. All emiployees
of UK group subsidiary companies, including executive directors of the company, are
potential beneficiaries under the QUEST. The QUEST has walved the dividends payable
on all the 5,188 {2004 614,332) shares thal it owned at 31 March 2005.
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\"_flpw-tm sl Prot;
S i monn o and o
clat shares accouit
Movements in reserves b [l Lm i G
Group
ALT April 2004 5478 2359 327 - 2792
Friur year adjushiment (07 - - (A 07
A1 Apcl 2004 {as re-stated) 5471 2359 327 (14) 2799
Currency adjustments
Overseas net assels 250 - - - 5.0
Bormowings (5.4] - - - {54
Premium on shares issued 12.8 123 - - -
Puichase of shares by ESOP (2.4 - - {24} -
ESOP charge for year 12 : - - 1.2
ESOP raserve mavernents - - - 0.4 (0.4)
Guodwill written back on dispusals 56 - - - 5.0
Relained profit 102.3 - - - 1023
At 37 March 2005 6862 2487 327 (3.4) 4082
Cempany
ALT April 2004 3348 2359 327 - 66.2
Prior year adjustment (0.7} - - (1.4 6.7
AL April 2004 {35 re-stated) 3341 2359 327 (t4) 669
Premmiums on shares issued 128 128 - - -
Purchase of shares by ESOP {2.4) - - (24) -

ESCP charge for year 1.2 - - - 1.2

ESOP reserve movements - - 04 (0.4}
Retained profit 46.3 - - - 46.3
At 31 March 2005 3920 2487 327 (3.4) 1140

A131 March 2005 the cumuiative amount of goodwill written off to reserves, net of amounts
altributed 1o disposals, in respect of acquisitions prior 10 the adoption of FRS10 on 1 Aprl
1998 was £232.2 million (2004 £237.8 imilfion). At 31 March 2005 ark 2004 negative
goodwill added to reserves was £7.4 million.

2004
2005 Re-stated

Movements in shareholders’ funds £m £m
A1 Aprl 7956 7803
Prior year adjustment (0.7} {0.7)
AL April (as re-stated) 7949 7796
Total recognised gains and losses for the year 2019 759
Dividends (80.0) (704}
ESOP transactions (t.2) -
Goodwill written back on disposal 5.6 -
Newy shares issued 15.1 9.8
Al 371 March 9363 7949




26 ACQUISITIONS

29 CHANGES I NET BORROWINGS

consideration for acguisitions including purchase cosls was £45.3 million, of which
£36.8 million relates to the buy-out of minrity interests in Thai Gypsurn Products pel and
Inelia Gypsum Limited

£43.9 million of (he £45.3 million was paid in the penod, with the balance due inlater
vears. The net book and fair vaiue ol assels acquired was £19.9 million. Goodwilt arising
on these acquisitions was £25.4 million.

Consideration paid in the period in respect of acquisitions completed it previous years
lotalled £2.6 million.

27 NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

2005 2004
fm m
Operating profit 2724 202.4
Depreciation less transfers from deferred credits
(belore Aberdeen & Purflest assel wrile-downs) 1101 108.6
Aberdeen asset write-downs 10.0 -
Purfleet assel write-downs - 15.5
Goocwill amorlisation 16.3 180
EBITOA 408.8 3445
Changes in working capitai:
Stacks and work-in-progress {21.8) 42
Debtors (21.7) {(41.7)
Creditors and provisions 51.3 435
7.8 5.0
Net cash inflow from eperating activilies 416.6 3505

2% RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FLOW TO MOVEMENT IN NET BORROWINGS

2005 2004

£Em tm

increase in cash 11.9 64.2
Decrease in borrowings 1.2 526
Management of liquid resources 65.3 3.8
Change in borrewings resufting from cash flows 784 12046
Currency adjustments (5.4y 479
povement in net borrowings 73.0 1885

Net borrowings at 1 April {495.0) {663.5)

(422.0) (495.0)

Met borrowings at 31 March

AL At

1AL Casn Gurency 31 March

2004 flows mosirmet 2005

e tin £m £m

Cash at hank and in hand 580 1.9 0.2 60.7
Overdrafts (14.7) 0.0 {1.4) (5.1)
139 118 (1.2) 54.6

Loans and finance leases:

Due within one year 9.8y (23.0) 04 (324}
Due afler more than one year {5219y 242 {47} (522.4)

(43) (554.8)

Short-term deposits 12.8 65.3 0.1 78.2
Nel horrawings (495.0) 784 (5.4) (422.0)
Cash at bank and in hand 58.6 60.7
short-lerm deposits 128 78.2
Cash and short-terim deposits 714 138.9

30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year the group purchased goads from, and sold goods 1o, its associated
companies, joim ventures and their related parties for £30.3 millicn and £1.5 million
respectivaly (2004 £8.5 riffion and £1.2 miliion). The arounts outstanding at the
vear end on these purchases and sales were £0.9 million and £0.3 million respectivety
(2004 £1.8 million and £0.3 miflion).

The group received royalties from associated companies of £0.1 millon (2004 £0.7 rdon)
in addition, the group recharged £0.4 milkion {2004 £0.4 million}ie its associated
companies in respect of administrative costs incurred on theis behalf; the amount
outstanding at the year end was £0.1 million (2004 £0.7 million).

Al the year end loans cutstanding from, and to, asseciated cormpanies totalled £1.3 million
{2004 £1.3 milfion) and £0.8 million (2004 £2.7), respectively. A loan from 8B United
Kingdom Ltd to ajoint venture, British Gypsum-lsover Lid, of £6.5 million was outslanding
(2004 £6.5 million). A loan from Rigips Damimsysteime GrbH 10 a joint veniure,
Netherlands Dammsysteme BY, of £1.4 million (2004 £7.2 million) was oulstanding

al year end.

As part of the acquisition of Thai Gypsum Products pcl {ToP') 2n agreement was signed
in December 1999 between TGP and its then managing director and former principal
shareholder, Mr Krisada Kampanatsanyaker stiputating that a number of companies
controlled by him and his lamily would operate T6P's mines and provide transportation
services. During the year TGP was charged £1.9 million (2004 £2.4 million) of which
£0.2 miflion (2004 £0.7 miltion) remained due at the year end.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
o i 2005 S 2003 207 ) 2001
YEAR TO 31 MARCH o £m tm L ks Ly
PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT SUMIMARY
Turnover
Norlh & Wesler Europe 596.1 5885 566.7 5457 5476
Southern furope 760.8 7281 5919 5201 504.7
Central & Eastem Europe 350.9 3308 2897 270.2 2817
Europe 1,707.8 1,647 .4 1,451 3 1,336.0 1,334.0
worlh Arnerica 532.1 4388 1585 2932 2313
Emeigng sharkels 126.4 108.6 Y2.4 971 389
2,366.3 22448 20022 17263 1,654.2
Less inler-ared (49.5) (720 {71.0% {64.5) (67.1}
Group wrnover 2,316.8 21708 1,9312 1,661.8 1,587.1
Growih 4 6.7 121 16.2 4.7 11.2
Underlying operating profit {nule a}
North & Western Europe 1083 105.1 958 983 959
Southermn Eutope 84.3 76.2 793 75.3 759
Central & Eastern Eurepe 25.2 126 69 10.7 106
Furope 217.6 1939 182.0 1813 187 4
North America 714 10.7 294 (11.8) (1.9}
Ernerging Markels 19.1 15.2 91 75 45
Group underlying operating profit 308.1 249.2 2205 18000 185.0)
Growin % 236 130 225 (2.7) (20.8)
Operating exceptional items (19.4) (28.8) {133.1) - (18.0)
Goodwill amortisation (16.3) (18.0) (16.2} (9.7 (7.2)
Group operating profit 2724 2024 712 1703 159.8
Disposals of fixed assets and businesses 6.9 43 7.4 30 {0.3)
share of profits of associated cormpanies and joint venfures 7.8 57 0.4 3.4 5.8
profit on ordinary activities before interest 287.1 212.4 79.0 176.7 165.3
Net interest payable {28.4) (321 (20.6) {30.4) (27.4}
Profit on ordinary activities before tax 2587 1303 484 146.3 1379
Tax on profit on ordinary activities (74.5) (63.0) {49.1} (57.5) (46.1)
Minority interests {1.9) {2.3) (4.0} (0.4) 0.4
Profit/(loss) attributable to BFB plc 1823 115.0 (4.7 88.4 922
Return an sales (underlying)
North & Western Europe U 18.2 17.9 16.9 180 175
Southern Europe O 11.1 105 133 745 15.0
Central & Eastern Europe i 7.2 38 24 10 38
Eutope Yo 12.7 1.8 125 138 13.7
North America % 13.4 3.2 6.4 (4.0} (0.8}
Emerging Markets Uy 15.1 140 9.8 77 51
Group B 133 15 1.4 10.8 n7
Underlying pre-tax profit {ncte a) £m 2875 7228 1916 153.0 163.4
Growth % 29.0 16.3 252 (6.4) (78.1)
Underlying tax rate (note a) o 31.8 317 320 369 330
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At 2003 A007

2005 Riv stale Re: stated R stite]

YEAR TG 21 MARCH ) im i o .
BALAMCE SHEET SUMMARY
shareholders' funds 936.3 7949 7303 8311 706.7
MInorky nterests 9.0 24.2 254 257 230
Nel boroewings 422.0 A95.0 663.5 3711 G978
ividends payable 53.9 46.8 13.7 121 385
cumulative goodwill amortised and written off 306.6 2959 2779 2515 2418
Capital invested 1,727.8 1,656.8 1,790.8 15215 1,507.8
Growvth dir 4.3 {7.4d) 177 09 170
Return on capital invesled (note b) Giy 127 99 88 76 9.1
return on shareholders' funds (note o Uy 16.2 135 11.5 95 114
Gearing (note d) e 44.6 604 324 133 682
Group inlerest cover {note e} tines 11.3 81 7 6.1 69
CASH FLOW SUMMARY
EBITDA {note ) 408.8 3445 3261 264.2 2680
Net mogvement in working capital 78 6.0 (10.m 0.2 311
Capital expendiure (154.7) (99.6) (96.5) {84.5) (90 6)
Fixed asset disposals 6.6 15.6 122 37 137
Taxation {66.2) (602} (42.8) {577} {76.1}
Other 1.0 a5 {0.2) 18 27
Interest (27.2) {(31.4) (30.1) (28.7) (28.4}
Dividends (73.1) (67.3) (64.9) {59.1) {57.7)
Free cash flow 103.6 1081 928 399 62.1
Acquisitions (46.5) (5.1) (315.7) (31.1) (276.7)
Dispusals 86 75 400 T4 64
Shares issued 15.1 9.8 12 1.7 2.1
Purchase of own shares/EC fine (2.4) - (89.2) - (0.2}
Contributions from minority shareholders - - - 0.5 0.9
Cash inflow /(outflow) {note g} 784 1203 (2709) 1224 (205.4)
OTHER STATISTICS
Shares in issue {average) m 497.2 490.9 490.1 4581 4563
Rasic earnings/(loss) per share p 36.7 234 (1.0) 19.3 20.2
Growih % 56.8 n/a n/a {4.5) (36.3)
Underlying arnings per share (note a) p 39.1 30.5 25.8 210 241
Growth o 28.2 182 229 (12.9) (252)
Dividends per share [ 16.0 14.25 1355 1341 128
Growt o4 123 52 34 23 24
Dividends £m 80.0 70.4 66.5 62.7 58.4
Share price: high p 544 383 440 391 374

low p 345 258 230 217 206
Year end markel capitafisation m 2,484 1,762 1,328 1,910 1,104
Number of shares in issue at 31 March m 500.3 495.7 492.8 489.8 4583
Ordinary shareheldings 000 85 9.7 8.8 8.4 89
Notes

3) Underlying amounts are calculated before goodwill amortisation and exceptional iterms.

b) Unlerlying profit before interest and after tax, a3 a percentage of average capital invested {including goodwill amortised and written off ta reserves).
¢) Underying profit attributable to BFB pic as a percentage of average sharehalders’ funds (including goodwill amortised and writien off to reserves).
d) Met borrowings as a perentage of shareholders’ funds plus minority interests.

&) tnderlying aperating profit divided by net interest before exceptional interest and share of associates’ and joint ventures interest.

§) Farnings before interest, tax, depreciation less deferred credits, goodwill amortisation and in 2003 group EC fine of £89.2 million.

q) Cash low hefore managerment of liquid resources, loans fror asseciated companies and decrease er increase in bOMoWINS.
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PRINCIPAL OPERATING COMPANIES

Bisii s

e

Interior building 11 ety and courtny
systems Motes cupatal of apriasion
Artex Rawlplug Lid s 1400 2 United Kingror
ginje Ackerimans SA 100 1,2 Belgium
BEB America Inc 100 1,2 USA
BPG Belgium NY C 100 1,2 Belgium
BPE Canada nc o0 1,2 Canada
13PB Fornmiuka GmbH d 100 ? Genmany
BPB Gypsuim, Inc 100 1 USA
BFB Gypsuim Production

& Trading Ltd 100 2 Turkey
BPB Gypsum {Piy) Lid 100 12 South Africa
BPB Hellas ABEE 00 1 Grecce
BFB Iberplace SA 106 1,2 Spain
BPB lalia SpA 3 100 1,2 Italy
BB LLC 100 I Russian Federation
BPB ialaysia Gypsum Sdn Bhd f 00 1 Malaysia
BPE KManufacturing, In 100 1,2 USA
BPB Mexico SA de ¢V 100 2 Mexico
PE Nederland BY 100 1,2 Holland
BPB Paperboard Lid g 100 2 United Kingdormn
BPB Mlaco SAS 100 1,2 France
British Gypsun Ltd 100 1,2 United Kingdom
British Gypsurti-isover Ld

{joint venlure) n 50 2 United Kingdom
Cammatone Lid b 100 1,2 United Kingdoim
Compania Industriat ’

£l volcan SA {associate) i 261 1,2 Chile
Distriplac SL 100 2 Spain
Donn Products {Pty) Lid 66.7 p south Africa
Eqyptian Gypsurm

Company SAE f] 50 2 Egypt
Gypeo Shanghai Company Ltd f 855 1 china
Gyproc AB 100 1,2 Sweden
Gyproc A/S 100 1,2 Denmark
Gyproc as 100 1,2 Norway
Gyproc Oy 100 1,2 Finland
Gypsum Industries Ltg 100 1,2 Republic of ireland
Gypsum Industries (Pte) Lid 100 1,2 Zimbabwe
India Gypsurn Ltd fk 95.4 1,2 India
foy-Isover Ltd (joint ventuie) \ 50 2 Republic of Ireland
Placo do Brasil Ltda 66.7 1 Brazil
Placoplatre SA m 99.7 1,2 France
Rigips AG 100 1,2 switzerland
Rigips GmbH 100 12 Germany
Rigips Austria Gesmbh n 100 1,2 Austria
Rigips Bulgaria EOQD 100 2 Bulgaria
Rigips Hungaria Gipszkarton Kft 100 1,2 Hungary
Rigips Polska-Stawiany Sp 200 n 100 1,2 poland
Rigips Romania St 100 1,2 Romania
Rigips Slovakia sro 100 1 Slovakia
Rigips sro 100 1 Czech Republic
S0gety SAS 100 1,2 France
Tecnokarton GmbH

& (0 KG (associate) fo 29 2 Gerrmnany
Thai Gypsum Products pel fp 996 1,2 Thailang
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Notes

) Business aclivites for each company are indrated as fotlows:
1Internal Fuings, comprising plasterboard and accessones,

2 curmplementary products, conprising plasters, cell iy tes, nsulation, other buiiding
rmatenials and paperboard, anc distribution,

Iy} Each subsidiary, associatec and joint vefiture comparny s incorporated in s main
country of operation as shoven; companies operating in the United Kingdlom are
subsidiaries of, and (excepl for Artex Rawlplug Lid and Commatone Lid) authorised
agents acling for and on hehalf of, B8 Unitee Kingdom Ltd (a comparny operaling
mainly in the United Kingdorn).

€) O T April 2004 Isugips NY merged into BPE Belgium NY.

o} B Formula also operates through branches ' fiance, Roimnania, Spadi, Thailand,
the LK and the UsA, and tradles worlchwide,

e} 8PB United kingdom Ltd (note b} and BFE Nalia Spa are the only operating compartes
inwhich BPE plc has a direct nterast,

fy Not audited by the audilors of BPB ple or by their associates.

O} BPE Paperboard Lid, a subsiciary of and authorised agentel GPB United Kingdom
Ll note b, operates through a unit nanufactunng plasterboard finer.

) The BPB group 1s interested in 505 of he issued equity share capital of £22.6 million.

) The BPG group is interested in 26.1% of the issued equity share capital of CHS75 billion

1 The BPE graup has control of the Board of Egyplian Gypsuin Company SAE.

k) The interest of the BPB group in the issued share capital has increased from 80% to
9548 followsing the buy-out of a significant proportion of the minority interests during
the financial year

1) The 8P8 graup s interested in 0% of the issued equity share capital oI €5.3 million.

i) On 13 February 2005 Unigyp France SAS merged into Placoplatre SA.

) Rigips Austria GesimbH alse operates through branches in Bosnia, Croalia, thacedonia,
serbia and Slovenia, and Rigips Polska-Stawiany Sp 700 also operates thiough & branch
in Ukraine,

0) The BE& group is interested in 29% of the issued capital of €4.1 million.

p} The inlerest of the BPB group in the issued share capital has increased from 64.8%
10 99.6% following the buy-out of a significant proportion of the minority interests
during the financial year.

) A complete list of subsidiary, associaled and joint venture companies will be
annexed 10 the company's next annual return to the Registrar of Companies.




SHARFHOLDER INFORMATION

WEBSITE

A wide range of nlormation on BPE is avatlable atw swbpb.com inclucling details of
activities, press releases and annual and interim reports, together with subsidiary compasy
wabs.le addresses.

SHARE PRICE INFORMATION

The P& erdinary share price is available on Cecfax ard Teletext, by calling the ¥T Citvline
service, lelephone (0906) 843 1888 (calls charged at premium rates), or via the inveslor
cenlre section of the BPB website al wwwebph.com,

SHARE DEALING SERVICE

A lowe-cosl service for existing and potential shareholders for dealing in BPE shages is
available through JPorgan Cazenove, one of the company’s stockhiokers. Full details are
conlaned in a brochure avadable from JPMorgan Casenove’s share schemes department
telephone (020) 7155 5155.

TAXATION OF CAPITAL GAINS

For the purposes of capilal gains tax calculations, the London Stack Exchange prices of
the company’s SOp ordinary shares al 6 April 1965 and 31 March 1982 were 129%.p
and 395p respectively. These prices should be adjusted (as appropriale) for relevant
capital issues since & April 1965: 1 for 4 rights issue at 68p {Septernber 1975, 1 for 1
capilalisation issues (August 1979, August 1983 and July 1987y and 1 for 5 rights issue
al 155p (June 1991},

PAYMENT OF DIVIDENDS TQ MANDATED ACCOUNTS BY BACS

sharehulders who have mandated their dividends te be paid directly into a bank or
huildirig seciety account on the payiment date receive their tax voucher at their registered
address, untess the comnpany’s share registrar has beer olherwise informed. If the account
is with a hank of building society which is not a member of the BACS system, the payment
and tax voucher are sent to the account holding branch.

Shareholders who do not currently mandate their dividends and who wish to benefit from
this service should contact the share registrar or complete the mandate form attached
to their next dividend cheque.

PAYMENT OF DIVIDENDS IN OVERSEAS CURRENCY

Shareholders resident in certain countries outside the UK are able o elect tc have their
dividends credited to a local bank account in their local currency. This service, opefated by
the company’s share registrar, is free {subject t a nominal currency conversion charge
of £2.50 per dividend payment).

SHAREHOLDER ENQUIRIES

Enquiries conceming holdings of the company’s ordinary shares, dividend payments
and notification of a holder’s change of address should be referred to the company’s
share registrar.

For general enquiries refating to the company, please contact the secretary’s department
at the company’s registered office.

ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS

Shareholders can elect 10 oblain shareholder documents, such as annual and interim
reports and netices of general reelings, electionically from BPB's website rather than
by post. Those who wish to take acvantage of this free service may do so by registering
their details on BPE' registiar’s wabsite at www.shareview.co.uk. Shareholders who
register will receive an email notification as soon as new shareholder documents are
availlable, have access to a range of information regarding their shareholding and be
able o download change of address, dividend mandate and share transfer forrns.

FLECTRONIC PROXY APPOINTMENTS

For the annual general meeting to be held on 20 July 2005, sharehciders may i they s
wish register the appointment of a proxy electronically by logging on o the Loyds 758
Registrars proxy appointment website at wwwsharevote co.uk where full details of the
procedure are given. You will need your voting refesence numbers (the three 8 digit
numnbers shown on your proxy form). Simitarly, if you are a mermber of CREST you (ay
use the CREST electronic proxy appointment service.

Further details of these services are setoulin the accompanying notice of annual
general meeting.

CONSOLIDATION OF SHARE CERTIFICATES OR SHAREHOLDINGS

Shareholders wishing to consolidate four or more individual share certificates may do su
by sending their certificales with a coverng letler to the comipany’s share registrar. Up 1o
15 certificates will be consolidated free of charge once a year; this facility cannut be used
for translerring shares.

sharehalders who are currently receiving duplicate sets of company ma lings as a result
of an inconsistency in name or address details should write 1o the share legistrar so that
their holdings can be combined (if appropriate).

FINANCIAL CALENDAR

Ex dividend date tor 2004705 final dividend 200705
Annual general meeting 20.07.05
Record dale for 2004,/05 final dividend 22.07.05
paymenl date for 2004,/05 final dividend 19.08.05
Announcement of rading update 22.09.05
Announcement of 2005,/06 interim resulls and dividend 17.11.05
Interifs reporl posted 28.11.05
£x dividend date for 2005,/06 interim dividand 21.12.05
Rrecord date for 2005 /06 interim dividend 231205
Payment date for 2005 /06 inlerim dividend 20.01.06
Payment date for 2005/06 6.5% bond intesest 17.03.06
Announcement of trading update 23.03.06
announcement of 2005 /06 inal results and dividend 2505.06

SECRETARY AND REGISTERED DFFICE

RM Heard

BPB plc, Park House

15 Bath Ruad, Slough L1 3UF

Telephone (01753) 898300 Fax (01753) 898888
Registered Ne. 147271

SHARE REGISTRAR

Lloyds TS Regislrars

The Causeway, Worthing

west Sussex BN99 6DA

Telephone (0870) 600 3984 Fax (0870) 600 3980

STOCKBROKERS

JPMorgan Cazenove Lid

20 Moorgate, London ECZR 6DA

Telephone (020) 7588 2828 Fax (020) 7155 9000

Hoare Govett Ltd
250 Bishopsgate, London EC2M 4AA
Telephone (020) 7678 8000 Fax {020) 7857 9000

PAYING AGENT FOR EURG BOND

Citibank WNA

5 Carmelite Street, London ECAY OPA

Telephone (020) 7500 5000 Fax (020) 7508 3873

ALDITORS

Ermst & Young LLP

1 More London Place

London SET 2AF

Telephone (020) 7951 2000 Fax (020) 7951 1345
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PRINCIPAL GROUP WEBSITES

wwww.bpb.com
www.artex-rawiplug.co.uk
www .bpbformula.co.uk
www.bpbitalia.it
www.Dpb-na.com
www.bpbplaco.com

www bpbsa.com
www.british-gypsum.com
WWW.QYPIoC.com
WWW.Qypsum.ie
www.iberplaco.es
wwwiindiagypsum.com
WWWIIQIPs.com
WWW.Iigins.ce
www.thalgypsurn.com

Cautionary comment concerning forward-looking statements

The operating and financial review and certain othier secticns of this annual report contain
forward-looking stalements with respect to the business, stialedy ard plans of BPB and
its current goals, assuragtions and expectations relating e its future financial condition,
performance and results. By their nature, 3l torward-looking statements involve risk and
yncertainty because they are based on and relate to expectalions and assumptions as
o future events, circurnstances and other factors which are in some cases beyond BPB'S
ability to control or estimate precisely. As a result, the company’s actual future financial
condition, results or performance may differ materialiy from those expressed or implied
by such forward-lcoking statements. BPB does nol hereby undertake ary obfligation to
update of release publicly any revisions to such forward-looking statements to reflect any
changes in BPEs expactations with regard therelo of ary events of changes in drcumstances
after the date of this annual report.
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